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Financial and Healthcare Highlights

(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31, 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Operating Data:
Net revenues $562,958 $542,381 $521,829 $472,864 $458.252
Total costs and expenses 508,679 495,691 481,774 439,577 430,806
Income before income taxes 54,279 46,690 40,055 33,287 27,446
Income tax provision 17,539 18,055 16,083 13,335 11,009
Net income 36,740 28,635 23,972 19,952 16,437 ‘
Earnings per share:

Basic $2.99 $2.34 $2.05 $1.72 $1.43

Diluted 2.85 2.24 1.95 1.65 1.37
Dividends declared per share:

Cash $ 690 $ 575 $  .500 $ $
Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets $471,477 $410,625 $373,117 $352,393 $305,575
Accrued risk reserves 76,471 70,290 62,354 43,953 31,632
Long-term debt, less current portion 10,381 13,568 16,025 19,000 26,220
Debt serviced by other parties 1,494 1,727 1,952
Stockholders’ equity 249,142 203,059 182,348 - 151,027 120,141
Other Data:
Long Term Care Centers i
Total Operating Centers 74 74 74 76 82
Owned or Leased Centers 48 48 48 49 49
Centers Managed for Others 26 26 26 27 33
Total Licensed Beds 9,245 9,177 9,177 9,332 10,499
Beds Owned or Leased 6,481 6,151 6,151 6,235 6,235
Beds Managed for Others 2,764 3,026 3,026 3,097 4,264
Homecare Programs 30 30 31 32 32
Total Homecare Visits 434,021 504,188 506,530 - 486,012 420,156
Retirement Centers 6 6 6 6 71
Retirement Apantments 488 488 488 464 492
Assisted Living Units 830 830 830 844 980

NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION Comparison of Cumulative Total Return

2000
1500 //
1000 /
500 //—
0 ﬁ' =
2001 2002 2003 2004 - 2005 2006
NHC 100.0 113.9 129.5 2325 249.1 3730
S5&P 500 100.0 77.9 100.2 111.2 116.6 135.0
Peer Group Index 100.0 63.6 1111 655.6 709.3 1965.3

Assumes $100 inv. 12/31/01 in NHC, S & P 500 and Peer Group (HCR, AVCA, and BEV). Beverly was sold in 2006 for $12.50 cash.

As a result, the Peer Group Index assumes a value for BEV at 12/31/06 of $12.50 per share.




Dear Shareholder, - |

In 2006, National HealthCare Corporation celebrated its 35th anniversary. As we reflect on these 35 years, we are honored and
humbled at the trust and confidence placed in us by the patients, their families and shareholders. In 1971, Dad (Dr. Carl Adams)
sought to develop a company that could deliver long term care efficiently in a quality of life environment. | think he would be ;i_[oud

of how far we have come in 35 years, but he would insist that we continue to challenge ourselves to be “Poised for the Future” |

One asset NHC began focusing on 35 years ago is still our most valuable asset today—our partners. Over 11,000 partners working ;
for various LLC’s - are committed to providing the best care possible to their patients each day. Last year, in our annual report, we i
introduced you to five partners who have worked at various locations since 1971. This year you will get the opportunity to meet five more.

As you read their stories and recognize their life long dedication to caring
for chronically ill patients, | hope you will feel the same level of pride we
feel toward these partners. We are grateful that we have the opportunity
every day to make a difference in people’s lives. We hope you, along with
all of us, are proud to be part of NHC.

Earnings and Financial Position

Earnings for the year ended December 31, 2006 were $36,740,000 or
$2.99 per share basic compared to $28,635,000 or $2.34 per share
basic for the year ended December 31, 2005, an increase of 28.3% and
+ 27.8%, respectively. Revenues in 2006 were $562,958,000 compared to
$542,381,000 in 2005,

Our occupancy and census mix continue to be strong at our health care
centers. In 2006 our occupancy was 93.9% compared to 94.0% in 2005,
even after opening 90 new beds. Private payors and Medicare revenue
accounted for 64% of our total revenue in 2006 compared to 60% in 2005.

Dividends , ' |

NHC increased its dividend by 20% in the second quarter of 2006. The current quarterly dividend is $ .18 per share.
We will continue to evaluate dividends for appropriateness.

Future

As we look ahead and plan for the next 35 years, we are excited about the growth opportunities in the skilled nursing, assisted
living, homecare; hospice, retirement living and other post acute areas. In 2007, NHC will finish a 60-bed addition in South
Carolina and should begin construction on an additional 180 beds in various service locations. We also hope to break ground
on our first inpatient hospice unit. We will continue to look for selective acquisitions and opportunities to expand our

services in attractive markets.

On the cover of this Annual Report are the words Care and Commlitment. Two words that have served the company well for . i
35 years, and will be the cornerstone of our future. Thank you for being a part of our success.

Ze 3l

Robert G. Adams . ‘ , ;
- President

Sincerely,
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“What I'm most tnterested in is the
qualtity of @ person’s life wihile they are
here. That's the business I am .

D AEarIfAdams!
NHGEsYEoUnde

FAGE 2 (MNAVIONAL BEALTRCARE



The Better Way.

Thirty-five years of Care and
Commitment—two words which
form the foundation of NHC's
culture; two words used often by
our founder, Dr. Carl Adams; two
words that still ring clear today
through the actions of our
11,000 partners—Care and
Commitment.

As a talented surgeon and a visionary
community leader, Dr. Carl Adams was
distressed by the poor care he believed
was being provided o nursing home
patients. He searched for a better way to
provide quality patient care, and his
search led 1o the purchase of a
struggling group of nursing homes. In
July of 1971, the nursing homes became
NHC, and Dr. Adams devoted the rest of
his life to the conviction that a better
way of providing batient care was
possible. At a time when nursing home
ownership and management was
frowned upon as an unprofitable
“sideline”, Dr. Adams saw that a
company devoted to a high standard of
patient care would eventually show a
profit and become a successful
business. This underscores NHC's motto:
“Care Is Qur Business.

With a goal of improving quality of life
for each patient, Dr. Adams said,
“Nobody knows the quantity of their
fifa. | don’t know how many days you
have on earth, nor does anyone else
except God. What I'm most interested
in is the quality of a person’s life while
they are here. That's the business
famin”

This quote fs still used in our
Customer Satisfaction Orientation
training class and assists new partners
in understanding our founder's
expectations for quality.

Customer Satisfaction has aiways been
a major focus for NHC, and training each
partner in the skills needed is a priority.
Throughout our 35 years the training in
Customer Satisfaction has been revised
and improved several times to meet the
current needs of our patients and
partners, while still respecting Dr. Adams’
original focus for quality care. In 2004
we introduced a major change in our
Customer Satisfaction training which we
call The Better Way.

The Better Way did not change the
original focus or message for quality
tare. In fact, The Better Way gives us the
potential to enhance the knowledge
base of each partner as to their role

in satisfying customers and providing
that excellent quality of life for which

Dr. Adams planned. The Better Way takes
our founder's message for quality care,
along with messages from earlier training
programs of being kind, helpful,
courteous, friendly, pleasant, displaying
good manners and smiling faces, and
utilizes these to enhance the training
potential for each partner. The Better
Way supports the partners in developing
person-centered relationships and open
communication with all our customers.

Typically, applicants looking for
employment with NHC already have the
skills and educational training needed to
do the specific job for which they are
applying. However, not everyone has
training in Customer Satisfaction.

In a business where customers are in
your care 24 hours a day, seven days a
week, these relationship skills are
needed “24/7".

At NHC we created 20 Betler Way
promises that every partner commits to
uphold. Partners in all NHC locations
have opportunities to review one
promise each day. The promise of the
day is accompanied by several short
“talking points” published at NHC's
home office and distributed to all our
locations. The “talking points” are
designed to assist partners in relating to
the promise and understanding ways
they personally can keep the promise.
Excellence performed in the NHC
locations is highlighted as well as
examples of good and bad service in the
commu nities, so that the partners are in
tune with the way they feel as customers
themselves,

The Batter Way is just one way we have
elevated our culture over the years.

Dr. Adams’ message and goal for quality
has remained a key part of our 35-year
history. Many pariners have taken his
dreams and desires to heart and made
them their own. These partners work
hard to make sure each of our patients
has an excellent quality of life. They are
focused—just as Dr. Adams—on quality.
They have seen many changes over the
years with NHC, and we would like to
introduce you to several partners who
have been with us since our inception.

NATIONAL HEALTHCARE PAGE 3




“*Yeou lhave o have @

a positive attitude.”

Ron[Viessimen
Adilitsoeser fap MAC Jehmsem CHy
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35 Years with NHC

Please_' meet Ron Messimer,
Virginia Butts, Aljanette
Warner, Geraldine Shabazz, and
Kathy Monzon, five more partners
who celebrated 35 years of
employment this past July when
NHC turned 35. They have seen
many changes with NHC and
each has their own unique story
of their Care and Commitment.

In 1971 one of the fourteen centers Dr.
Adams purchased was in Johnson City,
Tennessee. The Administrator at that
time, Ron Messlmer, is still with NHC
today. Dr. Adams visited Messimer and
conveyed to him that if they
concentrated on giving quality patient
care, they would be “OK financially”.

Dr. Adams also shared his vision of
having Registered Therapists on staff and
Registered Nurses on each shift, seven
days a week. Messimer says, “He falso]
encouraged us to employ Registered
Digtitians, Certified Dietary Managers,
and degreed Social Workers. | initiated
the first Activity Director position in East
Tennessee, and it has been rewarding to
encourage the activities programs to be
more individualized and encompass each
patient’s current needs.” In addition,
Messimer added a Chaplain position to
his staff and he says it contributes to the
patients' overall well-being.

Messimer wanted to “create an
environment as much like home as
possible” where patients were
“surrounded by a new family of loving
people.” He says, “f heligve that the
patients, their familigs, and our partners
develop a family tie with one another

and this closeness creates a bond and
a lasting relationship.”

In 1976 NHC began their “Administrator-
In-Training” program and Messimer hired
the first AT, Ray Blevins, to work in his
center. Blevins is currently a Senior
Regional Vice President for NHC.

The AIT program is still going strong
—four of our regional vice presidents and
45 of our administrators are graduates
of the program.

“NHC Johnson City has increased from
the original 100 beds to 160 beds,” says
Messimer, “and is recognized in our
community as the leader in long term
care.” He says the additions over the
years included an in-house pharmacy in
1978; the homecare agency in 1987,
the retirement center built in 1988 with
an addition in 1992, and the Alzheimers
unit that opened in 1988. Messimer
says, “We have always placed a strong
emphasis on providing a continuity of
care for the patients.”

Several colleges, universities, and
vocational schools, have ties with NHC
Johnseon City. Many healthcare
professionals conduct regular rotations
through the center and Messimer sees
the importance of these relationships
with higher educational programs which
impact the elderty.

Messimer has always had a commitment
to making his center a special place for
the elderly. He is proud to have many
long term partners who have made a
difference in the patients’ lives. He says,
“Their support has been a key factor
in my enjoyment as an administrator.

! have been thankful that National




“I enjoy what I do ...we have a team of dedicated people.”

Aljanette Warner, left, and Virginia Butts, right, offer family members, patients and partners many
choices when they dine at their center. Joining them is Brigitte Burke, AVP Dietary Services.

HealthCare has not only alfowed,
but encouraged and supported me
and all our partners to give the best
individualized care for each one.”

“You have to have a loving, caring
heart and a positive attitude” are
Messimer’s “basic principles” and those
go hand in hand with two of NHC’s
promises. NHC’s promise #4 says “f
promise te put my heart inta everything
| do. Empathize with you. Care for you
the way vou want.” And promise # 20
says, "I promise to maintain a positive

attitude. Always speak
positively of NHC,
fellow partners, and
the customer, in and
out of the warkplace.
Take pride in being

an important part of
The Better Way.”

Three of NHC’s 35 year
partners are employed
at NHC Chattanooga,
with two of these
partners in the dietary
department.

Virginia Butts says NHC
Chattanooga is “just
like home to me”. She
works in the dietary
department and started
off with tray set up. She
later became a cook and says preparing
food around a special holiday is one of
her favorite times. Virginia says she has
worked in dietary for 35 years because
of the pleasure she gets in preparing
food. She has stayed with NHC because
she enjoys being around elderly patients
and helping them with their individual
diet needs. Fond memories of a
particular patient, who always brought
his wife with him to the dining room,
bring a smile to Virginia's face. She
would visit with them at the dining table

and remembers their talks about the
couple’s long successful marriage.
Virginia enjoyed their time together and
is appreciative of being able to socialize
with her customers and get to know
them on a personal level.

At the age of 24, Aljanette Warner began
working for NHC Chattanooga as a
dishwasher and after one month moved
into a cook position. She says it didn't
take long before she felt like she was
“home" at the center. “NHC has always
been a place that | could go and feel
surrounded by family and friends.”

Aljanette remembers always wanting to
go to work, Even after 35 years, she has
a desire to get up and go to work every
day. One thing she likes is the fact that
NHC has always been a place where she
could learn new things related to her
dietary skills, In 1977 the supervisor of
the dietary department left and Warner
was asked to take the position. NHC
sent her to schoo! where she took a
course which better prepared her to be
the new Food Service Supervisor. “This
is a place where you can grow”, says
Aljanette. She feels very honored to have
this position and takes great pride in all
her responsibilities. She trains all the
partners in the department and makes
sure the standards are met.

NATIONAL HEALTHCARE PAGE &



Upon discharge from NHC Chattanooga,
one of the patients told Warner how
much she enjoyed the foeod. She even
asked for the center's recipes so her
family could use them to cook

for her when she was back home.

“f enfoy what  do,” says Aljanette.
“NHC is like my home away from home.”
She says NHC is always looking for
better ways to improve the care of
patients. “We have a team of
dedicated people. They teach you
things that will help you in life to be
better in the job that you do every day.
| am proud to work for a company like
NHC that strives to be the best.”

She says she feels like she is making

a difference.

Brigitte Burke, Assistant Vice President
for Dietary Services with NHC, states this
about these ladies... “If | had to sum up
these two fadies in one word...it would
be nurturing. The kindness they express
to the patients as well as the devotion
they have to their fellow partners and
to NHC are priceless. The kitchen at
NHC Chattanooga is an extremely
busy place, preparing 760 meals per
day for the patients, the retirement
center next door, the center partners,
family members and guests. These
ladies lead the way in getting this feat
accomplished! When you walk into

PAGE 6  NATIONAL HEALTHCARE

“The NHC culture is like a family where

love and compassion are shown.”

Geraldine Shabazz keeps the patients’ environment clean and pleasant
and assists them in maintaining decorative items brought from home which

personallze their room.

the kitchen, you can sense the pride
they have in the essential work they
do daily.”

Another dedicated 35-year partner at
NHC Chattanooga is Geraldine Shabazz.
She is a housekeeper and says she
wants to contribute to the company in
any way.possible. Administrator Jay
Nason says, “Geraldine is outstanding.
Always‘?smﬂfng, always working. She
has a great rapport with our patients
and wants things right for them.”
Geraldme says her co-workers and the
patlents have become her friends and
family and they give her encouragement.
She sayé, “The NHC culture is like a
family where love and compassion

are shoimn. ”

NHC Chattancoga is a 207-bed skilled
and intermediate care center and is one
of NHCs original 14 centers purchased
by Dr. Adams in 1971. At that time, it
was only an 85-bed center.

Geraldine, Virginia, and Aljanette were all
working at the center when it was
purchased by NHC in 1971. They say it
has changed over the years. In 1982
and again in 1984, NHC expanded the
facility to the current size of 207 beds
and added 30 independent living
apartments to the campus. NHC
Chattanooga also has six other partners
who have been with NHC for 30 years
and nine with 25 years of service.

Jay Nason, Administrator at NHC
Chattanooga, says “A lot of people
have made NHC their career and their
home and have worked hard to help us
be Chattanooga's heaith care center
of choice.”

Another example of an NHC partner
working their way through many different
positions, and now holding a department
head position, is Kathy Monzon. She
was hired at the center in Dickson,
Tennessee just six months before NHC
purchased it in July of 1971.

Kathy was a young mother with two
babies when she first started working
at NHC Dickson. Her husband had just




completed his military service and they
were looking for a house in the area.

She heard about the job opening at the
center for a nurse’s aide. She was hired
part time for the position.

After about three years, Monzon was
asked if she would be interested in

. helping out in the medical records
department. Then, after another two

1 years, she enrolled in a correspondence
! course offered by the Medical Record
 Association and was the first person

j in the company to enroll and pass the

. accreditation exam.

i
“I have always enjoyed working

here with the patients and partners,”

- says Kathy,

The biggest change over the last 35
years, according | to Kathy, has been
becoming computerized. She says,
“Things are always changing and we
continue to fearn new things which
.keep it interesting and challenging.”

When asked about the years with the
company, Kathy says, “NHC is a great
company to work for and is always
_striving to make improvements. | am
| truly thankful for my job here and the
opportunity to learn and grow while
caring for others,”

NHC is very proud to have such

loyal partners. With partners such as
these, who are dedicated to providing
the highest quality of life for their
customers, NHC creates satisfied and
loyal customers.

A customer from one of our centers in

- South Carclina wrote to say, "/ would

like to take the time to inform you of
how NHC has changed my view of a
nursing home. When faced with
placement from the hospital, | refused
to even think about placement in a
nursing facility. My view of a nursing
home was a place for my mother to go
and spend her ending days. NHC has
changed that view, After choosing
NHC, ! noticed that all the workers are
pleasant and they really enjoy their
jobs. The staff have made a difference
in my mother’s life and my life; | can
feave my mother with peace of mind
knowing that an excellent staff is
caring for her.” She went on to say that
she realized the center was a place
where her mother could make friends,
take part in meaningful activities, and
be cared for by loving people.

This Is what NHC means by
The Better Way.

“NHC is @ great
to W@ﬂﬂf
is allways st

for others.”

HANEMNAL DEALTHGARE WXTS?

——Kathy Monzon
Reg:stered Health
Informatlon Technician
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ITEM 1. 'BUSlNESS. . T

*GENERAL -

, Natronal HealthCare Corporatron (NHC or-the Company) began busmess in 1971. We were mcorporated as
a. Delaware corporatron in 1997. when. we changed from partnership form to corporate form. When we indicate

’ _“NHC’ we 1nclude all majorlty—owned subsrdranes partnerships and limited ltabrhty companies in which we have an

‘interest. All of our operating entmes are separately orgamzed businesses, capltahzed initially by us and maintained

' ‘as mdependent subsidiaries. For accountmg and tax- purposes however, they are consol:dated within our consolidated

to NHR and dld so for NHI untll October 3] 2004.

financial statements. - - T ,‘“,, . T R A

Our prlnc1pal busmess is the operatlon of long—term health care centers wnth associated assisted living and
independent living centers. Our business actwmes include provtdmg subacute skilled-and intermediate nursing and
rehabilitative care, senior living services, home health care services, management services, hospice services, accounting
and financial services and insurance services. ‘We operate in 12 states and our owned and leased properttes are located

pnmanly 1n the southeastern Unrted States' Cem o B S R TR PR

P .

_ At December 31 2006 we operate or manage 74 long-term health care centers Wlth a total of 9 245 licensed beds.
These numbers 1nclude 48 centers with 6,481 beds that we lease or own and 26 centers with 2,764 beds-that we manage
for others. Of the 48 leased or owned centers; 34 are leased from National Health Investors, Inc. (NHI) and 10 are
leased from Natronal Health Realty, Inc. (NHR). At December 31 2006 we sérve asa compensated mvestment advisor

Our 22 assisted living centers 10 leased or. owned and 12 managed) have 830 units (358 units leased or owned and
472 umts managed). Our six independent living centers (four:leased or owned and two managed} have 488 retirement
apartments (34l apartments leased or owned’ and 147 apartments managed) -

Durmg 2006 we operated 30 homecare programs and provrded 434, 021 homecare patlent visits to 10, 803

- patrents e . .

.

As of December 3l 2006 we operated specrahzed care units within certam of our healthcare centers such as
Alzheimer’s disease care units, sub-acute nursmg Units and a numiber of in-house pharmacies. ‘Similar specialty units |
.are under consrderatlon at-a number of our centers, as well as free standmg projects. We have a 50% ownership in Caris

'Healthcare L.P. which provides hospice care.

Proposed Merger Agreement between Natmnal HealthCare Corporation and National Health Realty, Inc.
-On ‘December 21, 2006, NHC and NHR announced that they have entered into an agreement and plan of merger.
Completlon of the merger, Wthh is expected-to occur in the summer of 2007, is.subject to Hart-Scott-Rodino anti-trust

" review and approval by shareholders of both NHC and NHR, including a majorlty of the shares of NHR held by holders

not affiliated with NHC. The merger will be preceded by and conditioned upon an internai reorganization. of NHR,
which wrll also be subject to, approval by the NHR shareholders. Theré is no financing COﬂdlllOl’l to the merger.

If the merger is completed as announced NHR will cease to existas a separate busrness and will be merged into
NHC.. Please see Item 7 and Item 8, Note 17 herein for more discussion of the proposed meérger.. It is expected that

~ both National HealthCare Corporation and National Health Realty, Inc. will hold-special meetings of each company’s
: shareholders at a future date to consider, matters related 1o the merger agreement and that a joint proxy statement/

were “derived from- such health care’ servrces

prospectus mcludmg annexes and documents mcorporated by reference will be 1ssued by. the compames

. Net Patient Revenues. Health care sefvices we  provide include a comprehenswe range of services through related

or separately structured long—term health care centers specialized care units, pharmacy operations, rehabilitative

‘services, assisted living centers, retlrement centers ‘and homecare programs. In fiscal 2006, 89. 2% of our net révenues
nghhghts of health ‘care services: actrvmes durrng 2006 -were as

follows '; S - - . '

AL
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. Long-Term Health Care Centers As descrrbcd in more detarl throughout thiis document we operated or
~ managed 74 long-term health care centers as of December 31, 2006.. Revenues from 48 of these facilities
. & . are reported as patient revenues on our financial statements, while management fee income is recorded as




other revenues for 26 facilities, as these are managed for third party owners. We generally charge 6% of
net revenues for our management services. Average occupancy in these long—term health care centers was
93.9% during the year ended December 31, 2006

Rehabilitative Services. We offer physlcal, speech, and occupational therapy through Professional Health
Services, a division of NHC. We maintained a rehabilitation staff of over 700 highly trained, professional
therapists in 2006. The majority of our rehabilitative services are for patients in our owned and managed
long-term care centers.. We also provide services to over 100 additional health care providers and operate
four free standing outpatient rehabilitation clinics in Tennessee. We are the designated sports medicine

.provider for Middle Tennessee State University in Murfreesboro, Tennessee. Our rates for these services

are competitive with other market rates.

Medical Spccmlty Units. We require all our centers to participate in the Medicare program, and have
expanded our range of offerings by the creation of center—speuﬁc medical specialty units such as our
Alzheimer’s dlsease care units and subacute nursmg umts ’ :

Pharmacy Operatlons At year end, we operated four. regional pharmacy operations {one in east Tennessee
one in central Tennessee, one in South Carolina, and one in Missouri), These pharmacy operations use
a central location to supply (on a separate contractual basis) pharmaceuucal services (consulting and
medications) and supplies. Beginning January 1, 1999 with the implementation of the Prospective Payment
System {PPS) for Skilled Nursing Facilities (SNFs) pharmacy reimbursement under the Medicare Part A

‘program had shifted from direct billing by the regional phafmacy to a negotiated rate structure between

skilled nursing centers and the pharmacy, with the skilted nursing center’s Medicare reimbursement being
bascd on a prospective rate not related 1o actual patlem pharmaceutlcal usage. Effective January 1, 2006,

_ Medicare Part D was successfully 1mplemenled by Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS). Part

D shifted payment of most pharmaceuticals from Medicaid plans and some other payors (e.g. Private Pay,
Insurance). Regional pharmacies bill Part D Prescriptioni Drug Plans (PDPs) electronically and directly for
inpatients who have selected a PDP. Qur regional pharmacies currently serve approx1mately 50 long-term
care centers.

‘Assisted Living Projects. We presently own, lease or manage 22 assisted living projects, 11 of which are
located within the physical structure of a long-term héalth care center or retirement complex. Assisted
living units provide basic room and board functions for the elder]y with the on-staff availability to assist
in minor medical needs on an as needed basis. Development of new units has been discontinued due to

-existing market conditions.

Managed Care Contracts. We operate three Tennessee, one South Carolina, and one Missouri regional
contract management offices, staffed by experienced case managers who contract with managed care
organizations (MCO's) and insurance carriers for the provision of subacute and other medical specialty
services within a regional cluster of our owned and managed centers. Managed care patient days were
44,409 in 2004, 47,358 in 2005 and 57,203 in 2006. A

Hospice. In 2003 we entered into a partnership agreement with Caris HealthCare in order to develop hospice
programs in selected market locations. Eleven locations in Tennessee are now open with two additional
locations due'to open in 2007. We also plan to expand our hospice services to other states beginning in
2007.

Homecare'ngrams 'NHC operates 30 homecare offices in three states (Tennessee, South Carolina,
and Florida) and some of our homecare patients are previously discharged from our long-term health care

‘centers. The reimbursement for homecare services under the Medicare program provides for a prospective

pay system. Under the homecare prospective payment system, we receive a prospectively determined
amount per patient per 60 day episode as defined by Medicare guidelines. Medicare episodes decreased
from 17,837 in 2005 to 16,828 in 2006 primarily due to an increase in managed care patients. The number
of patients served increased from 10,367 in 2005 (o 10,803 in 2006. Visits decreased from 504,188 in 2005
to 434,021 in 2006 due to more effective case management and the increase in managed care patients.



Other Revenues. We generate revenues from management, accounting and financial services to third party
long-term care, assisted living and independent. living centers, from administrative and advisory services to NHI
(discontinued December 31, 2006 and 2004, respectively) and NHR (which are health care real estate investment
trusts), from insurance services to our managed centers, from dividends and other realized gains on securities and from
interest income. In fiscal 2006, 10.9% of our net revenues were derived from such other sources. The SIgmﬁcant other
sources of revenues are described as follows: .

A

lnsurance Servnces NHC owns a Tennessee domestic licensed insurance company. The company is
licensed in several states and provides workers’ compensation coverage to the majority of NHC operated
and managed facilities in addition to other nursing homes, assisted living and retirement centers. A second
wholly owned insurance subsidiary is licensed in the Cayman Islands and provides general and professional
liability coverage in substantially all of NHC’s owned and managed centers. This company elects to be taxed
as a domestic subsidiary. We also self-insure our employees’ (referred to as “partners”) health insurance
benefit program at a cost we believe is less than a commercially obtained policy. Finally, we operate a long-
term care insurance division, which is licensed to sell commercmlly underwritten long-term care policies.
NHC’s revenues from insurance services totaled $18.8 million in 2006,

Management, Accounting and Financial Services. We provide management sérvices to long-term health
care centers, assisted living centers and independent living centers operated by third party owners. We
typically charge 6% of the managed centers’ revenues as a'fee for these services. Additionally, we provide
accounting and financial services to other long-term care or related types of entities who typically have
been or are in the process of being transferred from bankrupt organizations or from entities operating in
states with economically unreasonable liability insurance premiums into the hands of small operators or
not-for-profit entities. No management services are provided to these entities, As of December 31, 2006, we
perform management services for 24 centers and accounting and financial services for 32 centers. NHC’s
revenues from management, accounting and financial services totaled $16.4 millionin 2006.

Advisory Services to National Health Realty, Inc. In 1997, we formed National Health Realty, Inc., as a
wholly-owned subsidiary. We then transferred to NHR certain healthcare facilities then owned by NHC and
distributed the shares of NHR to NHC’s shareholders. The distribution had the effect of separating NHC and
NHR into two independent public companies. As a result of the distribution, all of the outstanding shares of

'NHR were distributed to the then NHC investors. NHR is listed on the American Stock Exchange.

We have entered into an Advisory Agreement with NHR whereby services related to invéstment activities and
day-to-day management and operations are provided to NHR by NHC as Advisor. The Advisor is subject to
the supervision of and policies established by NHR'’s Board of Directors. The Advisory Agreement expired
December 31, 2003 and thereafter is renewed from year to year unless earlier terminated. Either party may
terminate the Advisory Agreement at any time on 90 days written notice. The Advisory Agreement may be
terminated for cause at any time.

On August 1, 2005, concurrent with the lease extensions, the Advisory Agreement was revised to provide
that beginning for the year 2005 for our services under the Advisory Agreement, we are entitled to annual
compensation equal to the greater of (1} 2.5% of NHR’s gross consolidated revenues or @ $£500,000. It
was also clarified that NHR (and not NHC) is to bear all of its own corporate costs such as directors’ and

‘officers’ insurance, audit fees, etc.

Prior to the August 1, 2005 revision, the Advisory Agreement had provided that for our services under
the Advisory Agreement, we were entitled to annual compensation of the greater of 2% of our gross
consolidated revenues or the actual expenses incurred by us. During 2006, 2005, and 2004, compensation
under the Advisory Agreement was $524,000, $508,000, and $411,000, respectively. Please see Item 7 for
a discussion of a proposed merger between NHC and NHR.

Service Agreement with Management Advisory Source, LLC. In 1991, we formed National Health
Investors, Inc. as a wholly-owned subsidiary. We then transferred to NHI certain healthcare facilities
owned-by NHC and distributed the shares of NHI to NHC’s shareholders. The distribution had the effect
of separating NHC and NHI into two independent public companies. As a result of the distribution, all of
the outstanding shares of NHI were distributed to the then NHC investors. NHI is listed on the New York
Stock Exchange. ’
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Until November [, 2004, .we had an Advisory Agreerhent with NHI whereby we provided to NHI services
related to investment activities and day-to-day management and operations. During 2004, our compensatlon
under the NHI Adwsory Agreement was $2,383,000. .. -

Effective November 1, 2004, NHC’s Advisory Agreement with NHI was terminated. On that date,
Management Advisory Source, LLC (“Advisors™), a new unrelated company formed by Mr. W. Andrew
Adams, undertook to provide advisory services to NHI. Mr. Adams served as NHI’s President and Board
Chairman and as NHC’s Chief Executive Officer and Board Chairman prior to November 1, 2004. Effective
November I, 2004 and to enhance independence from NHC, Mr. Adams resigned as NHC’s Chief Executive
Officer and terminated his managerial responsibilities with NHC. Mr. Adams remains on the NHC Board
as Chairman, focusing on strategic planning, but has no management involvement with NHC.

Effective November I, 2004, NHC, through its wholiy-owned subsidiary, Tennessee Management Advisory
Source, LLC (“THA") entered into an agreement to provide financial, accounting, data processing and
administrative services to Advisors. Under the agreement, THA provided to Advisors and, at the request
of. Advisors, to NHI, services related to accounting, data processing, administration and evaluation of
investments. THA’s role under the agreement was that of advisor and service provider, and THA in no way
assumed, responsibility for accounting, administrative, or investment decisions which are to be made by
Advisors or NHL '

The term of the agreement was through December 31, 2005 and lhereafter from year to year. However,
either party could terminate the agreement at any time without cause upon 90 days wntten notice.

For our services under the agrecmenl wE were entltled to compensation of $1, 250 000 per year, payable
_momhly and annually inflated by 5%. NHC earned approximately $1,313, 000 in 2006 31, 250,000 in 2005
and $397, 000 in 2004 under the'terms of the advisory agreemem

On March 13, 2006, we announced that we had reached an agreement with NHI to end the use of NHC’s

senior officers as advisors to NHI. NHC’s board believes it to be in the best interest of NHC to accentuate

its independence from NHI, its largest landlord. This transition was completed on December 31, 2006 and
- as of that date, we no IOnger prowde any services to the Advisor or NHI,

E. - Principal Office, We maintain our home office staff in Murfreesboro, Tennessee in a bunldmg owned bya
limited partnershlp, which is 95.6% owned by NHC.

" LONG-TERM HEALTH CARE CENTERS

The health care centers operated by our subsidiaries provide in-patient skilled and intermediate nursing care
services and in-patient and out-patient rehabilitation services. Skilled nursing care consists of 24-hour nursing service
by registered or licensed practical nurses and relatéd medical services prescribed by the patient’s physician. Intermediate
nursing care consists of similar services on a less intensive basis principally provided by non-licensed personnel. These
distinctions are generally found in the long-term health care industry although for. Medicaid reimbursement purposes,
some-states in which we operate have additional classifications, while in other states the Medicaid rate is the same
regardless of patient classification. Rehabilitative services consist of physncal speech, and occupational therapies,
which are designed to aid the patient’s recovery and enable the patient to resume normal activities.

Each health care center has a licensed administrator responsible for superwsmg daily activities, and larger centers
have assistant administrators. All have medical directors, a director of nurses and full-time registered nurse coverage.
All centers provide physical therapy and most have other rehabilitative programs, such as occupational or speech

- therapy. Each facility is located near at least one. hospital and is,qualified to accept patients discharged from such
hospitals. Each center has a full dining room, kitchen, treatment and examining room, emergency lighting system,
-and sprinkler system where required. . Management belleves that all centers are in compliance with the existing fire
and life safety codes.

We provide centralized management and support services to NHC operated health care nursing centers. The
management and.support services include operational support through the use of regional vice presidents and regional
nurses, accounting and financial services, cash management, data processing, legal, consulting and services in the
area of rehabilitative care. Many personnel are employed by our administrative services affiliate, National Health
Corporation, which is also responsible for overall services in the area of personnel, loss controi, insurance, education



and training. We reimburse the administrative services contractor by paying all the costs of person nel employed for our
benefit as well as a fee. National Health Corporation (National) is wholly owned by the National Health Corporation
Employee Stock Ownership Plan and provides its services only to us.

- We provide management services to centers operated under management contracts and offsite accounting and
financial services to other owners, all pursuant to separate contracts.” The term of each contract and the amount of the
management fee or accounting and financial services.fee is determined on a case-by-case basis. Typically, we charge
6% of net revenues for our management contracts and specific item fees for our accounting and financial service
agreements. The initial term of the contracts range from two years to ten years. In certain contracts, we maintain a
right of first refusal shou]d the owner desire to sell a managcd center.

All health care centers we operate are licensed by the appropriate state and, local agencies. A]] except five are
certified as providers for Medicaid patients, and all are certified as Medicare providers. Certification of advised centers
is the prerogative of the provider/fowner. All licensed nursing homes, assisted living and homecare offices are subject
to state and federal licensure and certification surveys. These surveys, from time to time, may produce statements of

_deficiencies. In response to such a statement, if any, the staff at each center would file'a plan of correction and any
alleged deficiencies would be corrected. Presently, none of our owned, leased and managed facilities are operating
under material statements of deficiencies. “We have a significant monetary bonus program’ for employees attached to
passmg these surveys with few or no deficiencies. - - e . oL

HEALTH CARE CENTER CONSTRUCTION

o In May 2004 we completed construction and opened a new health care facility in Franklin, Tennessee, which has
160 long-term care beds (the license for 47 of these beds came from an existing facility) and 46 assisted hiving units.
Furthermore, we completed the construction of a 30 long-term care bed addition in Murfreesboro, Tennessee i in August ’
2004,

During 2006, we completed a renovatlon (cost of approximately $1, 582 000) toa facmty which we'lease from NHI.
In addition, we completed a 30 bed addition to an existing long-term facility, located in Farragut, Tennessee and a 60
bed addition to an existing fac1]1ty located in Mauldin, South Carolina. The cost of these additions was approximately
$9,446,000. Two 60 bed additions to existing facilities costing approximately $7,604,000 located in Garden City,
" South Carolina and Columbia, South Carolina are scheduled to open during the first quarter of 2007. Construction
of a 60 bed addition to an existing facility located in North Augusta; South Carolina expected to cost approximately
$6,404,000 will begin in 2007. In March 2006, we purchased for approximately $5,400,000 a 200 bed long-term health
care center located in Town and Country, Missouri. We had managed the center since 2001. Also during 2007, we will
apply for Certificates of Need for additional beds in our markets and also evaluate the feasibility of expansion into new
markets by building health care centers that provide services exclusively to private paying patients.

OCCUPANCY RATES

The following table shows certain:information relatmg to occupancy rates for our contmumg owned, leased, and
debt guaranteed managed long-term health care centers: .

chr Ended Decemben k]!
2006° 2005 . ’ 2004
Overallcensus ................ 939% - - - 94.0% 93.9%

Occupancy rates are calculated by dividing the total number of days of patient care provided by the number of
patient days available (which is determined by multiplying the number of licensed beds by 3635 or 366).

TERMINATION OF FLORIDA HEALTH CARE CENTER OPERATIONS -

Unable to obtain liability insurance in the state of Florida (but not elsewhere), we elected to discontinue our
Florida long-term health care center operations on September 30, 2000. At thattime in Florida we operated two owned
skitled nursing facilities and thirteen leased facilities of which three were freestanding assisted living facilities, and
we had management contracts with nine facilities owned by third parties. Our former Vice President of Operations
and his staff in the state of Florida rcsngncd in August 2000. These individuals, plus additional Florida based outside
investors, formed new entities and entered into a series of new leases on the thirteen leased properties and our two
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owned properties, which leases are for a five-year term. The leases have currently been extended through December 31,

- 2010. We sold the current assets and current liabilities and leased our furniture, fixtures and leasehold improvements

of our owned and leased Florida facilities to the same group of entities. Additionally, and with the consent of the third
party owners, the Florida management contracts were assigned to other entities primarily owned and controlled by

- our former Vice President of Operations, These transactions closed on September 30, 2000, with an effective date of

October 1, 2000. New licenses were issued for the respective operators as of that day. Although our obligations for rem
payments owed on leased centers remain in effect due to a master lease, we are receiving a credit for lease payments
made by the new providers, which were current as of December 31, 2006. Through the master lease agreement, we
still maintain a right of first refusal with NHI and NHR to purchase any of the Florida facilities should NHI or NHR
receive an offer from an unrelated party.

ASSISTED LIVING UNITS

We presently lease or own 10 and manage 12 assisted living units, 11 of which are located within the physical -
structure of a long-term health care center or retirement. center and 11 of which are freestanding. In 2006, the rate of
occupancy was 89.9%. Assisted living units provide basic room and board functions for the elderly with the on-staff
availability to assist in minor medical needs on an as needed basis. -Certificates of Need are not necessary to build these
projects and we believe that overbulldmg has occurred in some of our markets. - .

RETIREMENT CENTERS : T ) -

Our four leased and two managed retirement centers offer specially designed residential units for the active
and ambulatory elderly and provide various ancillary services for our residents, including restaurants, activity rooms
and social areas. In most cases, retireiment centers also include long-term health care facilities, either in contiguous
or adjacent licensed health care centers. Charges for services are paid from private sources without assistance from
governmental programs. Retirement centers may be licensed and regulated in some states,.but do not require the

- issuance of a Certificate of Need such as is required for health care centers. We have, in several cases, developed

retirement centers adjacent to our health care properties with an initial construction of 40 to 80 units and which units
are rented by the month; thus these centers offer an expansion of our continuum of care. We believe these retirement
units offer a positive marketing aspect of our health care centers,

We have one managed and one leased retirement center which are “continuing care communities”, where the
resident pays a substantial endowment fee and a monthly maintenance fee. The resident then receives a full range of
services - including nursing home care - without additional charge: .

Our managed continuing care corﬁmunity, the-137 unit Richland Place Retirement Center, was opened in January,
1993 and is fully occupied. We opened the leased 58 unit AdamsPlace in Murfreesboro, Tennessee during 1998 and
during 2002 expanded it to 93 units.

HOMECARE PROGRAMS

Our home health programs (we call them homecare) provide nursing and rehabilitative services to individuals in
their residences and are licensed by the Tennessee, South Carolina and Florida state governments and certified by the
federal government for participation in the Medicare program. Each of our 30 Medicare certified homecare programs
is managed by an administrator and under the clinical direction of a registered nurse, with speech, occupational and
physical therapists either employed by the program or on a contract basis. Medicare reimbursement for homecare
services is paid under a prospective payment system. Under this payment system, we receive a prospectively determined
amount per patient per 60 day episode of care as defined by Medicare guidelines.

REGULATION

Long term health care centers are subject to extensive federal, state and in some cases, local regulatory, licensing,
and inspection requirements. These requirements relate, among other things, to the adequacy of physical buildings
and equipment, qualifications of administrative personnel and nursing staff, quality of nursing provided and continued
compliance with laws and regulations relating to the operation of the centers. In all states in which we operate, before
the facility can make a capital expenditure exceeding certain specified amounts or construct any new long-term health
care beds, approval of the state health care regulatory agency or agencies must be obtained and a Certificate of Need
issued. The appropriale state health planning agency must determine that a need for the new beds or expenditure exists




_ before a Certificate of Need can be issued. A Certificate of Need is generally issued for a specific maximum amount
-of expenditure and the project must be completed within a specxf" ¢ time period. There is no advance assurance that we

will be able to obtam a certificate of need in any partlcular instance.- In some statés, approval is also necessary in order
to purchase existing health care beds, although the purchaser is normally permitted to avoid a full scale certificate of

‘need application procedure by giving advance written notice of the acquisition and giving written assurance to the

-~

state regulatory agency that the change of ownership will not result in a change in the number of beds or the services

offered at the facility. ) - z

While there are currently no S|gmf|cant Iegls]atlve proposals to el1mmate cernﬁcates of need pending in the
states’in which we do business, deregulation in the certificate of need area would likely result in increased competition
among nursing home companies and could adversely affect occupancy rates and the supply of licensed and certli' ed
personnel.

C HIPAA COMPLIANCE

"The_Health Insurance Portability and Accoumabllny Act of 1996 (“H[PAA”) has mandated an extenswe set of
regulations to standardize electronic patient health, administrative and financial data transacuons and to protect the
privacy of individually identifiable health mformatlon 7 S A

* The Company has a HIPAA Task Force and designated priw—icy‘and secu_rity‘ofﬁcers. The privacy requirements

contained in HIPA A regulations were presented to every employee and are presented on a continuing basis to new hires
- during the orientation process. Privacy notices are postéd in each facility, and are provided to every new admission.

The Company uses a standard Busmess Assocnate Agreement with vendors and providers.

The Company has identified mformatlon inflow and outflow throughout the organization and has |mplemented

‘ the appropriate security safeguards to be HIPA A-compliant. Failure to comp]y with HIPAA could result in fines and/or

penaltles that could have a material adverse effect on us.

[

_ SOURCES OF REVENUE

" Our revénues are primarily derived from our health care centers. _The source and amount of the revenues are
determined by (i) the licensed bed capacity of our health care centers, (ii) the occupancy rate of the centers, (iii) the

extent to which the rehabilitative and other skilled ancillary services provided at each center are utilized by the patients .

in the centers, (iv) the mix of private pay, Medicare and Medicaid patients, and (v) the rates paid by private paying
- patients and by the Medicare and Medicaid programs. . o

The followmg table sets forth sources of net patlem revenues from health care centers and homecare services for
lhe penods indicated: - '

" Year Ended December 31

Source 2006 2005 2004

Private . ........ ... ... ... . 25% 25% 25%

Medicare ........ .. ... S 39% 0 .35% 3%
Medicaid/Skilled . . .~ ... ... ... ... ... T 10% 14%  13%

_ Medicaid/Intermediate ................... 23% 23% 25%

i © VAandOther."............. AU 3% " 3% 3%

Total .......... SR Lol 100%  100%  100%

PRIVATE REVENUE SOURCES

Private paying patients, private insurance carriers and the Veterans Administration generally pay on the basis of

“the center’s charges or specifically negotiated contracts. We attempt to attract an increased percentage of private and

Medicare patients by providing rehabilitative services and increasing the marketing.of those services through market

areas and “Managed Care Offices”, of which seven were open at year erid. These sérvices are designed to speed the

patient’s recovery and allow the patient to réturn home as soon as is praétical In addition to educating physicians and
patients to the advamages of the rehabilitative services, we have also 1mplemented incentive programs which provide
for the payment of bonuses to our regional and: center personncl if they ar€ able to obtam prwate and Medicare 50als
at their centers. :
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GOVERNMENT HEALTH CARE REIMBURSEMENT PROGRAMS

Medicare

The federal health insurance program for the elderly is Medicare (Title i8 of the Social Security Act), which

is administered by the United States Department of Health and Human Servrces (HHS), Centers for.Medicare and ~

Medlcald Services (CMS), formerly HCFA.. : .

Medicare is a health insurance program for people age 65 or older, people under age 65 with certain dlsabtlmes and
people of all ages with End Stage Renal Disease (permanent kidney failure requiring dlalySIS or a kidney transplant)

Medlcare is segmented in different parts:

.» - Part A Hospital Insurance — covers inpatient care in hospitals, including critical aceess hospitals, and skilled
nursing facilities (not ¢ustodial or long-term care). It also helps cover hospn:e care and some home health
care. Beneficiaries must meet certam conditions to get these benefits. . .

‘s .- Part B Medical Insurance — - covers phys;man services, therapy, enteral, urologmal ostomy, tracheostomy,
durable medical equlpment and. some home health care. Services must be medically necessary for_-
relmbursement by the program. o o ‘. c

‘. Part C Medicare Advantage Program - a managed care option for Medicare beneficiaries.

. Part D Prescription Drug Coverage anew Medicare prescnpl]on drug coverage option that began January [
) 2006 is availabie 1o all Medicare beneficiaries. Medicare Préscription Drug Coverage is insurance provided
by pnvate companies. Benefi c1arles select thelr company and pay a premium for coverage.

Medlcald

State programs for medical assistance to the indigent are known as Medicaid (Title XI1X of the Soe1al Seeunty

_Act). These programs are operated by ‘state agencies which adopt their own medical reimbursement methodology

and standards, but which are entitled to receive supplemental funds from the federal government if the state plan is
approved by CMS. Medicaid i is the federal-state matchmg program in all states in which we operate. Medlcald plans

. vary sometimes SIgmﬁcanlly from state to state. Variations include reporting forms, Fate setting time frames, funding

levels, and coverage requirements for patients, etc. Generally all Medicaid plans set an annual reimbursement daily
rate known as a per diem. Typlcally, the Medicaid per diem is based upon historical data and trended with a cost of
living (inflation) factor. Several state plans are case-mix (acuity) based similar to the Medicare Prospective Payment
System (PPS). Medicaid reimbursement is subject to state budgetary constraints.

Other Payors

‘Some of our nursing centers generate revenues from the United State Veterans Administration for providing
services o veterans. :

Some of our nursing centers care for hospice patients lhat are'plaeed by various hospice companies. NHC has
a fifty percent ownership interest in Caris HealthCare, a hospice company. Hospice care provides a comprehensive
set of services coordinated by an interdisciplinary team to provide for the needs of terminally ill patients. Hospice
companies reimburse our centers based on an agreed upon per diem, unless the patient is dual eligible. Ifthe patient is
dual eligible, we are paid the facility’s Medicaid per diem.

Medicare and Medlcald Participation by Our Centers.

All health care centers, owned, leased or managed by us are certifi ed 1o participate in Medicare. l-lealth care

. centers participating in Medicare are known as SNFs (Skilled Nursing Facilities). All but five of our.affiliated nursing

centers participate in Medicaid. All of our homecares (Home Health Agencies) participate in Medicare which comprises
over 95% of their revenue. Homecares also participate in Medicaid.

. During the fiscal year, each nursing center receives payments from Medicare and, if participating, from Medicaid.
We record as receivables the amounts we expect to receive under the Medicare and Medicaid programs and record into

_profit or loss any differences in amounts actually received at the time of interim or final settlements. Adjustments have

not had a material adverse effect within the last three years.




Certifications and Participation Requirements; Efforts to Impose Reduced Payments

Changes in certification and participation requirements of the Medicare and Medicaid programs have restricted.,
- and are likely to continue to restrict further, eligibility for reimbursement under those programs. Failure to obtain and
maintain Medicare and Medicaid certification at our nursing centers would result in denial of Medicare and Medicaid
payments which would likely result in a significant loss of revenue. In addition, private payors, including managed care
‘payors, increasingly are demanding that providers accept discounted payments resulting in lost revenue for specific
patients. Efforts to impose reduced payments, greater discounts and more stringent cost controls by government and
other payors are expected to contine. . For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, we derived: 39% and 33% of our
net patient revenues from the Medicare and Medicaid programs, respectively. Any reforms that sigmﬁcantly limit rates
‘of renmbursement under the Medicare and Medicaid programs could have a material adverse effect on our profitability.
We are unable to predict what reform proposals or reimbursement limitations will be adopted in the future or the effect
such changes will have on our operations. No assurance can be given that such reforms will not have a mateérial adverse
effect on us.

-

MEDICARE LEGISLATION AND REGULATIONS

* Skilled'Nursing Facilities (SNFs)

SNF PPS — Medicare is uniform nationwide and reimburses nursing centers under a fixed payment methodology
. named the Skilled Nursing Facility Prospective Payment System (SNF PPS). PPS-was instituted as mandated by the
Balanced Budget Act of 1997. PPS became effective for our nursing centers effective January 1, 1999. PPS is an acuity
‘based classification system that uses nursing and therapy indexes adjusted by geographical wage indexes to calcuiate
per diem rates for each Medicare patient. Payment rates are updated annually and are generally increased each October -
“when the federal fiscal year begins. The acuity classification system is named RUGs ( Resou rce Utilization Groups I11).
SNF PPS as implemented had an adverse impact on our industry and our business by decreasing payments materially.
Refinements in the form of temporary add-ons provided some relief until October 1, 2002. Annual market basket
(mﬂanonary) increases have continued to improve payments since that time.’

. On July 28, 2005, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) issued a final rule updatmg the SNF
PPS and consolidated billing prowsmns The rule updates the per—dlem payment rates under the SNF PPS for federal
fiscal year (FY) 2006.

The final rule caused a redistribution ofpaymems among providers. Thisis accompllshed by refinements expanding
the Resource Utilization Groups (RUGs) from 44 RUG groups to 53 RUG groups and by eliminating temporary rate
add-ons. The elimination of temporary add-ons has always been tied to the long awaited RUG refinement. RUG
refinement increases the case mix weight that applies to both nursing and non-ancillary therapy anc1l|ary CcOSts. ThIS
is a permanent change in the PPS methodology.

Effective October 1, 2006, our PPS rates were mcreased by 6.2% due to mflatmn factors (3.1%) and Core-Based
Statistical Area (CBSA) designations.

Medicare Bad Debis — The Deficit Reduction Act (DR A) of 2005 mandates the reduction of the private pay share
only of bad debt payments (which are included in Medicare payments) to skilled nursing facilities. The ﬁrs[ year, FY
2006 the reduction in revenue was only $25,000.

Prescription Drugs — Medicare Parr D - On December 8, 2003, the Congress enacted the Medicare Prescription
Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act (MMA) of 2003. This landmark legislation has caused significant changes
to the long term care business. The MMA legislation provides seniors and people with disabilities with the first
comprehensive prescription drug benefit ever offered under the Medicare program, the most significant improvement -
to senior health care in nearly 40 years. Under Part D, private insurance companies contract with Medicare to provide
coverage for anyone eligible for Part D that chooses to enroll in a.Prescription Drug Plan (PDP). Most pauenls are
enrolled in a PDP including Medicaid and Private Pay patients, There are multiple PDP’s.

Prior to MMA, prescriptions were billed to state Medicaid plans for Medicaid-(indigent) patients. Some patients
continue to be covered by other private insurance companies outside of Part D. As part of the Consolidated Billing
component of the Medicare Part A SNF PPS plan enacted with the Balance Budget Act of 1997 {(BBA), prescription
drugs for patients in a Part A stay are billed to Part A and not Part D, The provider purchases prescriptions from a drug
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suppher and bills charges to Medicare Part A under the per diem’ estabhshed by CMS. Whereas, for a patient whose
prescriptions are billed to Medicare Part D, the drug suppher bills Part D and-the provider.is only.billed for non-covered
and co-pay amounts. e . ‘ Co

Mast of our nursmg centers and assrsted hvmg centers are supphed prescnpuons by our owned reg1onal pharmacres :

“known_as Network Pharmames Network provrdes prescnptlons 10 46 owned, 11 managed and 14 trade entities.

MMA brought great concern over prescnptmn revenué and collectlons as ‘with any new reimbursement plan. Network
personnel worked tlrelessly in 2006 to successfully |mplement Part D in addition to ‘accepting new business.. Writeoffs

-of uncollectible claims have been less than what we expected. We anticipaté more changes to Part D in 2007 such as. -

improvéments to various PDP. plans and modification of.which drugs are covered by PDP formularies “In addition, we
expect that'changes to PDP payment methodology by’ CMS-could have'a negative effect on rates. Substanttal increases
in drug costs could oceur which would negatively impact our gross margm for prescriptions. :

Thempy Therapy caps went into effect on January 1, ‘2006 The DRA of 2005 provides an exception process
under which additional services could be approved when medically Justlﬁed Therapy caps are increased to $1,740 per

.patient per calendar year for Physical/Speech and Occupational therapy. The financial impact of therapy caps is.not

measurable at this time. The effect to our business may or may not be significant..

Homecares (H HAs)

Medicare is-uniform nationwide. and reimburses homecares under a ﬁxed paymem methodology named the
Prospectwe Payment System (HH PPS) PPS was instituted as mandated by the Balanced Budget Act of 1997. PPS.
became effective for our homecares effective October 1,2000. ‘Generally, Medicare makes payment under the HH PPS

" on the basis.of a national standardized 60- -day episode payment, adjusted-for case mix and geographical wage index.

Payment rates are updated perlodlcally and were last adjusted on January l 2006. The acuity classification system is
naméd HHRGs (Home Health Resouree Groups). :

‘On December 8, 2003 the Congress enacted the Medicare Prescnptton Drug, Improvement, and' Modermzatlon .
Act (MMA) of 2003: As a result, payments to home health’ agencies increased by 2.3% beginning on January 1, 2004.

Effeetrve April 1, 2005 the rural add-on of 5% was eltmmated causrng a 3% decrease i in revenues to all providers.

The Deﬂelt Reduetton Act (DRA) of 2005 mandates the home health payment rate for 2006 would be frozen:
HHASs serving rural beneficiaries: would see.a’ one—year five percent add-on payment under the legislation: The rural
add-on payment would provide for a 2. 5% increase.in total payments or, for our homecare operations, approximately
$1.2 miltion in FY 2006 due toa 51gn1ﬁcant number of our homecares serving-rural counties.

For 2007, we expect to receive a market basket update of 3.3% with offsettmg reductions resulting from the
elimination of the one-year five percent add-on.that was 1mplemented in 2006

- It}
- s

State'Medicaid plans subject to budget constraints are of particular concern to us given the repeal of the Boren -

" Amendment by the Balance Budget Act of 1997 The Boren Amendment provided falr reimbursement protection

to nursing facilities. Changes in federal funding and pressure on certain provider taxes coupled with’ State budget .

- problems have produced an uncertain environment. * Industry studies predict the Medicaid crisis will-continue with

a state required contribution to Medicare Part D and anticipated budget deficits: States will more likely than not be
unable to keep pace with nursing center inflation. States are under pressure to pursue other alternatwes to long term
care such as community and home-based services! . '

* In Tennessee, annual Medicaid rate increases were rmplemented effective July 1, 2006. However due to delayed
CMS approval of the Tennessee state Medlcald plan payment-was delayed until January, 2007, In South Carolina,
Medtcald has continued to fund and set new rates as usual effectrve October 1, 2006.

COMPETlTION

- In most of the communities in which we operate health care centers, there are other health care centers with which

we compéte. We own, lease or manage (through subsidiaries) 4 long-term health care facilities located in 10 states.

Each of these states are certificate of need states which generally requires the state to approve the. opening of any new

. long-term health care facilities. There are hundreds of operators: of long-term health care facilities in each of these

11




states and no single operator, including us, dominates.any of these state’s long-term health care markets, except for

some small-rural markets which might have only one long-term health care facility. In competing for patients and staff
with these centers, we depend upon referrals from acute care hospitals, physicians, residential care facilities, church

groups and other community service organizations.. The reputation in the community and the physical appearance of
our health care centers are important in obtaining patients, since members of the patient’s family generally participate

to a greater extent in selecting health care centers than in selecting an acute care hospital. We believe that by providing :
and emphasizing rehabilitative as well as ‘skilled care services at our centers, we are able to broaden our patient base

and to differentiate our centers from competing health care centers.

. Our homecares compete with other home health agenCIes (HHA’S) in most communities we serve. *Competition
occurs for patients and employees. Our homecares depend on haospital and physu:lan referrals and reputation in order
to maintain a health census. - :

As we expanded into the assisted living market, we monitored proposed or existing competing assisted living
centers. Our development goal is to link our health care centers with our assxsted living centers, thereby obtaining a
competitive advantage for both. . ,

We experience competition in employing and retaining nurses, technicians, aidés and other high- quality
professional and non-professional employees. In order to enhance our competitive position, we have an educational
tuition loan program, an American Dietetic Association approved internship program, a specially designed nurse’s aide
training class, and we make financial scholarship aid available to physical therapy vocational programs. We support the

. Foundation for Geriatric Education. We also conduct an “Administrator in Training” course, 24 meonths in duration, for
the professional training of administrators. Presently, we have six full-time individuals in this program. Four of our
Six reglonal vice presidents and 45 of our 74 health care center administrators are graduates of this program. .

We experience competition in providing managemem and accounting services 10 other long-term health care
providers. Those services are provided primarily to owners with whom we have had previous involvement through
ownership or through our relatlonshlp with NHI. Qur insurance services are provided pnmanly to centers-for which
we also provide managemem and accounting services. .

Qur employee benefit package offers a tuition reimbursement program. The goal of the program is to insure
a well trained qualified work force to meet future demands. While the program is offered to all disciplines, special
emphasis has been placed on supporting students in nursing and physical therapy programs. Students are reimbursed at
the end of each semester after presenting tuition receipts and grades to management. The program has been successful
in providing a means for many bright students to pursue a formal education..

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2006, our Administrative Services Contractor plus our managed centers had approximately
11,000 full and part time employees, who we call “Partners”, No employees are represented by a bargaining unit. We
believe our current relations with our employees are good.

INVESTOR INFORMATION

We maintain a worldw:de web site at www.nhécare.com. We publish to this web site our annual report on Form
10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and press releases. We do not necessarily have
these filed the same day as they are filed with the SEC or released to the public, but rather have a pollcy of placing these
" onthe web site within two (2) business days of public release or SEC filing.

We also maintain the following documents on-the web site:

¢  The NHC Code of Ethics. This Code has been adopted for all employees of our Administrative Servic';es
Contractor, officers and directors of the Company. The website will also disclose whether there have
been any amendments or waivers to the Code of Ethics and Standards of conduct. To date there have bgen
none. '

s  Information on our “NHC Valuesline”, which allows our.staff and investors unrestricted access to our
Corporate Compliance Officer, executive officers and directors. The toll free number is 800-526-4064 and
the communications may be incognito, if desired.
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¢ The NHC Restated Audit Committee Charter.
s The NHC Compensation Committee Charter. _
*  The NHC Nomination and Corporate Governance Committ-ee Charter

We will furnish, free of charge, a copy of any of the above documents to any mteresled investor upon recelpt of
a wrltten request.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the risk factors set forth below, as well as the other information contained in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The risks described below. are not the only risks facing us. Additional risks and
uncertainties that are not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial may also materially and
adversely affect our business operations. Any of the following risks could materially adversely affect our business,
financial condition or results of operations. )

Risks Relating to Our Company -

J ao .

' We depend on reimburseinent fram Medicare, Medicaid and other third-party payors and reimbursement rates
Sfrom such payors may be reduced. We dérive a substantial portion of our revenue from third-party payors, including the
Medicare and Medicaid programs. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, we derived approximately 63% of
our net revenues from the Medicare, Medicaid and other government programs. Third-party payor programs are highly
regulated and are subject to frequent and substantial changes. Changés in the reimbursement rate or methods of payment
from third-party payors, including the Medicare and Medicaid programs, or the implementation of other measures to
reduce reimbursements for our services has in the past, and could in the future, result in a sub§tantial;reducti0n in our
revenues and operating margins. Additionally, net revenue realizable under third-party payor agreements can change
after examination and retroactive adjustment by payors during the claims settlement processes or as a result of post-
payment audits. Payors ma'y disallow requests for reimbursement based on determinations that certain costs are not
reimbursable or reasonable because additional documentation is necessary or because certain services were not covered
or were not reasonable and medically necessary. There also continue to be new legislative and regulatory proposals
that could impose further limitations on government and private payments to health care providers. In some cases,
states have enacted or are considering enacting measures designed to reduce their Medicaid expenditures and to make
changes to private health care insurance. We cannot assure you that adequate reimbursement levels will continue to be
available for the services provided by us, which are currently being réimbursed by Medicare, Medicaid or private third-
party payors. Further. limits on the scope of services reimbursed and on reimbursement rates could have a material
adverse effect on our liquidity, financial condition and results of operations. It is possible that the effects of further
refinements to PPS that result'in lower payments to us or cuts in state Medicaid funding could have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations. See Item 1, “Business - Government Health Care Reimbursement Programs and
“Medicare Legislation and Regulations” and “Medicaid Legislation and Regulations”™.

We conduct business in a heaw’!y regulated industry, and changes in, or violations of, regulations may result in
increased costs or sanctions that reduce our revenue and profitability. In the ordinary course of our business, we are
regularly subject to inquiries, investigations and audits by federal and state agencies 1o determine whether we are in
compliance with regulations governing the operation of,. and reimbursement for, skilled nursing, assisted living.and
independent living facilities, hospice, home health agencies and our other operating areas. These regulations include
those relating to licensure, conduct of operations, ownership of facilities, construction of new and additions to existing
facilities, allowable costs, services and prices for services. In particular, various laws, including federal and state anti-
kickback and anti-fraud statutes, prohibit certain business practices and relationships that might affect the provision
and cost of health care services reimbursable under federal and/or state health care programs such as Medicare and
Medicaid, including the payment or receipt of remuneration for the referral of patients whose care will be paid by
federal governmental programs. Sanctions for violating the anti-kickback and anti-fraud statutes include criminal
penalties and civil sanctions, including fines and possible exclusion from governmental programs such as Medicare
and Medicaid. '

In addition, the Stark Law broadly defines the scope of prohibited'physician referrals under federal health care
programs to providers with which they have ownership or other financial arrangements. Many states have adopted, or
are considering, legislative proposals similar to these laws, some of which extend beyond federal health care programs,
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to prohibit the payment or receipt of remuneration for the referral of patients and physician referrals regardless of
the source of the payment for the care. These laws and regulations are complex and limited judicial or regulatory
interpretation exists. We cannot assure you that governmental officials charged with responsibility for enforcing the
provisions of these laws and regulations will not assert that one or more of our arrangements are in violation of the
provisions of such laws and regulations.

The regulatory environment surrounding the long-term care industry has intensified, particularly for larger for-
profit, multi-facility providers like us. The federal government has imposed extensive enforcement policies resulting in
a significant increase in the number of inspections, citations of regulatory deficiencies and other regulatory sanctions,
including terminations from the Medicare and Medicaid programs, denials of payment for new Medicare and
Medicaid admissions and civil monetary penalties. If we fail to comply, or are perceived as failing to comply, with the
extensive laws and regulations applicable to our business, we could become ineligible to receive government program
reimbursement, be required to refund amounts received from Medicare, Medicaid or private payors, suffer civil or
criminal penalties, suffer damage to our reputation in various markets or be required to make significant changes to our
operations. We are also subject to federal and state laws that govern financial and other arrangements between health
care providers. These laws often prohibit certain direct and indirect payments or fee- spllttmg arrangements between
health care Rrowders that are designed to induce the referral of patlems to a particular prowder for medical products
and services. Possible sanctions for Violation of 3 any of these restrictions or prohibitions include 1oss of eligibility to
‘participate in reimbursement programs and/or civil and criminal penalties. Furthermore, some states restrict certain
business relationships between physicians and other providers of health care services, Many states prohibit business
corporations from providing, or holding themselves out as a provider of, medicai care. From time to time, we may seek
guidance as to the interpretation of these laws; however, there can be no assurance that such laws will ultimately be
interpreted in a manner consistent with our practices. [n addition, we could be forced to expend considerable resources
responding to an investigation or other enforcement action under these laws or regulations. Furthermore, should we
lose licenses or certifications for a number of our facilities as a result of regulatory action or otherwise, we could be
deemed in default under some of our agreements, including agreements governing outstanding indebtedness. We also
are subject to potential lawsuits under a federal whistle-blower statute designed to combat fraud and abuse in the health
care industry. These lawsuits can involve significant monetary awards to private plaintiffs who successfully bring these

- Suits.

We have established policies and procedures that we believe are sufficient to’ensure that our facilities will operate
in substantial compliance with these anti-fraud and abuse requirements. While we believe that our business practices are
consistent with Medicare and Medicaid criteria, those criteria are often vague and subject to change and interpretation.
Aggressive anti-fraud actions, however, have had and could have an adverse effect on our financial position, results of
operations and cash flows. See ltem 1, “Business Government Health Care Reimbursement Programs”. ‘

We face additional federal requirements that mandate major changes in the transmission and retention of health
information. HIPAA was enacted to ensure, first, that employees can retain and at times transfer their heaith insurance
when they change jobs, and second, to simplify health care administrative processes. This simplification includes
expanded protection of the privacy and security of personal medical data and requires the adoption of standards for the
exchange of electronic health information. Among the standards that the Secretary of Health and Human Services has
adopted pursuant to HIPAA are standards for the following: electronic transactions and code sets, unique identifiers
for providers, employers, health plans and individuals, security and electronic signatures, privacy and enforcement.
Although HIPAA was intended to ultimately reduce administrative expenses and burdens faced within the health care
industry, we believe that implementation of this law has resulted and will continue to result in additional costs. Failure
to comply with HIPAA could result in fines and penalties that could have a material adverse effect on us: See Item l
“Business - HIPAA Compliance”,

We are unable to predict the future course of federal, state and local regulation or ]egis]at'ion,rlincluding Medicare
and Medicaid statutes and regulations, or the intensity of federal and state enforcement actions. Our failure to obtain or
renew required regulatory approvals or licenses or to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, the suspension
or revocation of our licenses or our disqualification from participation in certain federal and state reimbursement
programs, or the imposition of other harsh enforcement sanctions could have a material adverse effect upon our
operations and financial condition.
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Significant legal actions, which are commonplace in our industry, could subject us to increased operating costs
and substantial uninsured liabilities, which would materially and adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition.
As is typical in the health care industry, we are subject to claims that our services have resulted in resident injury or
other adverse effects. We; like our industry peers, have experienced an increasing trend in the frequency and severity
of professional liability, workers’ compensation, and health insurance claims and litigation asserted against us. In
some states in which we have significant operations,.insurancé coverage for the risk of punitive damages arising from
professional liability claims and/or litigation may not, in cerlain cases, be available due 1o state law prohibitions or
limitations of availability. We cannot assure you that we will not be liable for punitive damage awards that are either
not covered or are in excess of our insurance policy limits. We also believe that there have been, and will continue to be,
governmental investigations of long-term care providers, particularly in the area of Medicare/Medicaid false claims, as
well as an increase in enforcement actions resuiting from these investigations. Insurance is not available to cover such
losses. Any adverse determination in a legal proceeding or governmenta! investigation, whether currently asserted or
arising in the future, could have a materiat adverse effect on our financial condition.

Due to the rising cost and limited avai]abi]ity of professional liability, workers’ compensation and health insurance,
we are largely self-insured on all of these programs and as a result, there is no limit on the maximum number of claims or
amount for which we or our insured subsidiary can be iiable in any pollcy perlod Although we base our loss estimates
on mdependenl actuarial analyses using the information we have to date, the amoum of the losses could exceed our
estimates. In the event our actual llablllly exceeds our estlmates for any given penod our results of operauons and

 financial condition could be materlally adversely impacted. In addition, our insurance coverage might not cover all

claims made against us. If we are unable 16 maintain our current insurance coverage if judgments are obtained in
excess of the.coverage we maintain, if we are required to pay uninsured punitive damages; or if the number of claims
settled within the self-insured retention currently in place significantly increases, we could be exposed to substantial
additional liabilities. We cannot assure you that the claims we pay under ‘our self-insurance programs will not exceed
the reserves we have set aside to pay claims. The number of claims w1thm the self- msured retention may increase.

Recent legistation and the mcreasmg costs of being publicly owned are lzke!y to impact our future consolidated
Jfinancial position and re: sults aof aperations, In connection with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we are subject to rules
requiring our management to report on the effectiveness of our.internal controls over financial reporting, and further
requiring our independent auditor to attest similarly to such effectiveness: If we fail to have effective internal controls
and procedures for financial reporting in place, we could be unable to provide timely-and réliable financial information
which could, in turn, have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Significantregulatory changes, including the Sarbanes-Oxley Actand rules and regulations prorﬁulgaled asaresult
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, have increased, and in the future are likely to further increase, general and administrative
costs. In order to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the listing standards of the American Stock exchange,
and rules implemented by the Securities-and Exchange Commission (SEC), we have had to hire additional personnel
and utilize additional outside legal, accounting and advisory sétvices, and may continue to require such additional
resources.. Moreover, in the rapidly changing regulatory environment in which we now operate, there is significant
uncertainty as to what will be required to comply with many of the new rules and regulations. As a result, we may be
required to spend substantially more than we currently estimate, and may need to divert resources from other activities,
as we develop our compliance plans.

© Newaccounting pronouncements or new interpretations of existing standards couldrequire us to make adjustments
in our accounting policies that could affect our financial-statements. The Financial Accounting Standards Board, the
SEC, or other accounting organizations or governmental entities issue new pronouncements or new interpretations of
existing accounting standards that sometimes require us to change our accounting policies and procedures. Future
pronouncements or interpretations could require us to change our policies"oi"prbcedures and have a significant impact
on our future statements.

By undertaking to provide management services, advisory services, and/for financial services to other entities, we
become at least partially responsible for meeting the regulatory requirements of those entities” We provide management
and/or financial services to health care centers, assisting living centers and mdcpendent living centers owned by third
parties. At December 31, 2006, we perform management services (which include financial services) for 24 such centers
and accounting and financial services for an additional 32 such centers. Furthermore, we provide advisory sérvices to
NHR, a publlcly traded REIT and financial services to Management Advisory Source, LLC which company provides
advisory services to NHI, a publicly traded REIT. The “Risk- Factors” contained herein as applymg to us may in many
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' instances apply equally to these other entitiés for which we provide services. We have in the past and may in the future
be subject to claims from the entities to which we provide management, advisory or financial services, or to the claims
of third parties to those entities. Any adverse determination in any legal proceeding regarding such claims could have
a material adverse effect on our business, our results of operation, our financial condition and cash flows.

| We provide management services to long-term care centers under terms whereby the payments for our services

| are subject to subordination to other expenditures of the long-term care provider. Furthermore, there dre certain
third parties with whom we have contracted to provide services and which we have determined, based on insufficient

‘ historical collections and the lack of expected future collections, that the service revenue realization is uncertain. We
may, therefore, make expenditures related to the provision of services for which we are not paid.

| The cost 1o replace or retain quahf ed nurses, health care professionals and other key personnel may adversely
affect our financial performance, and we may not be able to comply with certain states’ staffing requirements. We could

. experience significant increases in our operating costs due to shortages in qualified nurses, health care professionals

' ' and other key personnel. The market for these key personnel is highly competitive. We, like other health care providers,
have experlenced difficulties in attractmg and retaining qualified personnel, especnally facility admmlstrators nurses,
certified nurses’ aides and other 1mportant health care providers. There is currently a shortage of n nurses, and trends
indicate this shortage will continue or worsen in the future. The difficulty our skilled nursing facnlmes are experlencmg
in hiring and retaining quallfled personnel has increased our average wage rate. We may continue to experience
increases in our labor costs due to higher wages and greater benefits required to attract and retain qualified health care
personnel. Our ability to control labor costs will significantly affect our future operating results.

Certain states in which we operate skilled nursing facilities have adopted minimum staffing standards and
additional states may also establish similar requirements in the future. Qur ability 10 satisfy these requirements will
depend upon our ability to attract and retain qualified nurses, certified nurses’ assistants and other staff. Failure to
comply with these requirements may result in the imposition of fines or other sanctions. If states do not appropriate
sufficient additional funds (through Medicaid program appropriations or otherwise) to pay for any additional operating
costs resulting from minimum staffing requirements, our profitability may be adversely affected.

Although we currently have no collective bargaining agreements with unions at our facilities, there is no assurance
this will continue to be the case. 1f any of our facilities enter into collective bargaining agreements with unions, we
could experience or incur additional administrative expenses associated with union representation or our employees.

Future acquisitions may be difficult to complete, use significant resources, or be unsuccessful and could expose us
to unforeseen liabilities. We may selectively pursue acquisitions or new developments in our target markets. Acquisitions
and new developments may involve significant cash expenditures, debt incurrence, capital expenditures, additional
operating losses, amortization of the intangible assets of acquired companies, dilutive issuances of equity securities
and other expenses that could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
Acquisitions also involve numerous other risks, including difficulties integrating acquired operations, personnel and
information systems, diversion of management’s time from existing operations, potential losses of key employees or
customers of acquired companies, assumptions of significant liabilities, exposure to unforeseen liabilities of acquired
companies and increases in our indebtedness. : , o

We cannot assure you that we will succeed in obtaining financing for any acquisitions at a reasonable cost or
that any financing will not contain restrictive covenants that limit our operating flexibility. We also may be unable to
operate acquired facilities profitably or succeed in achieving improvements in their financial performance.

We also may face compétition in acquiring any facilities. Our competitors may acquire or seek to acquire many
of the facilities that would be suitable acquisition candidates for us. This could limit our ability to grow by acqulsmons
or increase the cost of our acquisitions.

Upkeep of healthcare properties is capital intensive, requiring us lo continually direct financial resources s 10 the .
maintenance and enhancement of our physical plant and equipment. As of December 3t, 2006, we leased or owned
48 skilled nursing centers, 22 assisted living centers, and six independent living centers. Our ability to maintain and
enhance our physical plant and equipment in a suitable condition to meet regulatory standards, operate efficiently
and remain competitive in our markets requires us to commit a substantial portion of our free cash flow to continued
investment in our physical plant and equipment. Certain of our competitors may operate centers that are not as old
as our centers, or may appear more modernized than our centers, and therefore may be more attractive to prospective
customers. In addition, the cost to replace our existing centers through acquisition or construction’is substantially
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higher than the carrying value of our centers. We are undertaking a process to allocate more aggressively capital
spending within our owned and leased centers in an efforl to address issues that arise in connection with an aging
physical plant.

If factors including factors indicated in these “Risk Factors™ and other factors beyond our control, render us
unable to direct the necessary financial’and human resources to the maintenance, upgrade and modernization of our
phys:cal plant and equlpment our business; results of operations, fmanmal condition and cash flow could be adversely "
1mpacted

Provision for losses in our financial sm:emems may not be adequate. Loss provisions in our financial statements
for self-insured programs are made on an undiscounted basis in the relevam period. These provisions are based
on internal and external evaluations of the merits of individual claims, ‘analysis of claims history and independent
actuarially delermlned estimates. The external analysis is completed by a certified actuary with extensive experience
in the Jong-term care mduslry Our management réviews the tethods of determining these estimates and establishing
the resultmg accrued liabilities frequently, with any material adjustments resulting therefrom being reflected in ‘current
earnings. Although we belleve that our provnsnons for self-msured losses in our financial statements are adequate, the
ultimate 11ab1]1ty may be in ‘excess of the amounts recorded. In the event the prowsmns for loss reflected i in our financial
statements are madequate our l"nancnal condmon and results of’ operatlons may be matenally affected et e

D
J'L“’ t

lmplemen!anon of a new mformanon techno!ogy mﬁ‘astrucrure could cause business interruptions and negatively
affect our profitability and cash flows. We continue to refine and implement our information technology to improve
customer service, enhance operalmg efficiencies and provide more effective management of business operations.
Implementation of the new system and software and refinement of existing software carries risks such as'cost overruns,
project delays and business interruptions and delays. [f we experience a material-business interruption as a result of
the 1mplementat|0n of our existing or future information technology infrastructure or are unable to obtain the projected
benefits of this new infrastructure, it could adversely affect us and could have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

if we fail to compete effectively with other health care pmwdem our revenues and profitability may decline.
The long-term health care services industry is hlghly competitive. Our skilled nursing health care centers, assisted
living centers, independent Iwmg facilities, home care services and other operations compete on a locat and reglona]
basis with other nursing centers, health care providers, and senior Jliving service providers. Some of our competitors’
facilities are located in newer buildings and may offer Services not provided by us or are operated by entities having
greater financial and other resources than us. Our skilled nursing facilities face competition from skilled nursing,
assisted living, independent living facilities, homecare services, and other operations that provide services comparable
to those offered by our skilled nursmg facilities. Many competing general acute care hospitals are larger and more
established than our facilities.

-

The long-term care industry is divided into a variety of competitive areas that market similar services. These
competitors include skilled nursing, assisted living, independent living facilities, homecare services, hospice providers
and other operations. Our facilities generally operate in communities that also are served by similar facilities operated
by our competitors. Certain of our competitors are operated by not-for-profit, non-taxpaying or governmental agencies
that can finance capital expenditures on a tax exempt basis and that receive funds and charitable contributions
unavailable to us. Our facilities compete based on factors such as our reputation for quality care; the commitment and
expertise of our staff; the quality and comprehensiveness of our treatment programs; the physical appearance, locaticn
and condition of our facilities and to a limited extend, the charges for services. In addition, we compete with other
long-term care providers for customer referrals from hospitals. As a result, a failure to compete effectively with respect’
to referrals may-have an adverse impact on our business. Many of these competing companies have greater financial
and other resources than we have. We cannot.assure you that increased competition in the future will not adversely
affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Possible changes in the case mix of patients as well as payor miy and payment merhoda!ogies may significantly
affect our profitability. The sources and amounts of our patient revenues will be determined by a number of factors,
including licensed bed capacity and occupancy rates of our facilities, the mix of patients and thé rates of reimbursement
among payors. Likewise, reimbursement for therapy services will vary based upon payor and payment methodologies.
Changes in the case mix of the patients as well as payor mix among pnvate pay, Medicare and Medicaid W1ll sngmﬁcantly A




affect our profitability. Particularly, any significant increase in our Medicaid population could have a material adverse
effect on our financial position, results of operations and cash ﬂow especially if states operatmg these programs
continue to limit, or more aggressively seek limits on, reimbursement rates.

Private third-party payors continue to try to reduce health care costs. Private third-party payors are continuing
their efforts to control health care costs through direct contracts with health care providers, increased utilization
review and greater enrollment in managed care programs and preferred provider organizations. These private payors

increasingly are demanding discounted fee structures and the assumption by health care providers of all or a portion
- of the financial risk. We could be adversely affected by the continuing efforts of private third-party payors to limit

the amount of reimbursement we receive for health care services. We cannot assure you that reimbursement payments
under private third-party payor programs will remain at levels comparable to present levels or will be sufficient to
cover the. costs allocable to patients eligible for reimbursement pursuant to such programs. Future changes in the
reimbursement rates or methods of private or third-party payors, including the Medicare and Medicaid programs, or
the implementation of other measures to reduce reimbursement for our services could result in a substantial reduction
in our net operatmg revenues. Finally, as a result of competitive pressures our ablllty to maintain operating margms
through price increases to private patients is limited.

s

5 We are exposed 10 market risk due to the fact that ou!standmg debi dnd future borrowmgs are or wn'l be subject
10 wide: ﬂuctuanons based on changmg mterest rates. Market risk is the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in

. market rates and prices such as interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and commodity prices. Our primary

exposure to market risk is interest rate risk associated with variable rate borrowings. Although we do not currently
have a bank credit facility, we may be in the future as we resume development and acquisitions. Any future credit
facility will provide for variable rates and if market mterest rates rise, so will our requtred interest payments on any
future borrowings under the credit facility. :

.. Although we currently have a modest amount of debt outstanding, we expect to borrow in the future to fund
development and acquisitions. In the event we incur substantial indebtedness, this could haye important consequences
to you. For example, it could:

¢ make it more difficult for us to satisfy our financial obligations;

. increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions, including material adverse
regulatory changes such as reductions in reimbursement;

e limit our ability to obtain additional financing to fund future working capital, capital expenditures and
-. other general corporate requirements, or to carry out other aspects of our business plan,

‘s require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on indebtedness,
thereby reducing the availability of such cash flow to fund working capital, capital expenditures or other
general corporate purposes, or to carry out other aspects of our.business plan;

e require us to pledge as collateral substantially all of our assets;

*  require us to maintain certain debt coverage and financial ratios at specified Ievels thereby reducing our
-financial flexibility;

-

- & limit our ability to make material acquisitions or take adventage of business opportunities that may arise;
s - expose us to fluctuations in interest rates, to the extend our borrowings bea'r‘va;iable rates of interest;
e limitour flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry; and
s  place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors tnat have less-debt.

In  addition, loan agreements governing our debt contain and may in the future contain financial and other
restrictive covenants limiting our ability to engage in activities that may be in our long-term best interests. Qur failure
to comply with.those covenants could result in an event of default which, it not cured or waived, could result in the
acceleration of some or all of our debts.

We are permitted to incur substantially more debt, which could further exacerbate the risks déscribed above. We
and our subsidiaries may be able to incur substantial additional indebtedness in the future. The terms of our current

.- debt do not completely prohibit us or our subsidiaries from incurring additional indebtedness. If new debt is added to

»

our current debt levels, the related risks that we now face could intensify.
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To service our mdebtedness we wzll reqwre a significant amount of cash the availability of wlnch depends on )
many factors beyond our control. Qur ability to make. payments on and 1o refinance our indebtedness, including-our ) o
present indebtedness , and to fund plarmed capital expenditures, will depend on our ability to generate cash in the = - ° l
future. This, to a certain extend, is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, ]eg1slauve regulatory and
olher factors that are beyond our control. -

We may not be able to meet all of our’capital needs. We cannot assure you that our business will generate cash L. ‘
flow from operations, that anticipated revenue-growth and improvement of operating efficiencies will be realized or

that future borrowings will be available to us in an"amount sufficient to enable us to service our indebtedness or to .
fund our other liquidity needs. We may need to refihance all or a portion of our indebtédness on or before maturity, _— |
sell assets or curtain discretionary capital expendltures

We and NHR jointly announced on December 21, 2006 that we have entered into an agreement and plan of merger - s
that is expected to be completed during the summer of 2007, Completlon of the Merger is subject to Hart-Scott-Redino
anti-trust review and approval by shareholders of NHC and NHR. There can be no assurance that such approvals will .
be granted Furthermore, in addition to the business risks described herein, there are material risk factors relating to -
. the’ merger. tis expected that both National HealthCare Corporation and National Health Realty, Inc. will hold special
meetmgs of each _company ! s shar‘eholders ata future date tlo consrder matters related to the  merger agreement and that =~
a_|01nt proxy stalement/prospectus will be 1ssued by the compames When it is 1ssued we, ‘urge. you to read carefully
the joint proxy slatement/prospectus meludmg the risk factors relating to the mer;,er the annexes and the documents .
incorporated by reference therein. -You also may warit'to consult with your accounting, legal and tax advisors. _ +

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None,



ITEM 2.

LONG-TERM HEALTH CARE CENTERS

PROPERTIES

PO - ', hv_‘

Total -

NHC HealthCare, Sumter

s

a~

20 e

Managed

A ; Joined
State City Center Affiliation Beds NHC
Alabama ........... -Anniston NHC HealthCare, Anniston Leased(1) 151 1973
L Moulton , NHC HgalthCare Moulton . Leased(l) 136 1973
Georgia .. .......... Fort Oglethorpe ' NHC HealthCare, Fort Oglethorpe Owned(2) 135 1989
: ‘ Rossville " NHC HealthCare, Rossville ‘Leased(l) 112 197)
. Kansas. ............ Chanute Chanute HealthCare Center -Managed 77 2001
Council Grove Council Grove HealthCare Center - Managed 80 2001
Haysville Haysville HealthCare Center Managed 119 2001
" "Larned Larned HealthCare Center’ Managed - 54 . 2001
Sedgwick Sedgwtck HealthCare Cemer - Managed 62 2001
' -Kentucky ....... i Glasgow 7L rNHC HealthCare, Glasgow -~ ., Leased(l) 194 1971
e - :, Madisonville NHC HealthCare, Madlsonwlle Leased(]) 94 = 1973
Massachusetts. .. ... . _Greenfield . Buckley Nursing Home " Managed . 120 1999
- Holyoke Buckley Center for Nursing & Rehab. "Managed = 102 1999
© Quincy - John' Adams Continuing Care Center - Managed . 71 1999
Taunlon Longmeaﬁow of Taunton Managed 100 1999
Missouri ... Columbia Colunibia HealthCare Center Managed 97 2001
Desloge NHC HealthCare, Desloge ‘Leased(1) 120 1982
Joplin Joplin HealthCare Center Managed 92 - 2001
Joplin _ NHC HealthCare, Joplin Leased(1) 126 1982
Kennett " NHC HealthCare, Kennett Leased(l) 170 1982
Macon "-Macon Health Care Center - Managed 120 ‘1982
Osage Beach Osage Beach Health Care Center Managed 120 1982
St. Charles Charlevoix HealthCare Center Managed 142 2001
. St. Charles NHC HealthCare, St. Charles Leased(1) 120 1982
St. Louis - NHC HealthCare, Maryland Heights - Leased(l) ~ 220 1987
Springfield Springficld Rehabilitation and Managed 120 1982
* Health Care Center - - .
Town & Country:  Town & Country HealthCare Center Owned 200 2001
A West Plams West Plains Health Care Center Leased(l} 120 1982
_ New Hampshire ... .. Epsom ~ Epsom Manor Managed 108 1999
’ Manchester -Maple Leaf Health Care Center Managed 114 1999
Manchester Villa Crest Health Care Center Managed T 126 1999
" South Carolina ...... Aiken Mattie C. Hall Health Care Center Managed 176 1982
) "~ Anderson NHC HealthCare, Anderson Leaéed(l) 290 1973
Clinton NHC HealthCare, Clinton Leased(1) 131 1993
Columbia NHC HealthCare, Parklane Leased(l) 120 1997
Greenwood NHC HealthCare, Greenwood Leased(l) 152 1973
Greenville NHC HealthCare, Greenville Leased(l) 176 1992
Laurens NHC HealthCare, Laurens .eased(l) 176 1973
Lexington NHC HealthCare, Lexington Leased(l) 120 1994
Mauldin NHC HealthCare, Mauldm : Leased(1) 180 1997
Murrells Inlet NHC HealthCare, ‘Garden C1ty Leased(l) 148 1992
North Augusta NHC Hea!thCare North Augusta Leased(l) 132 1991
Sumter 138 1985
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Total Joined
City Center Affiliation Beds NHC
Athens NHC HealthCare, Athens Leased(1) 98 1971
Chattanooga NHC HealthCare, Chattanooga Leased(l) 207 1971
Columbia Maury Regional Hospital Managed 20 1996
Columbia . NHC HealthCare, Columbia Leased(1) 106 1973
- Columbia NHC HealthCare, Hillview . Leased(1) 92 1971
Cookeville NHC HealthCare, Cookeville Managed 94 1975
Dickson . NHC HealthCare, Dickson Leased(1) 191 1971
Dunlap NHC HealthCare, Sequatchie Leased(]) 120 1976
Farragut NHC HealthCare, Farragut Leased(1) 90 1998
Franklin NHC Place, Cool Springs Owned 160 2004
Franklin NHC HealthCare, Franklin Leased(l) 80 1979
Hendersonville ~ NHC-HealthCare, Hendersonville Leased(1) 122 1987
Johnson City NHC HealthCare, Johnson City Leased(1} 160 1971
Knoxville  NHC HealthCare, Fort Sanders - Qwned(2) 172 - 1977
Knoxville 'NHC HealthCare] Knoxville Leased(l) 139 1971
Lawrenceburg NHC HealthCare, Lawrenceburg Managed 96 1985
Lawrenceburg NHC HealthCare, Scott Leased(]) 62 1971
Lewisburg NHC HealthCare, Lewisburg Leased(1) 102 1971
Lewisburg NHC HealthCare, Oakwood Leased(1) 60 i973
McMinnville NHC HealthCare, McMinnville Leased(l) 150 1971 -
Milan NHC HealthCare, Milan Leased(l) 122 1971
Murfreesboro AdamsPlace Leased(!) 90 1997
Murfreesboro NHC HealthCare, Murfreesboro Managed 181 1974
Nashville The Health Center of Richland Place Managed 167 1992
Oak Ridge - NHC HealthCare, Oak Ridge Managed 128 1977
Pulaski- NHC HealthCare, Pulaski Leased(!) 102 1971
Smithville NHC HealthCare, Smithville Leased(1) 114 1971
Somerville NHC HealthCare, Somerville Leased(1) 72 1976
Sparta NHC HealthCare, Sparta Leased(1) 120 1975
Springfield NHC HealthCare, Springfield Leased(1) 107 1973
............ Bristol NHC HealthCare, Bristol Leased(1) 120 1973




L ASSISTED LIVING UNITS

N

7 - Stale ) City . . = Center - Units -
.0 Alabama......... ........ Anniston . NHC Plice/Anniston ‘Leased(l) 68
o ATHZONA. ..o e Gilbert - - The }"Iace=at Gilbert Managed  ." 30
. ) {ilendale The Place at Glendale Managed - 38
" “+. - Tucson The Placé at Tucson ‘Managed 50
: . Tucson The Place at Tanque Verde Managed 38~
1 < Kansas.......o.ooo Larned Larned Heal:t‘}i Care Center Managed 19
| Kentucky. . S e Glasgow - NHC Heeltthre, Glasgowl‘ .Leased(1). 8
; Missouri.......... . ..... .. St Charles Lake St..Charles Re{'irement Center Leased(l) 25
X - New Hampshire .............. " Epsom Heartland Placé Managed 54
o < Mancheéster- V1lla Crest Assisted meg Managed 29
- . ST RIST LIV B R e ol ‘
R South Carolma ..... FETTRRPRNE Conway 4 The Place at Conway Managed 42
o l Tennessee e : S ...... Dickson NHC HealthCare chkson " ‘Leased(l) 20
oI : o Farragut NHC Place, Farragut , - . Leased(1) =~ 84
' L Franklin NHC Place, Cool Springs - Owned 46
Tl Gallatin + The Place at Gallatin Managed 42
' .Johnson City - 'NHC HealthCare, Johnson City Leased(l) - 6
) . Kingsport. ' The Place at Kingsport Managed 44
ST . L < Murfreesboro AdamsPlace Leased(l) - 83
. Nashville. Richland Place S Managed 24
) . Smithville NHC HealthCare Smlthvﬂle L "Leased(l) 6
, . Somerville . NHC HealthCare, Somerville . Leased(l) 12
) Tullahoma The Place at Tullahoma-~.- , .- Managed 42
o RETIREMENT APARTM ENTS .
'.| Do State. ., 4 City - Retirement ApaArtments Affiliation Units Eetahlishcd
Kansas. . . e Larned . Larned HealthCare Center _Managed < 10 2001
’ Missouri .......... " St. Charles Lake St. Charles Renrement ' ~Leased(l) 1 55 1984
- - - Apartments - . -
. - Tennessee .......... Chattanooga Parkwood Retirement Apartments Leased(l) 30 1986
CoL ' Johnson City ~ Coloniat-Hill Retirement Apartments . Leased(l) = 63 1987
- Murfreesboro . AdamsPlace . Leased(l) - 93 1997
Nashville Richland Place Retirement Managed 137 1963
Apartments . .

)




. HOMECARE PROGRAMS .

i

" Affiliation

.. State City 'Homccurc Prog{rums " Established
S 7. Florida.......... ... ...l Carrabelle NHC HomeCare of Carrabelle Owned 1994 ’
' ‘ _Chipley NHC HomeCare of Chipley =~ Owned ,1994
Crawfordville . NHC HomeCare of Crawfordville Owned 1994°7. "
Marianna - NHC HomeCare of Marianna Owned 1994
. : : Merritt Island ~ NHC HomeCare of Merritt [stand ~ Owned 1999 .
- Ocala - " NHC HomeCare of Oé¢ala Owned 1996
Panama City - - NHC HomeCare of Panama City- - Owned 1994
PortSt. Joe  ~ NHC HomeCare of Port St. Joe Owrned™ " 1994, -
) Quincy . NHC HomeCare of Quincy Owned 1994 - L
? .Vero Beach .‘NHC Home'_Care_ of Vero Beach Owned 1897 == - -
South Carolina ., .. .......... Aiken © " NHC HomeCare of Aiken - Owned ~ .~ 1996
' Greenwsood,_ ; ,‘ NHC HomeCare ‘of. Greenwood Owned ) 19_96"
. , ) Laurens RER N!HC HoreCare of Laurens Owned 19_96[ L
- L TR v Wi Lot . [BIDS LS T 4 P Ty
Tennessee ... ........... L Athens ' _NHC HomeCare ofAthens Owned - ‘ - 1984 o
’ Chattanooga . -NHC HomeCare of Chattanooga ~ Owned 1985 -
"Columbia - - NHC HomeCare of Columbia Owned < 1977 .
"Cookeville . NHC HomeCare of Cookeville :Owned 1976
Dickson’ " NHC HomeCare of Dickson Owned 1977
Johnson Clty "NHC HomeCare of Johnson City Owned , 1978
Knvarlle .. NHC. HomeCare of Knoxville Owned 1977 -
Lawrenceburg ” NHC HomeCare of Lawrenceburg Owned 1977
Lebanon™ - NHC HomeCare of Lebanon Owned - - 1997
. Lewisburg - NHC HomeCare of Lewisburg Owned | . ~ 1977 )
. McMinnville, ~ NHC HomeCare of McMinnville ~ Owned 1976
. Mllan e NHC HomeCare of Milan . Owned - - L1977 -
Murfreesboro  »NHC HomeCare of Murfreesboro ~ Owned | - 1976 )
Pulaski” A gN‘l-!C HomeCare of Pulaski . Owned -+ 1985
Somerville = ‘NHC HomeCare of Somerville Owned . 1983
Sparta NHC HomeCare c'Jf‘Sparta Owned 7 1984
‘ Springfield ~ NHC HomeCare of Springfield 'Owried - © - 1984"
(1) 'LeasedfroﬁqNHRorNHl IR - , SR
(2) ‘NHC HealthCare/Fort Oglethorpe and NHC HealthCare/ Fort Sanders are owned by separate limited partnershlps
The Company owns approximately 80% of the parmershrp interest in Fort Oglethorpe and 25% of the parmershlp .
interest in Fort ‘Sanders. .
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDlNGS.' : ' ) o _ T o T

~

- GENERALANDPROFESSIONALLlABILITYLAWSUlTSAND[NSURANCE S .

Since 1996, across the nation, the long’ term care mdustry has experienced a dramatic increase in the frequency
of personal injury/wrongful death claims and in the severity of awards based upon alleged neglrgence by nursing
facilities and their employees in providing care to residents. As of December 31, 2006, we and/or dur managed centers
are currently defendants-in 64 such claims covering the years 1995 through December 31, 2006. Fourteen of the 64 - -
suits are in Florida, where we have not operated or managed long-term care providers since September 30, 2000 of
the 14 Florida suits, seven suits relate to events before and seven surts relate 1o events after our cessation of business i in
Florida. These latter seven suits assert allega‘uons of continued exposure even after we ceased operatlons
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{n 2002, we established and capitalized a wholly-owned licensed liability insurance company. Thus, since 2002,
insurance coverage for incidents occurring at all providers owned or leased, and most providers managed by us is
provided through this wholly-owned insurance company. :

Our coverages for all years include primary policies and umbrella policies. In 2002, deductibles were eliminated
and first dollar coverage was provided through the wholly-owned insurance company, while the excess coverage was
-provided by a third party insuror. -

Beginning in 2003, both primary and excess professional liability insurance coverage was provided through our

wholly—owned liability insurance company in the amount of $1 million per incident, $3 million per iocation with an

. aggregate primary policy limit of $11.0 million in 2003, $12.0 million in 2004 and $14.0 million in 2005 and 2006.
Years 2003-2006.have a $7.5 million annual excess aggregate.

As a result of the terms of our insurance policies and our use of a wholly-owned insurance company, we have
retained significant self-insured risk with respect to general and professional liability. We use independent actuaries to
estimate our éxposures for claims obligations (for both asserted and unasserted claims) related to exposures in excess of
-coverage limits, and we maintain reserves for these obligations. It is possible that claims against us could exceed our
coverage limits and our reserves, which would have a materlal adverse effect on our financial position, results’
of operatmns and cash flows. B

NASHVILLE FIRE

On September 25, 2003, a tragic fire occurred on the second floor of a skilled nursing facility located in Nashville,
Tennessee operated by one of our limited liability company subsidiaries. While the concrete and steel constructed
facility complied with applicable fire safety codes, the building was not equipped with fire sprinklers. Although
the fire was predominantly confined to a patient’s room, extensive smoke filled the area and caused injuries to other
patients despite aggressive efforts to evacuate these patients by NHC employees; fire department personnel and other

- volinteers. There were sixteen patient deaths subsequent to the fire, an undetermmed number of which may have been
refated to the events of September 25, 2003. :

The fire produced extensive media coverage, specifically focused on the fact that health care centers, including
. hospltals constructed prior to 1994 are not required by Tennessee law or regulations to be fully sprinkled if constructed
¥ with fire resistant materials. Irrespective of code standards, we undertook to install fire sprinklers in all of our owned
and leased long-term care centers, which installation is now completed: We proactively sought to resolve any questions
and/or losses with patients and their families. A total of 32 lawsuits were filed against us. All 32 of the cases have now

- been settled, the last two settlements occurring in November, 2006.

Additionally, in connection with the fire, we have incurred losses and costs associated with interruption of
“business, as we hive closed the center. For the year ended December 31, 2004, we received or accrued $1,404,000
of insurance recoveries. from third-party insurance carriers. Amounts of insurance recoveries received in 2005 are
immaterial in amount when netted against the related expenses. These insurance recoveries reduced our losses and
costs and were included in other operating expenses in the consolidated statements of income.

|
|
|
|
|
|
|
- The building involved in the fire was leased by one of our limited liability company subsidiaries from National
. Health Investors, Inc. (NHI). We terminated the lease during the third quarter of 2004. A provision of the lease
allowed that if substantial damage occurred during the lease term, we could terminate the lease with respect to the
damaged property. Under the lease, NHC had no obligation to repair the property and NHI was entitled to all insurance
proceeds related to the building damage. We are obligated to continue to indemnify and hold harmless NHI from
any and all demands arising from our use of the property. NHI retained the right to license the beds under the lease
termmallon

Conswtem with the provisions of SFAS 5 and related interpretations, we accrued for probable and estimatible
losses related to the Nashville fire and included our estimates of these losses in accrued risk reserves in the consolidated
balance sheets. All such estimates are adjusted to actual results when outcomes are known.

.GENERAL LITIGATION

There is certain additional litigation incidental to our business, none of which, in management’s opinion, would
be material to our financial position or results of operations.
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ITEM 4. SUBMISSIO.N OF MATTERS Tb A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

The Annual Mcetmg of the Shareholders was held on May 3, 2006 and the results reported in the March 31, 2006,
Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 5, 2006 " -

PART l]

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

-

The shares of common stock of National HealthCare Corporanon are traded on the American Stock Exchange”
under the symbol NHC. The closing price for the NHC shares on March 9, 2007 was $51.95. On December 31, -

- 2006, NHC had approximately 3,800 shareholders, comprised of approximately 2,400 shareholders of récord and an
additional 1,400 shareholders indicated by security posmon llstmgs The fo]lowm& table sets out the quarterly high
and low sales prices of NHC’s shares. :

Cash
‘Stock Prices Dividends
High Low Declared
2005 _ R '
' 1% Quarter $37.61 © $30.00 $.125
2% Quarter 3649 . 3051 150
3" Quarter 36.95 33.62 150
4t Quarter 38.95 3383 150,
2006
1% Quarter $42.58  $36.50 $.150 A
2™ Quarter 47.75 3R.26 180"
3% Quarter )  55.81 39.22 180
. 4" Quarter - 59.00 4984 | 180 :

There was no repurchasé or publically announced programs to repurchase our common stock in 2005 or 2006.
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ITEM 6.

_SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

PN

The following table represents selected financial mformanon for the ﬁve years ended December 31, 2606.. The

Year Ended December 31,

data for 2006, 2005 and 2004 has been derived from financial statements mcluded elsewhere in this Form lO-K and
should be read in con_]unctton with those financial statements and accompanymg footnotes. ‘

2006 . 2005 2004 2003 2002
) ) - (in thousands, except per share data)
Operating Data: . T v
Netrevenues .. .........covievunnen.. $562,958  $542,381  $521,829 §472,864  $458,252
Total costs and expenses .. ............. 508,679 495 691 481 ,'774 439,577 430,806
Income before income taxés e - 54,279 46,690 © 40,055 33,287 - 27,446
Income tax provision ................. 17,539 18,055 16,083 13,335 11,009
Netincome .....:......... i L 36,740 28,635 23,972 19,952 16,437
Earnings per share: . i S :
Basic ... $ -299 $ 23 $§ 205 % 172 5 143
.Diluted .. 2.85 2.24 1.95 1.65- 137
" Dividends declared per share: :

Cash .o e S 69 $ 575 % 500 8 - 3 —
Balance Sheet Data: E . .
Total 88SetS ..o vvee s e $471.477 $410,625 $373,117° §352393  $305,575 -
Accrued risk reserves . . . s ' 76,471 70,290 62,354 43,953 31,632

! Long-term debt, less current portion . . . .. 10,381 13,568 16,025 19,000 26,220
“Debt serviced by other parties .......... ' — — 1,494 . 1,727 1,952
Stockholders’ equnty .................. 249,142 203,059 182, 348‘ 151,027 120;l4l

iTEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DlSCUSSlON AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDlTlON AND RESULTS
; “OF OPERATIONS '
OVERVIEW —

National "HealthCare Corporation (“NHC” or the “Company™) is a leading provider of long-term health.care
services. We operate or manage 74 long-term health care centers with 9,245 beds in 10 states and provide other
services in two additional states: These operations are provided by separately funded and maintained subsidiaries.
We_ provide long-term health care services to patients in a variety of settings including long-term nursing centers,
managed care specialty units, sub-acute care units, Alzheimer’s care units, homecare programs, assisted living centers
and independent living centers. 1n addition, we provide management and accounting services to owners of long-term
health care centers and advisory services to National Health Realty, Inc., (“NHR”) and prior to November 1, 2004 1o

- National Health Investors, Inc. (“NHI™).

Executive Summary

~ Earnings — To monitor our earnings, we have developed budgets and management reports to monitor labor,
census, and the composition of revenues. Inflationary increases in ouf costs may cause net earnings from patient
services to decline.

Development and Growth — The long-term care industry has gone through a long period of financial distress

" caused by material reductions in government payments for services and dramatic increases in the cost of professional

liability insurance. As a result, we have limited our expansion efforts and used cash generated from operations to repay

.debt and build l|qu1d|ty

Durmg 2006, e completed a renovation (cost of approxrmately $1,582,000) to a facility which we lease from
NHIL. In addition, we completed a 30 bed addition to an existing long-term facility located in Farragut, Tennessee and
a 60 bed addition to an existing facrllty located in Mauldin, South Carolina. The approximate cost of these additions
was approximately $9,446,000. Two 60 bed additions to existing facilities costing approximately $7,604,000 located
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in Garden City, South Carolina and Columbia, South Carolina are scheduled to open during the first quarter of 2007.
Construction of a 60 bed addition to an existing facility located in North Augusta, South Carolina expected to cost
approximately $6,404,000 will begin in 2007. In March 2006, we purchased for approximately $5,400,000 a 200
bed long-term health care center located in Town and Country, Missouri. We had managed the center since 2001.
Also during 2007, we will apply for Certificates of Need for additional beds in our markets and will also evaluate the
feasibility of expansion into new markels by bunldmg health care centers that provide services excluswely to private
paying patients.

In 2007 we will continue to develop an active hospice program in selected areas through our pértner_ship with the
recently formed Caris Healthcare and are also exploring opportunities to expand our home health care services.

Areas of Focus

Proposed Merger Agreement Between National HealthCare Corporation and National Health Realty, Inc. On
December 20, 2006, National HealthCare Corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, NHC/OP, L.P. and Davis
Acquisition Sub LLC and National Health Realty, Inc., entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger
Agreement”). Pursuant to the Merger Agreement and subject to receipt of the required stockholder vote, National
Health Realty, Inc, will consolidate with its wholly-owned subs:dlary New NHR, Inc., as the result of which a new
Maryland corporation (the “Consolidated Company™) witl be formed. Subject to'the receipt of the required stockholder
vote, regulatory approval, and consummation of certain other transactions specified in the Merger Agreement, the
Consolidated Company will be merged with and into Davis Acquisition Sub LLC (the “Merger”) which will continue
as a wholly-owned subsidiary of NHC/OP, L.P. and shall succeed to and assume all the rights and obligations of the
Consolldated Company.

Pursuant to the merger agreement, each outstanding common share of NHR not owned by Davis Acquisition
Sub LLC, NHC/OP, L.P., or NHC, will be converted into the right to receive one share of NHC Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock, plus $9.00 in cash. Each share of the Preferred Stock will be entitled to cumulative annual preferred
dividends of $0.80 per share and will have a liquidation preference of $15.75 per share. The Preferred Stock will be
listed on the American Stock Exchange and will be convertible at any time at the option of the holder into 0.24204
shares of National HealthCare Corporation common stock, subject to adjustment. The transaction will require cash of
approximately $90,000,000. In addition to NHC’s operating cash, we may borrow from our captive insurance company
subject to regulatory requirements or sell marketable securmes

It is expected that both Nanonal HealthCare Corporation and National Health Realty, Inc. will hold special
meetings of each company’s shareholders at a future date to consider matters related to the Merger Agreement and that
a joint proxy statement/prospectus will be issued by the companies.

The board of directors of National HealthCare Corporation has approved the Merger Agreement and the Merger
and has determined that the Merger is in the best interest of National HealthCare Corporation shareholders. The board
believes that the combined company will provide the present shareholders-of NHC with a more focused and efficient
corporation whose interests are more closely aligned with those of its sharcholders. Furthermore, we believe that the
Merger 'will (i) provide NHC with a larger asset and equity base that is anticipated 10 enhance NHC’s future growth
and prospects for long-term increased in stockholder value, (ii) prbvide'NHC with greater operating flexibility to
renovate and expand its facilities; (iii) free NHC management from the burden of having to manage two publicly traded
companies, and allow NHC management to devote more time to the management of NHC’s core business operations;
(iv) negate the possibility that NHR could be acquired by a competitor of NHC; and (v) broaden NHC’s access to debt
financing sources. Following the merger, NHC will no longer be required to make lease payments to NHR. Assuming
the continuation of current operating trends, the elimination of such required lease payments will result in a substantial
increase in the annual recurring free cash flow of NHC, even after providing for the preferred-dividends which NHC
will be required to pay on the Preferred Stock. In addition, the merger will eliminate the financial uncertainty that
resulted from the periodic negotiation and renegotiation of the leasing terms of the properties that NHR leased to NHC.
Due to recent changes with respect to the taxation of corporate dividends, the merger is now feasible from a U.S. federal
tax perspective.. Because of a change in the U.S. federal tax law which reduced the tax rate applicable to dividends
paid to stockholders of C corporations such as NHC, the relative tax advantages of operating NHR’s business under the
REIT structure have been greatly reduced. ‘
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] Comf)letion' of the Merger is subject to Hart-Scott-Rodino anti-trust review and approval by shareholders of
National HealthCare Corporation of thé NHC proposal and shareholders of National Health Realty, Inc.fof the NHR
proposal. There can be no assurance that such approvals will be granted. :

NHI Lease Renewal — On December 27, 2005, we reached an agreement with National Health Investors, Inc. to
extend our lease of 41 properties through December 31, 2021, with three additional five-year renewal options, each at
fair market value. This lease extension assures our long-term use of these properties.

NHR Lease Renewal — Effective August 1, 2005, we reached an agreement with National Health) Realty, Inc.
(NHR) to extend our lease of 14 properties through December 31, 2017, with an additional renewal option for 10 years
at fair market value. This lease extension assures our long-term use of these properties.

Accrued Risk Reserves — Our accrued professional liability reserves, workers’ compensation reserves and heaith
insurance reserves totaled $76,471,000 at the end of 2006 and are a primary area of management focus. IWe have set
aside restricted cash to fully fund our professional liability and workers’ compensation reserves. As to the tragic fire
on September 25, 2003 at the Nashville skilled nursing subsidiary, we have settled all of 32 lawsuits filed against the
company, the last two cases being settled in November, 2006, .

As to the risks of fire, we have installed fire sprinklers in all of our owned and leased long-term care centers that
were not already so equipped. In addition, we have implemented a comprehensive fire safety training program at all
of our centers and reviewed and modified, if necessary, our priority safety procedures

As to exposure for professional liability claims, we have developed for our centers performance|certification
criteria to measure and bring focus to the patient care issues most likely. to produce professional liability exposure,
including in-house acquired pressure ulcers, significant weight loss and numbers of falls. These ;'vrograms for
certification, which we regularly modify and.improve, have produced measurable improvements in reducing these
incidents.. Our experience is that achieving goals in these patient care areas improves both patient and employee
satisfaction. Furthermote, we are continuing efforts to identify and restructure the ownership or management of our
hlgher risk operations and locations to eliminate NHC liability exposure.

As to workers’ compensation claims, we have implemented programs such as safety boards, safety awards, and
tracking systems for “days without a lost time accident” to bring focus to these risks at al} of our locations! As to health
insurance claims, we changed our health plan network provider to obtain better discounts in 2005 and we connnue to
evaluate our health plan design to identify opportunmes for improvements and cost savings.

Application of Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those ¢stimates and
cause our reported net income to vary significantly from period to perlod

Our critical accounting policies that are both important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results and
require our most difficult, subjective or complex judgments are as follows:

Revenue Recognition — Third Party Payors — Approximately 63% (2006), 61% (2005), and 64% (2094) of our net
revenues are derived from Medicare, Medicaid, and other government programs. Amounts earned under these programs
are subject to réview by the Medicare and Medicaid intermediaries. [n our opinion, adequate provision has been made
for any adjustments that may result from these reviews. Any differences between our estimates ofsettlements and
final determinations are reflected in operations in the year finalized. For the cost report years 1997 ind 1998, we
have submitted various requests for exceptions to Medicare routine cost limitations for reimbursement.| We received
preliminary intermediary approval on $14,186,000 of these requests in 2001 after settlement of outstanding litigation
styled Braeuning, et al vs. National HealthCare L.P., et al. We have, in addition, made provisions of approxlmately
$3,090,000 for other various Medicare and Medicaid issues for current and prior year cost reports. Consistent with
our revenue recognition policies, we will record revenues associated with the approved requests and thelother various
issues when the approvals, including the final cost report audits, are assured. The three-year review period expired in
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"2004; for approximately $22,310,000 of the routine cost Iimit exceptions. and this amount was recorded as revenue in
2004 even though we received no cash payments for this revenue in 2004 Adjustments ofa similar nature were not
smgmficam in 2005 or 2006. :

Revenue Recogm’n’on ~ Private Pay — For private pay patients in skilled nursing or assisted living facilities, we
bill room and board in advance for the current month with payment being due upon receipt of the statement in the
month the services are performed. Charges for anciilary, pharmacy, therapy and other services to private patients are

. b|lled in the month following the performance of servicés; however, all blllmgs are recogmzed as revenue when the
serwces are performed : .

_ Accrued Risk Reserves — We are principally seif-insured for risks related to employee health insurance, workers’
compensation and professional and general liability claims. Our accrued risk reserves primarily represent the accrual
for self-insured risks associated with employee health'insurance, workers compensation and professional and general
liability claims. The accrued risk reserves include a liability for reported claims and &stimates for incurred but

"._unreported claims. Our policy with respect to a significant portion of.our workers’ compensation and professional

and general liability claims is to use.an actuary 10 support the estimates recorded for incurred but unreported claims.
Our health insurance reserve is based on our known claims incurred and an estimate of incurred but unreported claims
determined by our analysis of historical claims paid. We reassess our accrued risk reserves on a quarterly basis. -

Professional liability remains an area of particular concern’tous. The entire long tert care industry has seen a
" dramatic increase in personal injury/wrongful death claims based on alleged negligence by nursing homes and their
employees in providing care to residents. As of December 31, 2006, we and/or our managed centers are defendants
in 64 such claims inclusive of years 1995 through 2006. .1t is also possible that future events could cause us to make
significant adjustments or revisions to these reserve estlmates and cause our reported net income to vary signift camly
from period to period. . :

We maintain insurance coverage for incidents occurring in all provider locations owned, leased or managed by
us. The coverages include both primary policies and umbrella po!ieies

“For 2002, we maintain pnmary coverage through our own insurance company with excess coverage provtded
by a third party insurance company. For 2003-2006, we maintain both primary and éxcess _coverage through our

own insurance subsidiary. 1n all years, settlements, if 4 any, in excess of available insurance pollcy limits and our own '

reserves would be expensed by us.

Revenue Recognition — Subordination of Fees and Uncertain Collections — We provide management services to
certain long-term care facilities and to others we provide accounting and financial services. We generally charge 6%
of net revenues for our management services and a predetermined fixed rate per bed for the accounting and financial
services. Our policy is to recognize revenues associated with both management services and accounting and financial
services on an accrual basis as the services are provided. However, under the terms of our management contracts,
payments for our management services are subject to subordination to other expenditures of the long-term care center
being managed Furthermore, there are certain.of the third parties with which 'we have contracted to provnde services
.and which we have determined, based on insufficient historical collections and the lack of expected future collections,
that collection is not reasonably assured and our policy is to recognize income only in the period in which the amounts
are realized. We may receive payment for the unpaid and unrecognized management fees in whole or in part in the
future only if cash flows from the operating and invest'mg activities of the centers are sufficient to pay the fees. There
can be no assurance that such future cash flows will occur. The realization of such prev1ously unrecognized revenue
could cause our reported net income to vary significantly from period to period.

Certain of out accounts recewable from prlvate paying patients and certain of our notes recelvable are subject to
credit losses. We have’ attempted o reserve for expected accounts receivable credit losses based on our past experience
with similar accounts receivable and belteve our reserves to'be adequate

We continually monitor and evaluate the carrying amount of our notes receivable in accordance with Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 114, “Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan - An Amendment of
FASB Statements No. 5 and ]5.” It is possible, however, that the accuracy of our estimation process could be materially
impacted as the composition of the receivables changes over time. We contmually review and refine our estimation
process to make it as reactive to these changes as poss1ble However, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to

- x
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accurately estimate credit losses on these balances. It is possible that future events could cause us to make significant

adjustments or revisions to these estimates and cause out reported net income to vary mgmﬁcantly fro
period.

Potential Recognition of Deﬁrred Income — During 1988, we sold the assets of eight l('mg—iérm

centers to National Health Corporation (“National™}, our administrative general partner at the time of th

resulting profit of $15,745,000 was deferred and will be amortized into income beginning with the collectio
receivable (up to $12,000,000) with the balance (83,745,000) of the profit being amortized into income o
line basis over the management contract period. $10,000,000 of the previously deferred income will be
as income at the time of and in proportion to the collection of the associated $10,000,000 note. Additio

m period to

health care
e sale. The
n of the note
n a straight-
recognized
nal deferred

income of $2,000,000 will be reported when the company no longer has an obligation to advance the
working capital loan. The collection of up to $12,000,000 of notes receivable would result in the immediate
of up to $12,000,000 of pretax net income. Curremly, the notes are due December 31, 2007

$2,000,000
recognition

4

Guarantees — We guarantee the debt of managed and other long-term health care centers ($5,155,000) and the .
debt of National and the ESOP ($5,897,000). We recorded a liability in the amount of 31,044,000 related to our
guarantee of $1,108,000 of debt of six long-term health care centers in Florida. We recorded this liability|based upon
our estimate of the value of the underlying collateral of the loans. "It is possible that future evénts could|cause us 0
make significant adjustments to our estimates and liability under these guarantees and cause our reported net income
to vary significantly from period to period. ' -

. Tax Contingencies — NHC continually evaluates for tax related contingencies. Contingencies may arise where
tax laws may allow for alternative interpretations or where the timing of recognition of income is subject to judgment.
We believe we have adequate provisions for tax contingencies and related penalties and interest. However, because
of uncertainty of interpretation by various tax authorities and the possibility that there are issues that have not been
recognized by management, we cannot guarantee we have accurately estimated our tax liabilities.

The above listing is not intended to be a comprehensive list of all of our accounting policies. in many cases, the
accounting treatment of a particular transaction is specifically dictated by generally accepted accounting pritllciples with -
limited need for management’s judgment in their application. There are also areas in which managememI s judgment
- in selectmg any available alternative would not produce a materially different result. See our audited consolldated
financial statements and notes thereto which contain accounting pollc1es and other dlsclosures required hy generally
accepted accountmg principles.

' Management Services and Our Subordinated Fee Structure

" We provide management services to long-term care centers under terms whereby the payments for our services
are subject 1o subordination to other expenditures of the long-term caré provider. Furthermore, thereare certain
third parties with whom we have contracted to provide management services and which we have determyined, based
on insufficient historical collections and the lack of expected future collections, that the service revenue realization
is uncertain. We recognize the expenses related to the provision of these services in the period in which they are
incurred. '

' We agree to subordinate our fees to the other expenses of a managed center because we believe we know how
to improve the quality, of patient services and finances of a long-term care center and because subordinating our fees
démonstrates to the owner.and employees of the managed center how confident we are of the impact we|can have in
making the center operations successful. We may continue to provide services to certain managed centers despite not
being fully paid currently so that we may be able to collect unpaid fees in the future from improved opcr.'ning results
and because the incremental savings from discontinuing services to a center may be small compared to the potential
benefit. Also, we may benefit from providing other ancﬂlary services to the managed center. We may receive payment
for the unrecognized management fees in whole or in part in the future only if cash flows from the operating and
investment activities of the centers are sufficnent to pay the fees. There can be no assurance that such future cash flows
will occur. -

tional, NHI
's owned by

See Notes 3, 4 and 5 to the Consolldated Financial Statements regardmg our relationships with Na
and centers previously, owned by NHI and the recogmtlon of management fees from long-term care cente
these parties. ‘

’
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Results of Operations

-+ The fo]]owin'g table and discussion sets forth items from the consolidated statements of income as a percentage
of net revenues for the audited years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,

Percentage of Net Revenues

Year Ended December 31, 2006 2005 2004
Revenues: - ) O _
Net patient revenues. . .............o..uun. 1 89.1% 879% . 89.0%
“Otherrevenues ............. e 10.9 12,1 11.0
: ‘Netrevenues. . ........ e i 10000 -.1000 1000 -
. Costs and Expenses: : -
: © Salaries, wages and benefits. .. .. ..., e 53.8 52.6 529
. Other operating.-. ........ e <280 27.7 28.7
Rent .......... e P 7.2 77 . 7.9
. 'erte-oﬂ“ (recovery) of notes recewable ..... R ) 2 — .
: Depreciation and amomzatlon. S - 2.5 29 . .26
- Interest ..... UL e - N 2
Total costs and expenses. . 904 . 914 923

Income before income taxes. . .. e . 96% 8.6% 7.7%

The following table sets forth the incredse in certain items from the consolldaled statements of income as
compared to the prior period.

Period to Period Increase (Decrease)

2006 vs. 2005 2005 vs. 2004
(dollars in thousands) ] . Amount Percent Amount Percent
Revenues: . ' . . .
Net patient revenues ......... P L. $25109 53% §$11,925 26%
Otherrevenues..................coooi.... {4,532) (6.9) 8,627 15.1
Netrevenues . .............. e 20,577 . 3.8 20,552~ 3.9
Costs and Expenses: : . '
Salanes wages and benefits .. .......... el 17374 T 6.1 9,374 34
‘Other operating ....... ., e o 7,504 5.0 598 4
"Rent ... Ll T (1,739 4.1 1,015° 25
Write-off (recovery) of notes receivable .-....... <(8,309) (330.9) 1,000  100.0
Depreciation and amortization ....... e (1 29]) 8.3) - 1,698 12.3
Interest ............ S “(551)y  36.0 232 179
Total costs and expenses ................. - 12,988 26 13,917 2.9
Income Before Income Taxes ................ $ 7,589 16.3% § 6,635 _16.6%

Qur long-term health care services, mcludmg therapy and pharmacy services, provided 91% of net patient
revenues in 2006, 2005, and 2004, Homecare programs provided 9.0%, 9.7% and 9.0% of net patient revenues in 2006,
" 2005, and 2004 respectlvely . '

The overa]] average census in owned, leased and managed health care centers for which we guarantee the debt for
2006 was 93.9% compared to 94.0% in 2005 and 93.9% in 2004 :

Approxnmately 63% (2006 and 2005), and 64% (2004) of our net’ revenues are derived from Medicare, Medlcmd
and other government programs. As discussed above inthe Application of Critical Accounting Policies section, amounts
earned under these programs are subject to review by the Medicare and Medicaid intermediaries. See Application of
Critical Accounting Policies for discussion of the effects that lhlS revenue concentratlon and the uncertamtles related
to such revenues have on our revenue recognition p011c1es '

r
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Government Program Financial Changes

Cost containment will continue-to be-a priority for Federal and State - governments for health care services,
including the types of services we provide. .

Medicare —

 Effective October 1, 2006, our PPS rates were increased by 6.2% due to inflation update (3.1%) and!Care Based
Statistical Area (CBSA) designations. . We estimate that the positive revenue effect of the Centers for Medicare and
Medicaid Services (CMS) final rule was $1,900,000 for the fourth quarter of 2006.

The implementation of the CMS final rule caused a redistribution of payments among prowders. This is
accomplrshed by refinements expanding the Resource Utilization Groups (RUGs) from 44 RUG groupc to 53 RUG
groups and by eliminating temporary rate add-ons. The elimination of temporary-add-ons has always been tied to
the long awaited RUG refinement. RUG. refinement increases the case mix weight that applies to both nursing and
non- ancillary therapy ancillary costs This is a permanent change in the PPS methodology.

The Deficit Reduction’ Act of 2005 (DRA) mandates the reductton of private pay only bad deltlnt payments
whtch payments are tncluded in patient revenues, to skilled nursmg facilities. The first year, FY 2006, reduction was
$25,000. -

The DRA furthermore mandates the home health payment rate for 2006 be frozen. HHAs serving rural
beneficiaries saw a one-year five percent add-on payment under the legtslatton The rural add-on paylmem totaled
approximately $1.2 million: for our home care operanons inFY, 2006 due to a significant number our homecares servmg
rural counties,

s,

For 2007, a market basket update of 3.3% is expected along with the elimination of the one-year ﬁve percent add-
on that was implemented in 2006.

Medicaid—
Tennessee annual Medicaid rate increases were tmplemented effective July 1, 2006 The increase inlrevenue was

* $609,000 per quarter.

Tennessee Medicaid' is 1mplement1ng an indirect allocation for certain significant.ancillary eategortes (e.g.
Physical, Occupational, and Speech Therapy) for the Level | (Intermediate) Medicaid plan which will prove detrtmental
The allocation will negatively impact the state-wide ceiling used to set per diem rates m addmon to reducrlng allowable
cost at our 24 owned and managed Tennessce nursing centers participating in Medicaid. The indirect allocation will
be partially tmplemented on 2006 cost reports and will affect Medicaid per diem rates beginning Ju]y 1, 2007, The full
allocation will be applied to the 2007 cost reports and negatively affect the three-year average inflation methodology in
. July 2008, The relmbursement effect of the 1mplementatton while negattve is s not determinable until Medlcatd rates
are computed by the Tennessee State Comptroller’s Office. :

South Carolina Medicaid’ annual per diem rate increases are expected to result in additional| revenues of

~ approximately $495,000 per quarter. -

12006 Compared to 2005

Results for 2006 compared to 2005 include a 5.3% increase in net révenues and a 0.6% increase i
before income taxes after exeludmg the cons:deratton of the effect of the recovery of a note receivabl
written off. :

te prevrously

Net patient revenues increased $25,109,000 or 5.3% compared to the same period last year due to government and
program and private pay rate increases and bed additions. :Medicaid rate changes that became. effective July 1, 2006
increased our revenues by approximately $1, 218,000. The acquisition of our 200 bed long-term care facrltty located in

-Town and Country, Missouri added approximately $7,123,000 to net patient revenue. '

Other revenues this vear decreased $4,532,000 or 6.9% to $61,253,000." Other revenues in 2006 include

n net income .

management’ and accounting service fees of $16,420,000 ($24,684, 000 in 20035) and’insurance service
$18,814,000 ($23,585,000 in 2005). The decrease in management and accounting service fees is due
recognition in 2005 of §8,416,000, of fees received in 2005 but which had been doubtful of collection i
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- During 2006, NHC provided management,, acceuming and financial services for 32 facilities as compared to 37
facilities during 2005. See Application of Critical Accounting Pohc1e Revenue Recognition - Subardination of Fees
and Uncertain Collections above.

The decrease in insurance service revenues is due to decreased premiums for professional liability insurance
and decreased premiums for workers’ compensation insurance from our wholly-owned insurance subsidiarics. The
premlums charged are based on factors considering actuarially determmed estimates of potential liability.

Total costs and expenses for 2006 increased $12,988,000 or 2. 6% to $508,679,000 from $495 691,000 in 2005.
Salaries, wages and benefits, the largest operating costs of this service company, lncreased $17,374,000 or 6.1% to0
$302,862,000 from $285,488,000. Other operating expenses increased $7,504,000 or 5. 0% to $157,664,000 for 2006
compared to $150,160,000 in 2005. Rent expense decréased $1,739,000 or 4.1% to $40,310,000 due to decreaséd rates.
Depreciation and amortization decreased 8.3%to $14,172,000. !Interest costs decreased 36.0% to $980,000.

"

Increases in salaries, wages and benefits are due in part to increased numbers of employees due to newly opened
. long-term care bed additions or facilities (approximately $4,334,000 of increase), to inflationary. wage increases and
to increased bonus and benefit programs. compared to 2005. The increases in bonus and benefit programs result -
both from inflationary increases as well as from-changes in the benefit prox,rams Recent]y passed minimum wage
increases will not have a material impact on salaries and wages.

Increases in other operating costs and expenses are due in part to the acquisition of a 200 bed long-term care center,
newly opened additions and from inflationary increases. Other operating costs and expenses include professional
liability insurance and workers’ compensation-insurance expense

Costs and expenses for 2006 mclude a $7,309,000 recovery of a note receivable l‘rom a health care center we
manage in Nashville, Tennessee which had been previously written off. The center was able to refinance its debt.
Expenses in 2005 include a loss of $1,000,000 for the write-off of a receivable. -This note receivable is due from a -
120-bed long-term health care center in Missouri that we manage. We contmue to'monitor closely our other notes
receivable from centers to which we provnde management or accounting services. The increase in other operating
expenses related to Town and Country amount to approximately $2,309,000. : ‘

The decrease in interest costs is partially due to recording capitalized interest of approximz{tely £370,000" for
construction projects financed internally in the period-ended December 31, 2006. The weighted average interest rate
for our debt increased to 8.0% in 2006 from 7.3% in 2005,

2005 Compared to 2004 -

Results for 2005 compared to 2004 include a 3.9% increase in net revenues and a i6. 6% increase'in net income L

before income taxes.

As indicated in the tables shown above, our patient revenues for 2005 1ncreased $11,925,000°0r 2.6% compared
to 2004. However, if you exclude the $22,310,000 of prior year Medicare and Medicaid adjustmems our 2005 patient
revenues increased approximately. $34,235,000. We estimate that the October 2004 Medicare rate increases for skilled
nursing centers and homecare programs increased our revenues by approx1mately $3,400,000 for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2005. Our Cool Springs health-care and assisted living center in Franklin, Tennessee opened
in May 2004 and a 30 long-term bed addition located in Murfreesboro, Tennessee opened in August 2004. These
additions, net of a decrease in revenues from beds closed elsewhere, added-approximately $12,936,000 to net patient
revenues. Finally, improved census mix and therapy and pharmacy billings to managed centers increased our twelve
months revenues approximately $13,300,000 compared to the period last year. Patient revenue increases in 2004
included the recognition of approximately 522,310,000 of prior period Medicare and Medicaid adjustments Pnor year
adjustments in 2005 were not significant. -

Otherrevenues this yearmcreased $8,627,0000r 15.1%to $65 785,000 Other revenues in 2005 include management
and accountmg service fees of $24,684,000 ($20,504,000 in 2004) and i insurance services revenue of $23,585,000
(819,685,000 in 2004). The increase in management and accounting service fees is due in part to the recognition in
2005 of $8,416,000, of fees received in 2005 but which had been doubtful of collection in prior years. During 2005,
- NHC provided management, accounting and financial services for 37 facilities as compared to 40 facilities during
2004. '

33




The increase in insurance service revenues is due to increased premiums for professional liability insurance
. from our wholly-owned insurance subsidiary. The premtums charged are based on factors considering actuarially
determined estimates of potential liability.

Total costs and expenses for 2005 increased $13,917,000 or 2.9%.to $495,691,000 from $481 774 00 in 2004
Salaries, wages and benefits, the largest operating costs of this service company, increased $9,374, 000 or 3.4% to
$285,488,000 from $276,114,000. Other. operatmg expenses’ increased $598,000 or .4% to $150,160, 000 for 2005
compared to $149,562,000.in 2004. Rent expense increased $1,015,000 or 2.5% to $42,049,000. Deprlematlon and
amortization mcreased 12.3% to. $15,463, OOO Interest costs mcreased 17.9% to §1,531,000.

ot

]ncreases in salarles wages and beneflts are due in part to mcreased numbers of employees due to newly opened
Iong-te_rm care bed additions or facilities (approximately $4,700,000 of increase), to inflationary wage increases and
to increased bonus and benefit programs-compared to 2004. The increases in bonus and benefit programs result both
from inflationary | increases-as well as, from changes'in the benefit programs :

" Increases in othier operating costs and expenses are due in part to increases in the costs ofhealth insurance and to
increased census at our 160 long-term care beds and 46 assisted ]wmg= -units which opened in May 2004 and 30 long-
term care beds which opened in August- 2004 Increases were offset in part due to decreases in professional habrllty
insurance and workers’ compensatlon insurance.

Expenses a[so‘included a loss of $1",OO0,000 for the write-down of a note receivable in March, 2003. This note
receivable is due"from a-120-bed- long-term health care center in Missouri that we manage. As a result|of increased
operating costs and the lack of increase in reimbursement rates, the cash flows of this center declined and the center has
not made'a principal payment on this nofe since. December 31, 2001. Based on an analysis consistent with the provnsrons of
Statement of Financial Accountmg Standards No 114, “Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan - an|Amendment

. of FASB Statements No. Sand 157, we concluded that a write-down of $1,000,060 was required. We continue to momtor .
‘closely our other notes recelvable from centers to which we provide management or accounting services. '

»

-+ Rentexpense increased pnmanly due to increases in percentage rent to NHR and NHI, The.i increase was offset
X in part due to terminated leases for an 80 bed long-term health care center and a 124- bed long-term health care center
“in. 2004 .

The increasein mterest costs is prlmarlly due to recordmg capitalized interest of approximately 9230 000 for
construétion pl'OJCCtS financed internally in the nine month period ended December 31, 2004 The welghted average

) interest rate for our debt increased to 7.3% i 2005 from 5.7% in 2004.

qumdtty, Capzral Resources and Fmancml Condition—

Sources and Uses of Funds* Our primary sources of cash include revenues from the healthcare and Isenior living
facilities 'we operate, insurance services, management services and accounting services. Our primary uses of cash

include salaries, wages and other operatmg costs of our home office and the facilities we operate, the cost of additions

~  toand acqutsmons of real property, rent expenses, debt service payments (including prmcnpal and mterest) hnid dividend
distributions. These sources and uses of cash are reflected in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and : Aré discussed
in further detall below The followmg isa summary of our sources and uses of Cash flows (dotlars in thousalnds)

" Year Ended QOue Year Change Year Ended © One Year Change -~ Two Year Change
. . ) . e 12/31/04  12/31/05 - % » Y% 12/31/06 $ : Yo £ Yo
Cash and Cash equivalents - .~ . = . - T : : ) o
at beginning of period . ... $43,899 § 40,601 § (3,298) (8% $ 60,870 § 20,269 - 50% - $ 16971 39%
| . Cash provided-from (used ) _ o ' .. : , :
-in) operating activities. ... 10,348 47,504 37,156 359% 35729 (11,775) (25% 25381 245%
Cash Srov.ided from'(us:ed : : C o ,1. B - )
in) investing activities ... (8,573) _(20,038)" (11,465)  (134)%  (42.273)  (22235) (111)%  (33700) = (393)%
- Cash provided from-(used ] ‘ L . : -
~ in) financing activities. . .. _(5,073) ~ (7,197) _ (2,124) -(42)% (3,648) 3,549 4%% 1,425 28%
-Cash and cash equivalents : o ’ -
-atend of period .~ .. Joo.i $40601 8 60.870  § 20.269 50% § 30,678  $(10,192) (7% $ 10077 25%
< 34




- Operating Activities — Net cash provided by’ operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2006, was
$35,729,000 as compared to $47,504,000 for 2005 and $10,348,000.in 2004. Cash provided by operating-activities for
the current year benefitted from increases in various accrued current liabilities including accrued risk reserves, amounts
due third party payors which are payables to Medicare and Medicaid intermediaries and accrued payroll, however, were
offset by increases in accounts receivable and restricted cash. Increases in restricted cash totaled $8,199,000 compared to
$l6, 335, 000 in the prior year. The increase in accounts receivable is due to increases in revenues and timing differences.

The increase in restricted cash is due primarily to the cash reserved for our accrued risk reserves, including professional
liability claims, workers’ compensation claims and health insurance claims, net of cash paid out for those claims.

. Amounts due to third party payors; which are payable to Medicare and Medicaid intermediaries decreased $22,705,000

-in 2004 due to the recognition of revenue related to the expiration of the review period for-routine limit cost exception requests

which were originally approved in 2001. The increase in other current liabilities and accrued risks reserves accounted for

$5,752,000 in 2006 and $11,705,000 in 2005 of the cash provided by operating activities. If the risks materialize as expected,
which may not be ﬁna]ly known for several years, they will require the use of our restricted cash.

Inve.srmg Activities ~ Cash used in investing activities totaled $42,273, 000 for the year ended December 31,
2006, as-compared to $20,038,000 used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2005 ahd $8,573,000
in 2004. Cash used for property and equipment additions was $37, 401,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 and
$18,408,000 in the comparable period in 2005. Investments in notes receivable totaled 35, 858 000 in 2006 compared
to $2,197,000.in 2005. ‘Cash provided by net collections of notes receivable was $1, 186 000 in 2006 compared 10 net
collections in notes receivable in 2005 of $163,000. Cash used in the purchase of marketable securities was $3,245,000
in 2006 compared to $1,168,000 in 2005. -

Construcuon costs included in additions to property and equipment mcludes 9, 716 000 to complete construction
of a 30 bed addition.to an existing long-term care facility located in Farragut, Tennessee and a 60 bed addition to an
existing long-term care facility located in Mauldin, South Carolina. An additional $635,000 is for the completion of
a kitchen renovation at an existing health care center located in Lewisburg, Tennessee. Approximately $7,410,000 is
for partial construction of two 60 bed additions to existing facilities located in Columbia, South Carolina and Murrells
Inlet, South Carolina.- Additions also include $5,400,000 for the acquisition of a 200 bed long-term health care center
located in Town and Country, Missouri. The remaining $12,833,000 of-additions to property and equipment were for
capital improvements.at.our 49 leased or owned centers. We expect to incur $9.775,000 in'bed additions during 2007.

Investments in notes receivable in 2004 includes our $7,376,000 investment in $15,000,000 (face value) of tax
exempt-bonds, related to a facility. for wh;ch we previously guaranteed the debt. :

~ Financing Activities — Net cash used in ﬁnancmg activities totaled $13,254,000 for the year ended December 3t,
2006 compared to $7,197,600 in 2005 and $5,073,000 in 2004. Payments on debt were $2 451,000 in 2006 compared
to $2,257,000 in 2005. Dividends paid to shareholders for the year were $8,109,000 compared to $6,721,000 in 2005,
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock, prtman]y from the exercise of stock options, total $5 670,000 compared
to $1,426,000 in the pnor penod

Table of Contractual Cash Obligations ‘
Our contractual cash obligations for periods subsequent to December 31, 2006 are as follows:

Les—s than

Total 1 Year 2-3 Years 4-§ years  After 5 years
{in thousands}

Long-term debt - principal ... ...... $ 12648 3 2267 $10381 § — % —
Long-term debt - interest .......... 962 957 5 — —
Guaranteeddebt ................. 1,044 — — — 1,044
"Obligation to complete

construction ................... 9,775 9,775 — — —
.Obligation to purchase '

senior secured notes.from o

financial institutions .. ... ........ 5,897 2,824 3,073 R —
Operating leases ................. 636,032 38403 76,806 _ BB.063 432,760
Total Contractual Cash : : _ '

Obligations .................. $666,358 §$54,226 $90,265 $88,063 $433,804
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The guaranteed debt of $1,044,000 represents our estimated ‘obligation under a loan guarantee to
health caie center. We have guaranteed debt obligations of certain other entities totaling approximately
These guarantees are not included in the table above because we do not anticipate materlal ob]:gatmns under these

a long-term
$11,052,000.

' guarantees is $11,052 0()0 which is the outstanding balance of‘ our guarantees. We have accrued ¢

commitments. - . -

NHC has entere_d into agreements to complete construction of leasehold improvements at three long-term health
care facilities. At December 31, 2006, we are obligated on construction contracts in the amount of approximately

$9,775,000. i

Our current cash on hand, marketable securities, short-term notes receivable, operating cash flows, and as needed,

our borrowing capacity are expected to be adequate to meet these contractual obligations and to finance
requirements, growth and development plans.

In order to fund the proposed merger of NHR, NHC may borrow from its capuve insurance comp
regulatory requirements or sell marketable securities as needed. ’

our operating

any subject to

We started paying quarterly dividends in the second quarter of 2004 and ant:c:pate the comlnuatlon of dividend

payments as approved quarterly by the Board of Dlrectors

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements and Debt Guarantees

In addition to our pnmary debt obligations, which are mcluded in our eonsohdated ﬁnancnal statements, we have
guaranteed the debt obligations of certain-other entities. Those guarantees; which'are not included as del)t obligations
in our consolidated financial statements, total $11,052,000 at December 31, 2006 and include $35,155, 000 of debt of

managed and other long-term health care centers and $5,897,000 of debt of Nanonal and the ESOP.

The $5,155,000 of guarantees of debt of managed -and other long-term health care centers rel:ttes to debt
obligations of seven long=term health care centers to which we provide management or accounting services, We have
agreed to guarantee-these obligations in order to obtain management or accounting services agréements. For this

fee is in addition to our management or accounting services fee. All of this guaranteed indebtedness
first morigages, pledges of personal property, accounts receivable, marketable securities and, in certain
personal guarantees of the owners of the facilities. :

" The 85,297,000 of guarantees of debt of National and the ESOP relates to senior secured notes hel

) . . Lo | .
".service, we charge an annual guarantee fee of 0.5% to 2.0% of the outstanding principal balance guaranteed, which

is secured by
nstances, the

d by financial

institutions. The total outstanding balance of National and the ESOP’s obligations under these senior sen::ured notes is
$8,010,000. Ofthis obligation, $2,113,000 has been included in our debt obligations because we are a direct'obligor on
this indebtedness. The remaining $5,897,000, which is not included in our debt obligations because we are not a direct
obligor, is due from NHI to National and the ESOP. Addltlonally, under the amended terms (dated March 31, 2005) of

these note agreements, the right of the lending institutions to require NHC to purchase the notes at par
guaranty and contingency purchase agreement has been removed.

value under a

The $2,133,000 of senior secured notes payable and the $5,897,000 guarantee described'above ha‘veI cross-default

provisions with other debt of National and the ESOP. We currently believe that National and the ESOP are
with the terms of their debt agreements.

in compliance

As of December 31, 2006, our maximum potential loss related to the aforementioned debt guarantees and financial

$1,044,000 for potential losses as a result of our guarantees.

We have no outstanding letters of credit. We may or may not in the future elect to use financ

instruments to hedge interest rate exposure in the future. At December 31, 2006, we did not participa
financial investments.

New Accounting Pronouncements—

See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the impact of new accounting standards.
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Impzl}_'toflnﬂqtian— S . S

“Inflation has remained relatively low during the past three .years. However, rates paid under the Medicare and
Medicaid programé do not necessarily reflect all inflationiary changes and are subject to cuts unrelated to inflationary
costs. Therefore, there can be no assurance that future rate increases will be sufficient to offset future inflation
"increases in our labor and other health care service costs.

-Recéntly passed minimum wage increases are not expected to have a material impact on salaries and wages. -
]TEM TA. ,QUANT[TAT]VF: AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

'INTEREST RATE RISK

+ Ourcashand cash equivalents consist ofhlghly liguid investments with a maturity of less than three months Asa
result of the short-term nature of our cash instruments, a hypothetical 10% change in interest rates would have minimal
impact on our futgre earnings and cash flows related to these instruments.

Approx1mately $19.1 million of our notes recewable bear interest at fixed interest rates. As the interest rates
on these.notes receivable are fixed, a hypothetical 10% change in interest rates would have no lmpacl on our future

.

earnings and cash flows related to these mstruments E L T A TP I

*

2%). Because the interest rates of these instruments are variable, a hypothetical 10% change in interest rates would
result in a related increase or decrease in interest income of approximately $70,000. :

As of December 31, 2006, $]0 0 mllhon of our long-term debt and debt serviced by other parties bear mterest at
fixed interest rates. Because the interest rates of these instruments are fixed, a hypothetical 10% change in interest
rates .would *have no impact on our future earnings and cash flows related to these instruments. The -remaining
$2.6 million of our long-terin debt bear interest at variable rates. Because the interest rates of these instruments are
variable, a hypothetical 10% change in interest rates would result ina related increase or decrease in interest expense
‘of approximately $15,000.

We do not currently use any derivative instruments to hedge our iriterest rate exposure. We have not used

derivative instruments for trading purposes and the use of such instruments in the future would be subject to strict
approvals.by our senior officers.

EQUITY PRICE RISK

We consider.the majorlty of our investments in marketable securities as available for sale securities and unrealized
gains and losses are recorded in stockholders’ equity in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 115, “Accounting for Cértain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities”. The investments in marketable securities
are re_corded at their fair market value based on quoted market prices. Thus, there is exposure to equity price risk,
which-is the potential change in fair valu¢ due to a change in quoted market prices. Hypothetically, a 10% increase in
quoted market prices would result in a related 10% increase in the fair value of our investments in marketable securities
of $7,260,000 and a 10% reduction in quoted market prices would result in a related 10% decrease in the fair value of
our investments in marketable securities of approximately $7,260,000.

1
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Approximately $7.5 million of our notes receivable bear interest at variable rates (generally at the prime rate plus
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s ' “ ‘ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA. i S
:—‘ [ . I REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM C g
0 - Board of Drrectors and- Stockholders Tt -1'; _ L : ﬁ' “;'f Lo - )
: : National HealthCare Corporatron o T ) ‘
g Murfreesboro Tennessee ~ - - L '“'.l-:- S I

Lo We have audrted the accompanyrng consolrdated balance sheets of Natrona! HealthCare Corporatron and
Subsrdrarles as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 and. the related consohdated statements of income, stockholders’ equity.
‘and cash flows for eaeh of the three years in the’ perrod ended December 3, 2006. These financial staterrllents are the
responsrbrlrty of the Company s management Our responsrbrlrty isto express an oprmon ofi these f1nanc1a'l statements
based on our audrts R A : - -

We conducted our audlts in accordance wrth the standards of the Publlc Company Accountmg Over srght Board

(Umted States) “Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtam reasonable assulrance about™ -

' ‘whether the f" nancial statements are free of mater1al mrsstatement "An andit 1ncludes examrnmg, on a:test basrs
."evidence’ supportlng the amounts and drsclosures in.the financial staterments; assessing t the accountmg prrnc1ples used
and significant estrmates made by management as well as evaluatmg the overall fmancral statement presentanon We
belreve that our audrts provrde a reasonable bas1s for. our opmron T . - TR ‘e S

o= ln our oprmon the consolrdated f" nancral statements referred to above present farrly, in:all materral respects
the ﬁnancral position of National HealthCare Corporatron -and Subsrdranes at December 31, 2006.and 2005 .and the
results of therr operations and their, cash flows for each of the three yéars in ‘the period ended December 3_1_ 2006, in
conformrty wrth accountlng prlncrples genera]ly accepted in the Umted Siates. of: Amerrca oo

[
%

As drscussed in Note, Irto the consolidatéd ﬁnanc1al statements effective January 1, 2006 thé Company adopted
Staternent of Fmancral Accountmg Standards No 123 {Revised 2004) Share-Based Paymem R '

';, R We also have audrted,,m accordance wrth the standards of the Publrc Company Accountmg Oversrght Board. .
(Umted States) the effectiveness’of the Company s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006,

- based -on criteria- éstablished. in Internal Control- Integrated Fraimework issued by the Committee of Sponsorrng

' Organlzatrons of the Treadway Commission (COSO) and our report dated March 16, 2007 expressed an unqualrﬁed '
oprnron thereon . :'. T ) - - ) : T - L

re

Nashvrlle Tennessee L : 'j-r,' 7 . : T .
March16 2007 o : T R R

“»




NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Income
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
_ Year Ended December 31 2006 2005 004
Revenues: - g
Netpatient revenues. . ... .......ooivnnnnnnaen ... $ 501,705 $ 476,596 § 464,671
Otherrevenues. ...t 61,253 65,785 - 57,158
NetreVenUeS . .. .ottt e ie e 562,958 542 381 . . 521,829
Costs and Expenses: . A .
- Salaries, wages and benefits. .. .................... .. 302,862 . - 285488 +.276,114
Other OPEIatiNg. . .. ..\ttt e e e e ee e , 157,664 150,160 149,562
- Write-off (recovery) of notes receivable ........... ... . {7,309) = 1,000 — .
RENL .o 40,310 .. 42,049 41,034
> 7+ Depreciation and amortization. . .. ... .... RS 14,172 15,463 13,765
- Interest . .x .. L. SO L e 980- L1531 - 1,299
o ‘ Total costs and expenses. .. ... 0. .. ... . .. ... L 508,679 + 495691 - 481,774 -
- * Income Before Income Taxes .......... TR 54,279 46,690 T 40,055
Income Tax Provision ........ I I . 17,539 : 18,055 ' 16,083 .
NELINCOME. . 2. . e e $ 36740 $ 28635 § 23972
Earnings Per Share: o ) '
. Basic........ e 3 299 % 234§ 2.05
e T Diluted .. ..o R ... § 285 $ 224§ 1.95
' Weighted Average Shares Outstanding )
) Basic............ .. 12,294,730 12,240,423 11,674,901
. i Diluted ........ ... .. 12,886,171 12,789,994 12,281,131

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated statements.
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The accbmpanyihg notes to-consolidated ﬁ'naneial statements are an integral part of these consolidated
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NATIONAL: HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
’ Consohdated Balance Sheets RN
- (in- thousands except share and per share amounts)
- B December 31 ' d Yo 206& 2005
" AsSets T ' )
Cufrent Assets: I .
: - Cashand cash equivalents .. ... :..o.......c.iiiiiiiiin.n, e $ 50,678 | S 60,870
- Resnjcted cash . e - 95970 | . 87771
~ * Marketable securities ... ... ............ e ) 70,799 - 51,556
= Restricted marketable SECUIITIES . .70 o v e o e e e e e e e g 1,799 :2,104
-. Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful : S .o
- accounts of $4,873 and $6 101, respectively .............. e o 63,712 51,260
Notes recelvable T e : 1_89:' . 189
Inventorles e . .. e e e o 6,377 5,623
Prepald expenses and other BSSEES . ...l P . 1,087, 1,206
_ Total currént assets.. . . . . e e e ey 290,611 .| 260,579
: ‘Property and Equ1pment. e e P I TP
- Property and equipment, at COSE. ... ... ... 256,767 225928
.- ‘Accumulated depreciation and amortization .. .......... . ... ... (130:564) |+ (118,794)
‘Net property and €qQUIPMENt . . . .. ..o\ vt ’ 126,203 - | 107,134
Other Assets:
Bond reserve funds, mortgage replacement reserves .
“and other deposifs . . .. ... ... 101 57
Goodwill,net.. . .............. T e e e e P 3,033 3,033
* Unamortized financing costs,net.......... ... ...l e e 32 ... 14
. Notes receivable............,... 10,099 10,786 -
_ Notes receivable from Nauonal ........................................ . 16,351 | . 10,992
Deferred income taxes ........... S 18,892 © 16,690
]nvestments in, limited liability compames andother................... . 6,155 1,280 °
Total other assets. .......... [P L T [ 54,663 - 42,912
L TOMAL @SSRS . ...t PRI co $471477 $410625
istatements.




N ‘ N NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION '
- * Consolidated Balance Sheets
( fn‘rhousand.g,‘ except share and per.share amounts) ‘
i v el December 31 S 2006 _ 2005
Llabllltles and Stockholders Eqmty ) : oo I =
_Current Liabilities: =" ¢- ) e A v
“Current portion oflong -term debt. R S S R R e . § 2267 $2,461
"'Tradeaccountspayable ........ R 1,823 10431 -
- Accrued payroll. .. .. O U e .. 43740 T 41929 . o
. Amounts due tothird party payors B S i e ' 11,780. . 4,815
_'Accrued nsk PESEIVES. .. ...\ .. SR L e 76,471 70,290 '
. Deferred-income taxes. .............. s PE U 10,032 3,855
"« Other cufrent Habilities ... ......... e O, " 10,168 ~ 11,295 . -
" Dividénds payable’ .« ... ... P R S coo o T2248 - 21837
S 'Accruedmterest...__‘ ..... PR R SR R - - 19 ' 278 .
P Total current. llablhtles ..... PR L e e b 168,548 147,191 -
: Long Tenn Debt, less Current Portion .. .. ... . SRR . LT 10,381 T 013,568 S
“ Other Noncurrent Liabilities . .. ... ... R 11,586 14003 0 ¢ L
L "Deferred Lease Credit. . . .o vvve e, e, e Co 6,058 ¢ 6,154 -
Deferred ReVENUE .. ...... ..ot e e i . L. 2576277 25465 |
. Minority Interests in Consolidated Subsidiaries .. ......... e SO — 1,185 ’
: ‘.Commnments Contmgencncs and Guarantees o ‘. : : .
5‘ - Stockho]ders Equity: _
Preferred stock, $. 0l par value; 10, 000 000 sharcs . . .
" . authorlzed none issued or outstandmg ................ P .ot — —_
L Common stock $.01 par value; 30 000,000 sl{ares
" . adthorizéd; 12,519,671 and 12,275,693 shares, - S
o B respectlvely,lssued and outstanding. . ....0 ..., ..., I e o125 123
. Capital in excess ofpar value ...l . TR ARE S 93,751 | °84.431 )
" Retained eammgs T S, e U LT 129681 101,461
Unrealized gams on marketable securltles ............. Ce e e 25,585 - 17,044 ¢ . ¢ .
~ . Total stockho]ders qUILY ..t e P o 249,142 203,059 i
Total habllmes and stockholders’ equ1ty. A e $471.,477 $410,625
The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated statements
~ 4] ‘




NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION

Consblidated_Statements of Cash Flows

" (in thousands) .

Year Ended December 31

2004

,Cash Flows From Operating Actlvities:

Netincome .............0.... F

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities: .

Depreciation. . . .. e
Write-off of notes receivable .. ... .. i '
Provision for doubtful accounts receivable
Realized gain on sale of marketable securities
Amontization of intangibles and deferred charges
Amontization of deferred income
. Increase in restricted cash
* Equity in eamnings of unconsolidated investments
Tax benefit from ekercisg of stock options !
Deferred income taxes . .
“Stock cér-rlpensation

Tax refund receivable

lnventories

Prepaid expenses and other assets
Trade accounts payable
Accrued payfoll
Amounts due to third party payors
Accrued interest
Other current liabilities and accrued risk reserves
Entrance fee deposits
Qther noncurrent liabilities

‘Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:

Additions to and acquisitions of property and equipment
Disposals of prop;arty and eqﬁipment
Investments in notes receivable
" Collections of notes receivable
Purchase of marketable securities
Sale of marketable securities
Distributions from unconsolidated investments

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash Flows From Financing Activities: ’ .

Payments on debl . ... .ottt e e e
Increase (decrease) in minority interests in consolidated subsidiaries
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options
Dividends paid to shareholders
Issuance of commeon shares
Collections of receivables from exercise of options

(Increase) decrease in bond reserve funds, mortgage -

replacement reserves and other deposits

Net cash used in financing activities

Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Period
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End-of Period

Tl s

" (12,479)

2006 2005

— . I,O()q .

27 ¢ 2,641
{rasn " :‘;%

2. - m.
(1,459) (1.313) .
{%,199) (16,335).

4300)r. . (220)

RN ¢ N
. (1,720) | L. @31

¢

- $36740 | - $.28635. 823972

13,615
391
2,175
18
(1,297)
(9,947)
(342)

.. (6359)
(1,161) -

237 J
e M . Rix

" (8,026)°
— 6311

' (7,687)

(754) (364) (218)
@n - an 412)
1,392 (9%) L7
CL8I 9,086 1,945
6,965 {704y (22,705)
(259) ° <208 —
5054 . 1912 20,093
.730 . 868 975
(2417) . . 7% {3,925)
35,729 47,504 10,348
(37,401) (18,408) (25,527)
2795 1‘,417; T 2,786
(5.858) 2197) (7.972)
118 163 21905
(50,137) (3,592) (525)
46,892 - 2424 307
250 155 453
{42,273) (20,038) (8,573)
(2.451) (2,257) (3.817)
(57 31 62
1,343 _{ —
(8,109) (6,721) (4,379)
5,670 1,426 3,017
— _'| 16
(44) 44 28
(3,648) (7,197 (5,073)
(10,192) 20,269 (3,298)
60,870 40,601 43,899
$50,678 § 60,870 - § 40,601




NA’i‘IbNAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Consohdated Statements of Cash Flows

f" ) (Commued) - _
R . Year Ended December 31 : R 2006 ) . 2005 2004
- (in thousands) ) . ‘ ‘ T '
* .Supplemental Information: S e , ~
_ Cash payments for interest .................... e fosoeee. TST1,2390 81,322 78 1,299
Cash payments for i income taxes. . . el S ... $22,894 - 510,643  $18,019
. During 2005, NHC was released from its llablllty on debt service by i : v ' )
" other parties by the respective lenders - , T ,
_ Debt serviced by other parties ........... . e .. —  $(1,500) —
Deferred lease credit. . ......... -..':...‘.: ...... J— 1,500 —
' Durmg 2006, NHC was released from its llablllty on debt related o, :
* ‘debt service rent payable to NHI - S o
Long “termdebt................. e T PR w8 (930). —
Deferred lease credit, .‘: ................... e L s 930 “‘ “” = R

Durmg 2006, NHC obtained an additional 25.9% mterest ina =~ |
- partnership in a noncash transaction.Financial statements of the partnershlp
are consolidated in our consohdated financial statements, T L
- Minornity interest. . .. .. e $ 1407 - —
Property ....... ...l P (L,407) wo—

The accompanying notes 1o consolidated financial statements are an integral part-of these consolidated statements.
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- R T "'NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION L
e Tt , - . .Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Equlty .
N g . cl L - -?. . " {in thousands excep: share amounts) ELE ' -
B ’ . ! 7 o o Unrealized. |
‘ ‘ ) . Receivables~ Capital in " Gains (Losses) ) Toml
LooE - Common Stock- fromSale  Excess of. Retained on Marketable - Shareholders ’
A T, S L “Shares . Amount ofShafes® Par Value ‘Earnings Securities " ‘Equity ~
-Balance at December 31, 2003..:-.:.*..‘.;'...“ - 11,662,805 - 8116, - '.',' ${l6) ;. - -§73,429° $ 61,791 - "$15,707. - SISI 027
T Net income- P - o BIM . = 2 972
- Un:cahzed gains on securities . * ' - .
_ i * (netoftax of $2,573)...... Ll T S N e — - 3,854 1854
T Lo - " Total comprehensive income. ..., ’ N ¢ . - T 27,826
;™ Tax berefit from exercise of stock options . . - =T st 763597 T N — - 6.359
, Collections of receivables . ... T - L= s — 16 — = — 16
: “Shares sold - stock parchase plans ¢ ! L L T . r -
: e Gincludinig 475, 500 options exercised). . . . 556,646 -, 6 — . 3011 — - Lo
Dmdcnds dcclmd oy common sharcholders L ST - o ) _L_- o,
{8.50 pershare) ... 0 o — = =™ — (5897 - = s
Balancc at December 31, 2004 Ceeeas B 12,219,451 §122 $=. $82,799 $.79.866 "+ 519,561 T U$1R2,348
s Netincome. ... ... 00 .ovuiens FOSNTO - L= L= — 28,635 R .= ~ 28,635
. Unreal lzed Iosses On securities T d ) .
i (net oftax 0f$| 675). SRR —_— — - — —_ (2.5]7l) - TSI
v : .t Total comprehensive mco{ne e . n -'.: * « T26,118
t Tax benefit from éxercise of stock options.. . - T = — L 207 — — 207
e : Shan:s s0ld - stock purchase plans ~ ‘ . X -
(1nc|udmg 13,774 options exercised).’. 56,2427 1 —_ o 1,425 — —_ 1,426
- Dwuiends dec]ared o cummcn shareholders - - T " ¥ ) - :
o (8575 per'share) . 2. 1. L0 = = = =T ) P " (7,040)
i Balance at Dcccmber 3,2005........ 0 ... 412,275,693 §123 | §— $84,431 §101461 $17,044 '$203,059
: . b{e: income. ... e L = - — — 3740 . - 36,740
RS . - Unrealized gains on securitics... ... e oo ’ o
n Ty (metofuxof $5,694). 5. ... - - — R — 8,541 8,541
Total comprehenswc mcome. e L ) B 45,281
. ' Stock opnon compensauon e .' ..... — — — , 2,309 — - . 2.309
R Tax benefit from exemse of stock opnons —_— . — —_ 1,343 — — 1,343
: " Shares sold - stock purchase plans
, . (in¢luding 239,174 options exercised). . 243,978 2 - 5,668 — — 5670
R - ‘Dividends declared to common sharcholders - . - i
o (.69 pershare) ... el T e — = — (8,520) — © (85200
' Balance at Decqnber 31,2006, ...... DR L. 12519671 - S_____: ) $93,751 $129.681 - © §25,585 $249.142
M -
. !
I - ‘ w
* - - < >
- s - ~ - -
P 3
i The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated statements
- - © - e v e
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- .

INOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SlGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POL]CIES

Presentatlon——

The consolldated ﬁnanmal statements include the accounts of Natlonal HealthCare Carporation and its subsidiaries

~ (*NHC” or.the’ “Company”) All material-intercompany balances, profits, and transactions have been eliminated in

consolidation, and minority interests are reflected. in consolidation. Investments in entities in which we lack control
but have the ability-t0 exercise significant. influénce over operating and financial policies are accounted for on the
equrty method. Investments in entities in which we lack the ability to exercise significant influence are 1ncluded inthe,
consolidated fi nancral statements at the’ lower of the cost or fair value of « our investment.

+

Generaﬂy, we operate manage or prov1de services to long-term health care centers and associated assisted living
cénters, retirement centers and home health care programs located 1 in Southeastern, Midwestern and Western states in
the United States. The long-term health care environment has continually undergone changes with regdrd to Federal
and state retmbursement programs and other payor sources, compliancé regulations, competition among other health

.care- provrders and patient care litigation i 1ssues We continually monitor these mdustry developments as well as other
factors that affect our busmess

Use of Estimate_s—, ' i

. The preparation of ﬁnandial statemedts in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires managemerit to ‘make estimates and assumiptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contmgent assets and liabilities at the daté of the financial statements and the reéported
amounts of r revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Net Patient Revenues-—

Gross patient revenues are recorded on an accrual basis based on services rendered at amounts equal to our
established rates. Approximately 72% of our net patient revenues-in 2006, 2005 and 2004 .are from participation in

* Medicare and Medicaid programs. - . :

-

Our patient revenue_s are derived primarily from-skilled, intermediate and rehabilitative nursing services offered

in long-term health care centers or in a patient’s home. In some locations, we offer associated retirement center

services and/or assisted living center services. Our goal is to offer a continuum of care, with patients passing from a
retirement center or home care to assisted living or long—term nursing center care as their needs change,

We receive payments from the Medicare program under ‘a prospective payment system (“PPS”). Under this
PPS, for long-term care services, Medicare pays a fixed fee per Medicare patient per day, based on the acuity- level

-of the patient, to cover all post: hosp1tal extended care'routine service costs, anc111ary costs and capital related costs.

Amounts received from Medlcald programs are generally based on flxed rates subject to program cost ceilings.

For homecare seryices, Medlcare pays. based on the acuity level of the patient and based on episodes of care. An
episode of care is defir ned as a length-of care up to 60 days with multiple continuous eplsodes allowed. The services
covered by the episode payment include all dlsCIplmes of care, in addition to medical supplies, within the scope of the
home health benefit. We are allowed to, make a request for antlelpatecl payment at the start.of care equal to 60% of
the expected payment for the initial eprsode The remaining balance due is paid followmg the submlssmn of the final
claim at the end of the episode. Revenues are recognlzed when services are provided based on thé number of days of
service rendered in the episode. Deferred revenue is recorded for payments received for which the related services
have not yet been provided. ‘ -

Allowances for eontraetual .adjustments are, recorded for ‘the differences between’ our established rates and
amounts paid by the Medicare and Medicaid programs and other thlrd party payors. Contractual adjustments are
deducted: from gross patlent revenues to determlne net pattent Tevenues.

All amounts earned under the Medlcare Medlcatd and other governmental programs are subject to review by
the payors.- In the opinion of management, adequate provision and reserves have been made for any adjustments
that may result from such reviews, including reviews related to the transition of | payments to the PPS amounts. Any
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'net favorable settlements from Medtcare and Medrcard A ) H

: dtfferences between estimated settlements and final determinations are reflected in operations in the year finalized.

NHC recorded $3,090,000 of net unfavorable settlements in 2006, and $169, 000 in 2005, and $24 225 00() in 2004 of

W]th respect to our long-term health care centers, for the cost report years 1997 and 1998 {which were subject to.
a retrospective reimbursement methodology), we submitted various requests for exceptions to Médicare Iroutme cost’
limitations for rermbursement During 2001, we received preliminary approval on substantially ail of our'exception

' "requests which approvals total’ approximately $14,186,000. We have in addition made provisions of approximately

$12.,761,000 for various Medicare and Medicaid issues for currérit and prior years. We recognize revenues associated

- with the approved excepllon requests and | provisions when the approvals are assured and the results of. final cost report

audlts are known. These approvals and audit results are subject to further audit'and review by the fiscal intermediaries
for a three-year perrod As such, the approved requests and cost report'provisions have been included in amounts due
to third party payaors, which aré payables to Medicare and Medicaid intermediaries, in the consolidated balance sheets.
The three-year review perrod expired in 2004 for approximately $22,820,000 of foutine cosi timit- excleptlons and
provisions: Therefore, these exceptrons and provisions have been climinated from the amounts due to third party payors

“and have been recorded as revenues in 2004. The amounts recorded durrng 2006 and 2005 were not srgmfrcant

OtherRevenues——'j , » e - S .

As discussed in Note 5, other revenues include revenues from the provrsron of insurance, management and
accounting services to other long-term care providers, guarantee fees, advisory fees from National. Health Realty,
Inc. (“NHR"}, dividends and other realized gains on marketable securities, equtty n earnmgs ‘of unconsolidated
mvestments [interest income, rental income, Jloss on disposal of assets and other income. Our insurance revenues

.are generally patd in advance and then amortized into income as earned over the Telated pollcy period. | We charge

for management and accounting services based on a percentage of net revenues or based on a fixed fee per bed of

. the long-term care center under contract, Advisory fees are based on our contractual agreements ‘with NHR and,

through October 31, 2004, National Health Investors, Inc. and are discussed in Notes 2 and 3. We genelrally record

- other revenues on the accrual basis based on the terms of our contractual arrangements. However with- respect to

management and accounting services revenue and intefest income from certain long-term care providers, including
but not limited to National Health Corporation (*National™) and NHI, as discussed in Note 5, where collection is not
réasonably assured based on insufficient historical Collections and the lack of expected future collectron.l,, our policy
is to recogmze income only in the pertod in which collectron is assured and the amounts at’ questron “are believed by
management to be f"rxed and determmed -

‘Certain management contracts, 1ncludmg contracts with National and NHI subordmate the |payment of
management fees earned-under those contracts to other expenditures of the long-term care center and to the availability
of cash provided by the facility’s operations. Revenues from management servrces provided to the facrlrtles that
;,enerate insufficient cash flow 1o pay the management fee, as prrorrtrzed under the contractual arrangernent, are not
recogmzed until such time as the amount of revenue earned is fixed or determlnable and collectrblhty is reasonab!y
assured. This recognition policy has caused our reported revenies and net income from management servrces to vary
srgmﬂcantly from period to perrod

We use the equrty method of accountmg for our investments in and earnings or losses of affiliates that we donot
control but over which we exert significant mfluence We consider whether the fair values of any of ouf equity method

* investments have declmed below their carrymg value whenever adverse events of changes in circumstances indicate

that recorded values. may not be recoverable. If we consrdered any such dechne to bé other'than temporary,'a write=
down wou]d be recorded to estimate fair value. '

r

Provision for Doubtful Accounts—'

The Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts is estimated, usmg current agings of accounts receivable,

: [
historical collections data and other factors. -Management rev1ews these factors and ‘determines* the estlmated

provision for doubtful accounts Historical bad debts have generally ‘resulted from uncollectrble pl’lV:IIte balances,
some uncollectible coinsurance and deductibles and other factors. Recervables that are deemed to be uncollectible are
written off. The allowance for doubtful accounts balance is assessed on a quarterly basis, with changes|in estimated
losses being recorded in the consolrdaled statements of operatrons in the period identified. -« - S
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The Company includes provisions for doubtful accounts in operating expenses in its consolidated statements of
operations. The provisions for doubtful accounts were S27 000, $2 641,000, and $2,175,000 for 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respechvely

4 »

Property and Equipment—

We use the straight-line method of deprecnatlon overthe expected useful lives of property and equipment estimated
as follows: buildings and improvements, 20-40 years and equipment and furniture, 3-15 years. The provision for
depreciation includes the amortization of properties under capital leases.

Leasehold improvements attached to properties owned by NHI and NHR are depreciated over periods that do not
exceed the non-cancelable respective lease terms using the straight-line. method. ..

Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged against income as incurred. Betterments are capitalized.
We remove the costs and related allowances from the accounts for propertics sold or retired, and any resulting gains or
losses are included in income. We include interest costs incurred during construction periods in the cost of buildings
($370,000 in 2006, $31, 000 in 2005, and $240,000 in 2004). '

In accordance with Staternent of Financial Accountmg Standards No 144, “Accountmg for the Impalrment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144”), we evaluate the recoverabthty of the carrying vatues of our propéities
on a property by property basis. We review our. properties for recoverability when events or circumstances, including
significant physical changes in the property, significant adverse changes in general economic conditions, and significant
deteriorations of the underlying cash flows of the property, indicate that the carrying amount of the property may not
be recoverable. The need to recognize an impairment is based on estimated future undiscounted cash flows from a
property compared to the carrying value of that property. If recognition of : an 1mpalrment is necessary, it is measured
as the amount by. which the carrying amount of the property exceeds the estimated fair value of the property.

Mortgage and Other Notes Receivable—

In accordance wnh Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 1i4, “Accoummg by Creditors for
Impairment of a Loan - An Amendment of FASB Statements No. 5 and 157 (“SFAS 114”), NHC evaluates the carrying
values of its mortgage and other notes feceivable on an instrument by instrument basis. On a quarterly basis, NHC
reviews its notes receivable for recoverability when events or circumstances, including the non-receipt of contractual
principal and interest payments, significant deteriorations of the financial condition of the borrower and significant
adverse changes in general economic conditions, indicate that the carrying amount of the note receivable may not
be recoverable. If necessary, an impairment is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the
discounted cash flows expected to be received under the note receivable or, if foreclosure is probable, the fair value of
the collateral securing the note receivable,

Investments in Marketable Securities—

Our investments in marketable securities include available for sale securities, which are recorded at fair value.
Unrealized gains and losses on available for sale securities are recorded in stockholders’ equity in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity
Securities” (“SFAS 1157).

Goodwill—

.

The Company accounts for goodwill under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142; “Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”). Under the provisions of the statement, goodwill and intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives are not amortized but are subject to impairment tests based on their estimated fair value.
Unamortized goodwﬂl is ¢ontinually reviewed for, impairment in accordance with the prowsnons of SFAS, 142,

Other Assets—

~ Deferred financing costs are amortized principally by the effective interest method over the terms of the related
debt obligations, :
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Income Taxes— - I T S

We utilize Statement of Fmanmal Accountmg Standards No. 109, “Accountmg for Income Taxes”, which requires
an asset and liability approach for financial accountmg and reporting for income taxes. Under this methlod deferred
tax assets and liabilitics are determined based upon differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets
and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to.
reverse. See Note 11 for further discussion of our accounting for income taxes.

Concentration of Credit Risks—

‘ Our credit risks primarily relate to cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash held by trustees, accounts receivable,
marketable securities and notes receivable. Cash and cash equivalents are primarily held inbank accounts al:ld overnight
investments. Restricted cash is primarily invested in commercial paper and certificates of deposit with financial
institutions and other interest bearing accounts. Accounts receivable consist prlman!y of amounts.due f1om patients
(funded approximately 87% through Medicaré, Medicaid, and other contractual programs- and approxnmate]y 13%
through private payors) and from other health care companies for managetent, accounting and other services. We
perform continual credit evaluations of our clients"and maintain allowances for doubtful accounts on these accounts
receivable. Marketable securities are held primarily in accounts with brokerage institutions. Notes. receivable relate
" primarily to secured loans with health care facilities (recorded as notes receivable in the consolidated balance sheets)
as'discussed in Note 9. We also have notes receivable from National and the National Health Corporatroln Leveraged
Employee Stock Ownership Plan (“ESOP™) as discussed in Note 4

) Our financial instruments, prmc:pally our notes _receivable, are subject to the possibility of loss of the carrymg
values as a result of éither the failure of other parties to  perform accordmg to their contractual obligations or changes in
market prices which may make the instruments léss valuable. We obtain various collateral and other protective rights,
_and continually monitor these rights in order to reduce such possibilities of loss. .We evaluate the'need to provide
reserves for potential losses on our financial instruments based on management’s periodic review of the|portfolio on
an instrument by instrument basis. See Notes 4 and 9 for additional information on the notes receivable. |

Cash and Cash Equivalents—

_Cash equivalents include hlghly llqmd mvestments w1th an ongmal maturlty of less than three months when
. purchased ’

' Restrncted Cash— .

- Restricted cash prlmarrly represents cash that is held by trustees and cash that is held for the purpose of our
. workers’ compensation insurance and professmnal liability insurance. oo, : -

Inventories--

Inventories consist generally of food and supplies and are valued at the lower of cost or market, with cost
determmed on a first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis. -

Other Current Liabilities—

Other current liabilities prlmarlly represent accruals for current federal and state mcome taxes, real|estate taxes,
debt service rent and other current liabilities.

Accrued Risk Reserves—

We are prmc1pally self-insured for risks, related to employee health insurance, workers’ compt;nsatlon and -
professional and general liability claims. Accrued risk reserves primarily represent the accrual for self-insured risks
associated with employee health insurance, workers’ compensation and professional and general liability claims. The
accrued risk reserves include a liability for reported claims and estimates for incurred but unreported Iclaims Our
po]1cy with respect to a significant portion of our workers’ compensation and professional and general liability claims
is to use an actuary to support the estimates recorded for incurred but unreported claims. Our health insurance reserve
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- is based on our known claims incurred and an estimate of incurred but unreported claims determined by our analysis
of historical claims pa:d We reassess our accrued risk reserves on a quarterly basis, with changes in estimated losses
belng recorded in the consolidated statements of i income 1n the period identified.

Stock Based Cnmpensatlon—

4Effectwe January 1, 2006, we adopted Statement of Financial Accountmg Standards No 123 (revised 2004),
“Share-Based ‘Payment” (“SFAS 123(R)"), using the modified prospective application transition method. Under this
method, compensation cost is recognized, beginning January 1, 2006, based on the requirements of SFAS 123(R) for all
share-based payments granted after the effective date, and based on Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.

123, “Accounting for Stock:Based Compensation (“SFAS 123"), for all awards granted to employees prior to January
1, 2006 that remain unvested on ‘the effective date. Prior to January 1, 2006, we applied Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 257) and related interpretations in accounting for
our employee stock benefit plans “We adopted the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS 123 and accordingly, prlor to
Janvary 1,2006, no compensation cost was recogmzed for stock options granted under the plans because the exercise
prices for optlons granted were equal to the quoted market prices on the option grant dates and all option grants were
to employees or directors. Results for prior periods have not been restated for the adoptton of SFAS 123(R). See Note
l2 for additional disclosures about our stock option plan. ' :

For periods, prior to adoption of SFAS 123(R), SFAS 123 requlred us to determme pro forma net income and
earnings per share as if compensation cost for our employee stock option and stock purchase plans had been détermined
based upon fair values at the grant date, Thése pro forma amounts for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004
are as follows:

2005 2004

{dollars in thousands,
except per share amounis)

Net income - asreported..‘.........................: ........................... $ 28635 § 23,972
Less compensation cost that would be recognized under fairvaluemethed . .............. (1,234) (550).
Net income -proforma................;...... e e R $ 27401 § 23422
Net earmngs per share - as reported ‘ o ‘

BASIC. . U P $ 234 $ 205

Diluted . ........... e SUDDIRR SEPRI $ 224 $ 195
Net earnings per share - pro forma ' L R ‘

Basic.........coiiiiiiiiii e S e $ 224 § 201

Diluted ............ T e e $ 214 3 191

Deferred Lease Credit— , -t B

' Deferred lease credits include amounts bemg amortlzed to properly reflect expenses on a straight line basis under
the terms of our ex15tmg lease agreements.

Other Noncurrent Liabilities—

Other noncurrent llabtlmes melude reserves related to various mcome tax and other contingencies.

+.With respect to guarantee obl1gatlons in place prior to January 1, 2003, we account for our obligations under
guarantee agreements in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Accounting Standards No. 5, “Accounting
for Contingencies” (“SFAS'5"). For guarantee obligations assumed subsequent to January 1, 2003, consistent with the

- provisions oflnterpretanon No. 45, “Guarantor’s Aceountmg and Dlsclosure Requirements for Guarantees, lncludmg

Indirect Guarantees of lndebtedness of Others” (“FIN 457}, at the | inception of a guarantee agreement, we recognize a

liability for the estimated fair valué of the obligation assumed.

-We account for our contingent liabilities for income tax matters in accordance with the provisions of SFAS
5. Contingent tabilities for income tax matters include amounts for income taxes, applicable penalties, and interest
thereon and are the result of the potential a]ternatlve mterpretattons of tax laws and the judgmental nature of the timing
of recognition of taxable income. -
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Deferred Revenue— - - PR

Deferred revenue includes the deferred gain on the sale of assefs to National (as discussed in Notz 4), certain
amounts related to episodic payments recewed by our home health care providers in advance of providing services (as

discussed in Note 1) and entrance fees that have been and are currently being received upon reseryation an

d occupancy

of rettrement center units for a contlnulng care retirement communlty we own, In accordance with thle "American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants’ Audit and Accountmg Guide, “Health Care Organizations,” the entrance fees
have been recorded as deferred revenue. The refundable portion (90%) of the entrance fees is being recognrzed over

the life of the facility while the non- refundable portion (10%) is being recogmzed over the remaining life expectancnes

of the resrdents

Comprehensive Income—

*
o

_ Statement of Financial Accountmg Standards No. 130 “Reporting Comprehensnve Income™ rtl,quires' that
changes in the amounts ‘of certain 1tems including gains and losses on certain securities, be shown in the c'onsolidated
financial statements as comprehensrve income. We report our comprehenswe income in the consolidated staterrien'ts

.

of stockholders equity.

Segment Dlsclosures—

_,' RSN ‘

-1

Statement of Flnanmal Accountlng Standards No. ]31 “Dtsclosures About Segments ofan Enlerprlse and Related
Informauon” estabhshes standards for the way that public busmess enterpnses report information abo bt operating
segments in annual and interim financial reports issued to stockholders. Management believes that substantiaily all of
our operations are part of the long-term health care industry segment. Our operations outside of the long:term health'
care industry segment are not matefial. See Note 5 for a detail of other revenues provided within the long-term health
care industry segment. information about the costs and expenses assocnated with each of the compondnts ‘of other

revenues is not separately identifiable.

. New Accountmg Pronouncements— ‘ ’ :

In May 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board “FASB” issued FASB Statement No. 154‘

Accounting

for Changes and Error Corrections. This new standard replaces APB Opinion No. 20, Accoummg Ohanges ‘and
FASB Statement No. 3, Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements. Statement 134 requ;res thata
voluntary change in accounting principle be applied retrospectively with all prior period fi nancial statements presented

on the new accounting prmcrple unless it is impracticable to do so. Statement 154 also provides that

1) a’change

in method of depreciating or amortizing-a long-lived nonfinancial asset be accounted for as a change|in estimate
(prospectively) that was effected by a change in accounting principle, and (2) correction of errors in prewpus]y issued
financial statements should be termed a “restatement”. We have adopted the new standard effective for accounting

changes and correction of errors made in fiscal years beginning January.l, 2006. Adoption of this pronou
not had a sngmt" cant impact on the Company s consoltdated ﬁnanc1al statements.

ncement has

1n February 2006, the FASB issued FAS No.. 155, “Accountmg for Certain Hybrid Fmanmal lnstruments - an
amendment to FASB Statements No. 133 and 144" (FAS 155). FAS 155 simplifies the accounting for certain hybrid
financial instruments containing embedded derivatives. FAS 155 allows fair value measurement for: any hybrid
financial instrument that contains an embedded derivative that otherwise would requrre bifurcation under FAS 133..

In addition, it amends FAS 140 to eliminate the prohibition on a’qualifying special-purpose entity fro

m holding a

derivative financial instrument that pertains to a beneficial interest other than another derivative financiallinstrument.
The Company will adopt the provisions of FAS 155 beginning in fiscal 2007. The implementation of FAS 155.is not

expected to have a ‘material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.” - .

In March 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 156, “Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assets - an amendment of
FASB Statement No. 140 This Statement aniends FASB Statement No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers atlld Servicing
of Financial Assets ‘and Extinguishments of Liabilities,” with respect to the accounting for separatelyi recogmzed

servicing assets and serwcmg liabilities. This Statement clarifies when servicing rights should be separate

Iy accounted

for, requires companies to account for separately recognized servicing rights initially at fair value, and grve!s companies
the option of subsequently accounting for those servicing rights at either fair value or under the amoruzatlron method.

SFAS 156 is effective for fiscal years beginning after September 15, 2006. The implementation of FA
expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated-financial statements.
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In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48™), “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes
- An Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109.” FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute
for how a company should recognize, measure, present, and disclose in its financial statements uncertain tax positions
* that the company has taken or expects to take on a tax return. FIN 48 will require that the financial statements reflect
expected future tax consequences of such positions presuming the taxing authorities” full knowledge of the position
and all relevant facts, but without conSIdermg time values. FIN 48 is effective for annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2006. We are currently evaluating the 1mpacl of adoptmg FIN 48 on our financial statements. Upon
adoption, the cumulative effect of applying the provision of FIN 48 will be reported as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained earnings for 2007. The cumulative effect of adopting the provisions of FIN 48 is expected increase
the opening balance of retained earnings in 2007,

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements”. This Statement defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosure about fair value measurements. The
new FASB rule does not supersede all applications of fair.value in other pronouncements, but creates a fair value
hierarchy and prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques for use in most pronouncements. It requires companies to
assess the significance of an input to the fair value measurement in its entirety. Statement 157 also requires companies
to disclose information to enable users of financial statements to assess the inputs used to develop the fair value
measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal periods beginning after November 15, 2007, The 1mplementat10n of
. FAS 157 is not expected to have material impact on the Company s consolldated ﬁnancnal statements.

[n September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No 158 “Employers’ Accountmg for Defined Benefit Pension
and Other Postretirement Plans - An amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R)". This Statement
enhances disclosure regarding the funded status of an employers’ defined benefit postretirement plan by (a) requiring
companies to include the funding status in comprehensive income and (b) recognize transactions and events that
-affect the funded status in the financial statements in the year in which they occur (c) at the measurement date of the
employer’s fiscal year-end. SFAS [58 is effective in two phases for publicly traded employers: 1) recognition of the
fundéd status and relate disclosures, for the fi scal year ending after December 15, 2006; 2) measurement of plan assets
and benefit obligations as of the date of the employer s fiscal year-end for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2008.
The Company has no defined benefit plans. The implementation of phase ! of FAS 158 has not had a material impact
on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Implementation of phase 2 is not expected to have a material
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities - Including an amendment of FASB.Statement No. 115™. This Statement amends FASB Statement No.
115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities”, with respect to accounting for a transfer to
the trading category for all entities with available-for-sale and trading securities electing the fair value option. This
statement allows companies to elect fair value accounting for many financial instruments and other items that curréntly
are not required to be accounted as such, allows different applications for electing the option for a single item or
groups of items, and requires disclosures to facilitate comparisons of similar assets and liabilities that are accounted
for differently in relation to the fair value option. SFAS 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November
15, 2007. The implementation of FAS 159 is not expected to have a material lmpact on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

NOTE 2 - RELATIONSHIP WITH NATIONAL HEALTH REALTY, INC.

Proposed Merger Agreement Between NHC and NHR—

See Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information about a proposed merger agreement
between NHC and NHR.

[n 1997, we formed NHR as a wholly-owned subsidiary. We then transferred to NHR certain healthcare facilities
then owned by NHC and distributed the shares of NHR to NHC’s shareholders. The distribution had the effect of
separating NHC and NHR into two independent public companies. As a result of the distribution, all of the outstanding
shares of NHR were distributed to the then NHC investors. NHR is listed on the American Stock Exchange.
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Leases—

Effective August 1, 2005, we elected to exercise our option to extend the term of our leases of properties from
National Health Realty, In¢, (“NHR™) for two additional five year terms until December 31, 2017. The leases are for
the real estate of ten long-term care centers, three assisted living centers and one retirement center. Tile currently
running initial term of the leases expires on December 31, 2007. The leases were further amended to grant s an option
to renew the leases at fair market value for a second extended term of ten years until December 31, 2027, assuming no
defaults. We account for the leases as operating leases.

Under the terms of the master lease, we continue to guarantee to NHR the lease payments of six Florida long-
term care facilities and three assisted living centers, as discussed below. This requirement is unchanged from our
original lease as amended.

The lease payments for the extended ten-year term of the leases that begin on January 1, 2008 are the same
lease payments that were required in the initial term of the lease, including an annual inflator for percentage rent as
described below. The lease payments for the second extended ten-year term that begins on January 1,2018 |frenew_ed,
will be at fair market value as determined at the time of the lease renewal.

During the remaining initial term and the extended renewal term, we are obllgaled to pay NHR annual base rent
on all 23 of the facilities of $15,960,000. In addition 1o base rent in each year after 1999, we are obhg';aled to pay
percentage rent to NHR equal to 3% of the amount by which gross revenues of each NHR leased health care facility i in
such later year exceed the gross revenues of such health care facility in the base year of 1999. Percentage rent for 2006,
2005, and 2004, was approximately $1,972,000, $1,363,000, and $1,295,000, respectively. Each lease with NHR is a
“triple net lease” under which we are responsible for paying all taxes, utilities, insurance premium costs, repairs and
other charges relating to the operation of the f'ac:Iht]es We are obligated at our expense to maintain adequate insurance
on the facilities’ assets.

On October 1, 2000, we terminated our 1nd|v1dual leases on nine Florida long term care fac1lmes However, we
‘remain obligated under our master lease agreement to make the lease payments to NHR on thé nine Florida long term
care facilities. Also effective October 1, 2000, the facilities were leased by NHR under a five year term to nme separate
limited liability corporations, none of which we own or control. The leases have currently been extendled through
December 31, 2010. Lease payments to NHR from the new lessees offset our lease obligations pursuant to the master
operating lease. Since October 1, 2000, the nine separate limited liability corporations have made all requ1red lease
payments to NHR, and we have not been required to make any lease payments with respect to those nine|properties.

We have a right of first refusal with NHR to purchase any of the properties transferred from us should NHR
receive an offer from an unrelated party during the term of the lease or up to 180 days after termination of the related
lease.

At December 31, 2006, the approximate future minimum base rent commitmenis to be paid byjus on non-
cancelable operating leases are as follows:

Total Commitments Total Commitments

Including Flerida Excluding Flerida
. Facilities Facilities
2007 ...l $ 15,960,000 § 9,455,000
2008 ......... PR 15,960,000 9,455,000
2009 ... ..., 15,960,000 9,455,000
2000L .. .. 0o, 15,960,000 9,455,000
2000 ... 15,960,000 - 15,960,000
Thereafter............. 95,760,000 © 95,760,000

The leases have also been amended to provide that if we pay for the construction of a bed addition, then the
existing annual rent for that center will be increased by .75% of the cost paid by us for the construction of the addition.
Revenues produced within the addition shall be exciuded from any percentage rent calculation. At suchI time as we
are no longer a tenant by virtue of lease terminations then NHR shall purchase the additional beds paid for by us but
un-reimbursed by NHR for the lesser of {1} the appraised value of the addition or (2) the construction cost incurred
by us plus 50% of any appraised value increase over cost. In addition, we agree at NHR’s request to finince NHR’s
purchase of the addition with a floating rate interest only note at the prime rate of interest for a period of up to two
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years. We have previously submitted a listing of six NHR owned properties expeeted to be expanded by us f‘or which -

the construction cost is expected to total approximately $30,586,000. Of this amount, $20,811,000 of additions have
been placed in service as of December 31, 2006. - -
) Advnsory Agreement— '

We have entered into an Advisory Agreement with NHR whereby services related to investment activities and
day-to-day management and operations are provided to NHR by NHC as Advisor. The Advisor is subject to the
supervision of and policies established by NHR’s Board of Directors. The Advisory Agreement expired December 31,
2003 and thereafter is renewed automatically from year to year unless earlief terminated. Either party may terminate
the Advisory Agreement at any time on 90 days written-notice. The Advisory Agreement may be terminated for cause
~at any time.

- On August 1, 2005, concurrent with the lease extensions described above, the Adv1sory Agreement was amended
to pr0v1de that begmnmg for the year 2005 for our services under thé Adv1sory Agreement, we are entitled to annual
compensation equal to the greater of (l) 2.5% of NHR’s gross consolidated revenues or (2) $500 000 It was also
clarified that NHR (and not NHC) is to bear all of its own corporate costs.

Prlor to the August 1, 2005 amendment the Adv1sory Agreement had prowded that for our servxces under
the Adwsory Agreement, we were entltled to annual compensatlon of the greater of 3% of out gross consolidated
revenues or the actual expenses incurred by us. During 2006, 2005, and 2004, advisory feés earned under the Advtsory
-Agreement was $524,000, $5(}8 000, and $411,000, respeetlvely

lnvestment in NHR Common Stock—

At-December 31, 2006, we own 345 200 shares (or 3.5%) of NHR’s outstanding common stock. «We account for

our investment in NHR common stock as available for sale marketable securities in accordance with the provisions of
SFAS 115.

~ . NOTE 3 - RELAT]ONSHIP WITH NAT[ONAL HEALTH INVESTORS, INC.

In 1991 we formed NHI as a wholly-owned subsidiary. -We then transferred to NHI certain healthcare facilities
owned by NHC and distributed the shares of NHIto NHC’s shareholders. The distribution had the effect of separating
NHC and NHI into two independent public companies. . As a result of the distribution, all of the outstanding shares of
NHI were distributed to the then NHC investors. NHI is listed on the New York Stock Exchange.

Leases—

On December 27, 2005, under an agreement to the master lease, we exercised our option to extend the existing
master lease on 41 properties for the second renewal term. The 41 properties include four Florida properties that are
. leased to and operated by others, but for which we continue to guarantee the lease payments to NHI under the master

lease. The 15-year lease extension begins January 1, 2007, and includes three additional five-year renéwal options,
each at fair market value.* Under the terms.of the lease, base rent for 2007 will total $33,700,000 with rent thereafter
" escalating by 4% of the increase in facility revenue over a 2007 base year. The lease was scheduled to expire on
December 31, 2006 unless extended by us. The terms of the existing lease remain in place for 2006, as discussed
- below."

On October 17, 1991, concurrent with our conveyance of real property to NHI, we leased from NHI the rea[
- property of 40 long—term health care centers and three retirement centers. Each lease is for an initial term originally
~ expiring December 31, 2001, with two additional five-year renewal terms at our option, assuming no defaults. During
2000, we exercised our option to extend the lease term for the first five-year renewal term under the same terms and
conditions as the initial térm. We account for the leases as operatmg leases. :

During the initial term and first renewal term “of the leases, we were obllgated to pay NHI annual base rent on all
43 f'ac1]1t1es of $19,355,000 as adjusted for new eonstructlon since inception.

The leases also obligate us to pay as debt service rent all payments of interest and principal due under each
mortgage to which the conveyance of the facilities was subject. The payments are required over the remaining life of
the mortgages as of the conveyance date, but only during the term of the lease. Payments for debt service rent are being
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treated by us as payments of principal and interest if we remain obligated on the debt-(*obligated debt se
and as operating expense payments if we have been relieved of the debt obligation by the lender (“non-ot
service rent”). See “Accountmg Treatment of the Transfer” for further discussion.

rvice rent”)
1[1gated debt

1al to 3% of
n of revenue
$4,829,000,

In addition to base rent and debt service rent, we were required to pay percentage rent to NHI eqt
the increase in the gross revenues of each facility. The percentage rent is based on a quarterly calculatio
increases and is payable on a quarterly basis. Percentage rent for 2006, 2005, and 2004 was approximately,
$4,525,000, and $4,124, 000, respectlvely

Each lease_ with NHI is a “triple net lease” under which we are responsible for paying all taxes, utilitiels, insurance
premium costs, repairs and other charges relating to the ownership of the facilities. We’are obligated at our expense to
maintain adequate insurance on the facilities’ assets,

We have aright of first refusal with NHI to purchase any of the properties transferred from us should \INHI receive
an offer from an unrelated party during the term of the lease or up to 180 days after termination of the related lease.

As the result of a fire in a building leased from NHI by one of our limited liability company subsidiaries, the lease
was terminated during the third quarter of 2004 A provision of the lease allowed that if substantial damzltge occurred
during the lease term, we _could terminate the lease with respect to the damaged property. Under the lease, NHC will
have no obhganon t0 Tepair the property_and NHI will receive the entire insurance proceeds, related to, the bulldmg
damage. We are obligated o continué to indemnify and hold harmless NHI from any and all demands ‘In'lsmg from
our use of the property. NHI retains the right to license the beds under the lease termmanon

On April 1, 2004, we terminated, with NHI’s approval, our individual lease on an 80 bed long -term health care
center located in Dawson Springs, Kentucky.

On October 1, 2000, we terminated our individual leases with NHI on four Florida long-term health cire facilities.
However, we remain obhgated to NHI under our master lease agreement and continue to remain obllgalted to make
the lease payments to NHI. Subsequently, the facilities were immediately leased by NHI for a five year erm to four

. separate corporations, none of which we own or control, Lease payments received by NHI from the new lc_ssees offset
our lease obligations pursuant to the master operating lease. These leases have currently been extended through .
December 31, 2010. Through December 31 2006, all such lease payments have been received-by NHI and offset
against our obligations. .

Base rent expense to NHI was $19,355,000 in 2006, 2005 and 2004. Non-obligated debt service

was $8,014,000 in 2006, $8,191,000 in 2005, and $7,974,000 in 2004. At December 31, 2006, the approxi

minimum base rent and non-obligated debt service rent to be paid by us on non-cancelable operating leas

rent to NHI
imate future

es with NHI
during the initial term are as follows: :

Total Commitments
Excluding Florida

Total Commitments
Including Florida

Facilities Facilities .
- 2007 oo $ 33,700,000 $ 28,948,000 =
2008 ... 33,700,000 28,948,000
2009 ... 33,700,000 28,948,000
2000, ..o 33,700,000 28,948,000
v/ 33,700,000 33,700,000
Thereafter............. 337,000,000 337,000,000

Advnsory Agreement—

Until November 1, 2004, we had an Advisory Agreement w1th NHI whereby we provided to NHI ser v1ees related
to investment activities and day-to-day management and operations. During 2006, 2005 and 2004, our fees under the
NHI Advisory Agreement was $-0-, $-0-, and $2, 383 000, respectively.

Effective November 1,2004, NHC’s Advisory Agreement with NHI was terminated. On that date, Management
Advisory Source, LLC (“Advisors™), a new unrelated company formed by Mr. W. Andrew Adams, undertook to provide
advisory services to NHI. Mr. Adams served as NHI’s President and Board Chairman and as NHC’s Chief Executive
Officer and Board Chalrman prior to November 1, 2004. Effecnve November 1, 2004 and to enhance lrlldependenee )
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from NHC, Mr. Adams resigned as NHC’s Chief Executive Officer and terminated his managerial fesponéibilities
with NHC. Mr. Adams remains on the NHC Board as Chairman, focusing on strategic planning,_rbut will have no
management involvement with NHC.

Effective November 1, 2004, NHC, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Tennessee Management Advisory
Source, LLC (“THA”) entered into an agreement to provide financial, accounting, data processing and administrative
services to Advisors. Under the agreement, THA provided to Advisors and, at the request of Advisors, to NHI, services
related to accounting, data processing, administration and evaluation of investments. THA’s role under the agreement
was that of advisor and service provider, and THA in no way assumed responsibility for accounting, administrative, or
investment decisions which are to be made by Advisors or NHI.

On March 13, 2006, we announced an agreement with National Health Investors, Inc. (NHI) to"end the use of
NHC’s senior officers as advisors to NHI, effective on or about December 31, 2006. NHC’s Board believes it to be in
- the best interest of NHC 1o accentuate its independence from NHI, its largest landlord. :

" Effective December 31, 2006, NHC’s agreement to provide services to Advisors was terminated.

For our services under the agreement, we were entitled to compensation of $1,250,000 per year, payable monthly
and annually inflated by 5%. We received compensation of approxlmately $1,313,000, $1,250,000 and $-0- in 2006,
2005 and 2004 respectlvely No such compensation is expected to be’ recewed in 2007,

Management Services—

NHI operated certain long-term health care centers on which it had foreclosed, had accepted deeds in lieu of
foreclosure or otherwise had obtained possession of the related assets. NHI engaged us to manage these foreclosure
properties from 2000 through 2004, See Notes | and 5 for additional information on.management fees recognized
from these NHI owned properties. During 2004 or prior, NHI sold or closed all of these properties and NHC now
manages for others the properties that continue to operate.

Accounting Treatment of the Transfer—

We have accounted for the conveyance in 1991 of assets (and related debt) to NHI and the subsequent leasing of
the real estate assets as a “financing/leasing” arrangement. Since we were obligated on certain of the transferred debt,
the obligated debt balances were reflected on the consolidated balance sheets as debt serviced by other parties. As
of December 31, 2006, we were not obligated on any debt serviced by other parties. As we utilize the applicable real
estate over the lease term, our consolidated statements of income will reflect the continued interest expenses on the
obligated debt balances and the additional base and non-obligated debt service rents (as an operating expense) payable
to NHI each year. We have indemnification provisions in our agreements with NHI if we are required to service the
debt through a default by NHI.

Release from Debt Serviced by Other Parties—

Since 1991, we have been released from our obligation on a significant portion of transferred debt (930,000
in 2006). Since we are no longer obligated on this transferred debt, debt serviced by other parties and assets under
arrangement with other parties were reduced by the amount of the debt serviced by other parties from which we were
removed, The resulting deferred lease credit is being amortized into income over the remaining lease term. The leases
with NHI provide that we shall continue to make non-obligated debt service rent payments equal to the debt service
including principal and interest on the obligated debt from which we have been released. At December 31, 2005 no debt
serviced by other parties remained and as of December 31, 2006, NHC is no longer obligated to make non-obligated
debt service rent payments.

Investment in NHI Common Stock—

At December 31, 2006, we own 1,405,642 shares (or 5.1%) of NHI’s outstanding common stock. We account for
our investment in NHI common stock as available for sale marketable securities in accordance with the provisions of
SFAS 115. '
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NOTE 4 - RELATIONSHIP WITH NATIONAL HEALTH-CORPORATION

National, which is Wholly—owned by the National Health Corporation Leveraged Employee Stock Ownership
Plan (“ESOP”), was formed in 1986 and served as our administrative general partner through December 31! 1997, when
we operated as a master limited partnershlp As discussed below, the personnel conducting our busmecs including
our executive management team, are employees of National and have ownershlp interests in National through thelr
partrcnpatlon in the ESOP

Sale of Long-Term Health Care Centers to and Notes Receivable from National--

During 1988, we sold thé assets {inventory, property and equipment) of eight long-term health care centers (1,121
licensed beds) to:National for a total consideration of-$40,000,000. The consideration consisted of $30, 000 000 in cash
and a $1(,000,000 note receivable dué December 31, 2007. The note receivable earns interest at 8.5%. We lhave agreed
to manage the centers under a 20-year management contract for management fees comparable to those in the industry.
With our prior consent, National sold one center to an unrelated third party in 1997 and two centers to an unrelated
third party in 1999. Thus, we now manage five centers for National. See Notes 1 and 5 for additional information on
‘management fees recognized‘from National. . - o

Our carrymg amount in the assets sold in 1988 to Natlonal was approx1mately $24,255; 000. The resuliin'g'i)rd'fif
of $15, 745, 000 was deferred and will be amomzed into income begmnmg with the collection of the noté receivable (up
to $12,000, 000) with the balance ($3,745,000) of the profit being amortized into income on a straight-line basis over
the management contract perlod

In conjuncnon with our management contract, we have entered into a line of credit arrangement whelebf,' we may
have amouts due to or due from National from time to time. The maximum available borrowings | under the line of
credit are $2,000,000, the interest rate on the line of credit is prime plus one percent anid the final maturlty is January
1,2008. National owes NHC $6,351,000 at December 31, 2006 and we owed National $1,181,000 at December 31,2004
under this arrangement These amounts have been included in (or netted against) notes receivable from [National on
the consolidated balance sheets. After January 1, 2008, we will no longer be obligated to make loans under the line of
credit arrangement. We may, however, make short-term loans in the regular course of business. '

ESOP Financing Activities—

During 1988, we obtamed "from National long-term financing of $8,500,000 for the construction of our
headquarters building. National obtained its financing through the ESOP. The note requires quarterly plnnmpal and
interest payments with interest at 9% and is secured by the headquarters bulldmg At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the
outstanding balance on the note was approximately $519,000 and $1,038,000, respectively, which is inchided in notes
and other obligations in Note 10. The building is owned by a separate partnership of which we are the genleral partner
and building tenants are limited partners. We own 96.5% of the partnership and consolidate the financial statements of
the partnership in our consolidated financial statements. The cumulative equity in earnings of the partnell'ship related
to the limited partners’ .ownership is reflected in minority interests in consolidated subsidiaries. We have guaranteed
the debt service of the building partnershlp

In addition, our $4 634 000 senior §ecured notes payable described in Note 10 were financed by National National
obtained its financing through the ESOP. Our interest costs, financing expenses and prmcnpal paymetits with National
are consistent with National and the ESOP’s terms with their respective lenders. We also have agreed to guarantee
$7,564,000 of additional debt of Natiohal and the ESOP that is not reflected in our consolldated f1nanc1al statements,
See Note 13 for additional mformatlon on guarantees

In May 2004, we repaid in full our senior notes in the approximate amount of $1,486,000.

During 1991, we borrowed $10,000, 000 from National. The term note payable requlres quarterly interest
payments at 8.5%. The entire principal is due at maturity in 2008 )
Payrol] and Related Services—

The personnel conducting our business, including our executive management team, are employees|of National
and have ownership interests in Nationai through their participation in the ESOP. National provides payroll services,
prov1des employee frmge benefits, and maintains certain liability insurance. We pay to-National all {he costs of

-
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personnel employed for our benefit, as well as an administrative fee equal to 1% of payroll costs. Such costs totaling
approximately $302,862,000, $285,000,000, and $276 000,000 for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, are refiected as
salaries, wages and benefits in the accompanying consolidated statements of income. The administrative fee paid to
National for 2006, 2005, and 2004 was $2,700,000, $2,393,000, and $2,303,000, respectively. As of December 31,2006
National owes us $6,351,000 and at December 31, 2004, we owed National $1,181,000 as a result of the differences
between interim payments for payroll and benefits services costs that we made during the respective year and such
actual ¢osts. These receivables are included in (or netted against) notes receivable from National in the consolidated
balance sheets. National maintains and makcs contributions to its ESOP for the benefit of eligible employees.

National’s Ownership of Our Stock—

At December 31, 2006 and 2005, National owns 1,238,924 shares (or appi‘o;_cimately 9.9%) of our outstanding
common stock.

NOTE 5 - OTHER REVENUES AND INCOME

Other revenues are outlined in the table below. Revenues from insurance services include premiums for workers’
compensatlon and professional and, general habllny insurance policies that our wholly-owned insurance subsidiaries
have ‘written for certain long-term’ health care centers to’ which we ‘provide management or accountmg services.
Revenues from management and accountmg ‘services include managemem and accounting fees'and revenues from
other services provided to managed and other long-term health care centers. “Other” revenues include non- “health care
related earnings.

Year ended December 31, 2006 2005 2004
fin thousands) ’
Insurance services .................. S P $18,814. $23,585 $19,685
. Management and accounting service fees . .. ....... ... . i 16,420 24,684 20,504
GUArANLEE f6ES .. .. o . 14 296 36
Advisory fees from NHI. . ... oo - — 2,288
Advisory fees from Management Advisory Source, LLC..................... 1,313 1,250 —
Advisory feesfromNHR . .......... ... ... ... R P e 525 508 419
“'Dividends and other realized gains on securities. .. .......... ... .. .. 0 5,983 3,642 .3,439
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated investments ....................... e 4,300 225 344
03175 =t AT 110 1= P ¢ 9,954 7,005 . 6,325
Rental income. . ... S EH P 2,619 3,664 4,376
Loss ondisposal of assets. ........ ... .. ... . ... .. i i ' (138) (340) (1,483)
OHRET ettt S 1,449 0 1,266 1,225

$61,253  $65,785 $57,158

Management Fees from National— . .

We have managed long-term care centers for National since '1988°and we currently manage five centers See Note
4 to the Consohdatcd Financial Statements regarding out relationship with National.- .

- During 2006, 2005 and 2004, National paid and we recognized approximately $29,000, $867,000 and $2,407,000,
respectively, of management fees and interest on management fees, which-amounts are included in management and
accounting service fees, Unrecognized management fees from National total $1 2,936,00(_},'$] 0,775,000, and $8,908,000
at December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. We have recognized approximately $25,504,000 of management
fees and interest from these centers since 1988. '

The unpaid fees from these five centers, because the amount collectable could not be feasonab]y determined
when the management services were provided, and because we cannot estimate the timing or amount of expected
future collections, will be recognized as revenues only when fixed or determinable and collectibility of these fees can
be reasonably assured. Under the terms of our management agreement with National, the payment of these fees to us
may be subordinated to other expenditures of the five long-term care centers. We continue to manage these centers so
that we may be able to collect our fees in the future and because the incremental savings from discontinuing services to
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Accountmg Service Fees and Rental lncome from Florida Centers— _

a center may be small compared to the potential benefit. We may receive payment for the unrecognized management

fees in whole or in part in the future only if cash flows from the operating and investing activities of the|five centers
- are sufF c1ent to. pay the fees There can be no assurance that such future 1mproved cash flows will occur! . -+ "

Manage’ment Fees from NHI—

" NHIin the past operated certain long-term health care centers on which it had foreclosed, accepted deeds in 11eii'
of foreclosure or otherwise obtamed possession of the related assets. NHI engaged us to _manage these foreclosure
properties from 2000 through 2004. During 2004 or prior, NHI sold or closed all of these propertles and NHC now
manages for others the properties that continue to operate.

- During 2006, 2005, and 2004; we recognized $- 0-, $8,500,000, and $1,480, 000 respectlvely, _ofmanagement fees
from Iong—term care centers owhed by NHI, which amounts are included in management and accounting ,ervlce fees.

- Unrecognized and unpaid management fees from NHI total $5,040,000, $5,040,000 and $13,540,000 at December 3,

2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. We collecteda total of approx1mately $11,642,000 management fees over the terms
of our agreements with NHI. Under the terms of our management agreements, the receipt of payment for these fees
was subordinated to other expenditures of the long-term care centers.managed.’ Consistent with.our pollcy, we will

‘recognize these unrecognlzed fees as revenue only if realized. Because we discontinued services to thetl‘e centers in

2004, the ]1ke]1hood of, collectlon of the unrecogmzed and unpaid amount at-December 31, 2006 is conSIdered to be

’ remote

' Management Fees from Nursing Centers Formerly Owned by NHI—

We continue to manage 18 long—term care centers that were prewously owned by NHI, as descnbed above.
During 2006, 2005 and 2004, we recognized $2,792.000, $2,662,000 and $3,657,000, respectively, of rnanagement
fees and interest from these 18 long-term care centers. Unrecognized and unpaid managerment fees from these centers

" total $3,628,000, $3,961,000 and $1;103,000 at December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. We have recogmzed _

approximately $10;310, 000 of management fees and interest from these centers since 2002

Of .the total 18 centers managed, the management fee revenues from eight centers were currentlly pald and
recogmzed on the accrual method in 2006. The fees from the remaining ten centers, because ofmsufﬁmelnt historical
collections and the lack of expected future collections, afe recognized only when realized. Under the terms of our

“management agreements, the payment of these fees to us may be subordinated to other expenditures of| each of the’

long-term care providers. We continue to manage these centers so that we may be able to collect our fees in the future
and because the incremental saVings from discontinuing services to a center may be small compared to the potential
benefit. We may receive’ payment for the 'unrecog'nized management fees in whole or in part in the future|only if cash
flows from operating and investing activities of the centers are sufficient to pay the fees. There can- be no assurance
that such.future improved cash flows will occur. .

During 2006, 2005; and 2004 we recogmzed $6,121,000, $5,220,000, and $5, 274, 000 respectively, of accounting

services fees from long-term health care centers in Florida that we previously operated or managed! A_mounts

recognlzed are mc!uaed in management and accounting service fees.

During 2006, 2005 and 2004 we also recognized $2,557,000, $3,250,000, and $3,543 ,000, respectlw ly, of rental

_ income from the divested operations of long-term health care centers in Florida related to our two owned facnlmes and

the furniture, fixtures and léasehold improvements of 13 other facilities previously leased from NHI and MHR. These
amounts are included i in rental income." ..

Dlscontmued Management Agreement—

Effective December 31, 2006, our contract to manage a 176-bed long-term care center in Aiken, South Carolina
was terminated when the County of Aiken, South Carolina completed the sale of the facility to a third party) We earned
approximately $500,000 in 2006 in management fee revenues from the facility. .

e,
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'NOTE 6 - EARNINGS PER SHARE

"

Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year.

* Dilutéd earnings per share assumes the exercise of options using the treasury stock method.

" The following table summarizes the earnings and the average number of common shares used in the calculation
of basic and diluted earnings per share.

Year Ended December 31, . - 2006 2005 2004
(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts} :
Basic ' ‘
‘ Welghted average common shares ..... R, .. 12,294,730 . 12240423 11,674.901 -
Neti MCOME . .ot $ 36740 § 28635 § 23972
, Earmngs per common share, basic. .......... . 3 299 § 234 8§ - 205,
Dlluted ) - ) . .
s Welghted avera&,e commonshares. ..................... 12,294,730, 12,240,423 - 11,674,901
o _opnons e A 591441 . 549571 606,280
¢ Assurned ; average ¢ common shares oulstandmg e e ... 12,886,171 ... 12,789,994 . 12,281,181 "
~ Netincome..................... e e $ 36740 § 28635 § 23972
Eammgs per common share, diluted ......... ... . ... ... ... $ :2.85 § ‘224 % - 195

' NOTE 7- INVESTMENTS IN MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Our mvestments in marketable securities include available for sale securities. Realized gains and losses from .-
- . securities sales are determined on the specific identification of the securities.

Marketable securities consist of the following: .

December 31, . 1006 . ) 2005.

(in thousands) Amortized Fair Amortized Fair
Cost Value Cost Value
Available for sale: ) ' ‘
Marketable equity securities. ................ $26,059 - $65,771 $26,059  $51,556
U.S. government securities. . . . . e 1,821 . 1,799 2,119 2,104
Corporatebonds fund. . . ................... 5,000 15028 — —

$32,880 §72,598 $28.178  $53,660
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) . of December 31 2006 and 2005, respectively.-

NOTE9 .NOTES RECEIVABLE K . -

: certlf cates of need, personal.guarantees and stock pledges

JIncluded in the avaitable for sale marketable equity securities are the follo“}in'g: :

.- LY

s . . . - . * T

- Decerfiber 31, S 006 ..t CLoa008 . |0 e Ly

{in thousands, except share amounts) .’ ) o Fair s Fur ﬂ
‘ oo ) o Shares’ = ° Cost - Value =~ Shares *  Cost Value T
NHICommon................ 1,405,642 $18,144 $46,386 1,405,642, $18,144 "$36l400 -
" NHRCommon............... 363,200 3,045 8,717 363,200 3,045 ' 6'745

- The amortized cost and estimated fair value of debt securmes cla551ﬁed as available for sale by contractual
maturlty, are as follows: s

December 31, ‘2006 - 2005

(in thousands) L Fair *  Fair
Cost Value Cost - Value| "~

- Maturities: A o : . | )

-7 Within] year ......... e '$ 500 $°49% § 525 % 523
" .+ ltoSyears........... e 1,321 1,300 1,594 1531:1 o

w  No stated maturity . .. .. S e 5000 5028 @ — —!: o

' R : -'86,821+-536,827 .. ($2,119 .* §2, 104~ >
{- ATy 7 i t( BN

. Gross unrealized gains related to available for sale securities are' $39, 740 000 and $25,497,000 as of December 3,
2006 and 2005, respectively. Gross unrealized losses related to available for sale securities are $22,000 and $15 000 as

Wk

Proceeds from the sale of investments in marketable securities durmg the years ended December 31. 2066, 20'55

. * and 2004 were $46,892,000, $2,431,000, and $300,000, respectively. Gross investment gains of $1, 457 (|)00, $8,000,

and $-0-'were realized on these sales durmg the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 anid 2004, ‘respectively.

e e
-

NOTE 8 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment, at cost, consists of the following:

‘December 31, 2006 2005

o . (in thousands) . )
; Land ."............. P $ 11,129 $. 10,656
Leaschold improvements ... ................... . 89948 73963
S Butldmgs and 1mprovements e RN 42,043 39,765
o Furniture and equlpment ....... D, : 98,156 - 93,856 ’

Construction in progress ...................... 15,491 7,688
B . ) $256,767 3225928 -

At December 31, 2006 we have obligations to complete construction of approxrmately $9, 775 000.

At Decerrlber 31, 2006, we have notes receivable from National of approximately $16,351,000.

In addltron to our notes recelvable from National, we have notes receivable from managed and other long':term

-health care centers, the proceeds of which were used by the long-term health care centers for constriction costs,

development costs incurred during construction and working capital during initial operating periods.| The notes

. generally require monthly payments with maturities beginning in 2006 through 2007. Interest on the notes is generally

at rates ranging from prime plus 2% to 7%. - The collateral for the-notes consists of first and second mortgages,

On June 30, 2006 we collected a note receivable in the amount of $7,309; 000 which had prev1ously been written -

off in 1994, The collection is reported as a recovery of notes receivable in the consolidated statement of income..




-~

In March, 2005, we recorded a $1,000,000 wrltedown ofa note receivable due from al120 bed long-term health care
center in Missouri that weﬁmanage The writedown was recorded as a result of the lack of increasé in reimbursement
rates and a resultlng decline in the cash flows of the center The center has not made a pr1nc1pa1 payment on this note
since Decémber 31, 2001. Baséd on an analys1s con51stent with'thé prov151ons of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 114, “Accounting by Creditors for lmpalrment ofa Loan -an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 5 and
157, we concluded that the wrltedown of $1 000 000 was requlred

.

' NOTE 14 - LONG-TERM DEBT DEBT SERVICED BY OTHER PARTIES AND LEASE COMMITMENTS

- Long-Term Debt and Debt Servrced by Other Partles— )

Long term debt and debt serv1ced by other partles consist of the followmg

~ Weighted
L Average .
S e .- . Interest Rate Maturities Long-Term Debt
. December 31, - o - 2006 2005
(dollars i in rhausands) e . )
Senior notes secured prmcrpal and mtcrest payable - .7 - variablg, _ ‘
quarterly: .S LT SR o 5.6% 2008 . 0§ 2,113 § 4,634
Notes and other. obllganons prmcrpal and interest - variable;, ¢ - : ‘ .
payable periodically ........................ .o, 543% , 20072017 - 535 _ 1,395
- Unseéured term note payable to National, interest . o T 7
payable quarterly, principal payable at maturity * . . 8.5%: . - 2008 10,000 10,000
_— : . . : o 12,648 16,029
Less current portion . .. ........0..oeeveon .. e ' _— . (2,267) ¢ (2,461)
- ' ' S $10,381  $13,568

As we are a d1rect obllgor on the semor notes lt has been reﬂected in the table above as l1abrl1t1es owed by us to
the holders of the debt 1nstruments rather than as liabilities owed to Natlonal and the ESOP

Of the $535 000 notes and other obligations, $519, 000 15 owed to: Natlona] The note 'is secured by NHC’s
headquarters bulldmg : .

The aggregate matuntres of long-term debt and debt serviced by other part1es for the five years subsequent to

December 31, 2006 are as follows , T
. ) . Long-Term - - .
N Q_' ‘.« Debt
2007 .o L C 82,267
2008 .. i 10,381
Thereafter......... ... i, —.
Total.. .o e -8 123648 )

Throligh a guarantee agreement as discussed in Note 13, our $2,113 000 senior secured notes have cross-default
provisions with other debt of National. Certain loan agreements require maintenance of specified operating ratlos as
‘well as specrf’ ied levels of working capital and stockholders’ equity by,us and by National. All such covenants have
been met by us and we believe that National is 1n "compliance with or has obtained wa1vers or amendments to remedy
all events of non-compliance with the covenants as of December 31, 2006 :

rConstructlon Commitments—

NHC has entered into agreements to complete construction of leasehold improvements at various long-term
health care facilities at December 31, 2006 We remain obllgated in the amount of approximately $9,695,000 on
construction contracts. =~ ‘ . .
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Lease Commitments— : Lt c R

g Operatmg expenses for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 mclude expenses for leased premlses
and equipment under operatmg leases of $40,310,000, $42,049,000, and $41,034,000, respectively. See Notes 2 and 3
for the approxlmate future mmlmum rent commitments on non- cancelable operatmg leases with NHR and NHIL

NOTE 11 - INCOME TAXES )
The provision for income taxes is compnsed of the following components
Year Ended December 31, ) 2006 2005 2004
(in thousands) 7 v L
Current Tax Provision , . o
Federal ............. P e - $16,993 - $518,363 $14,136
State ......... PR e 2,266 2,216 2,632
: - 19,259 - 20,579 16,768
" Déferred Tax Benefit o ' ,
" Federal ............. PO T (1494) - (2,249)  (628)] ~
State ... .. PR e e o (226) . (275) ... (37)].
ST , : : (17200 (2,524) "~ (685)
Income Tax Provision. . .. .. A, $17,539 ~ $18,055  $16,083
The deferred tax assets and liabilities, at the respective income tax rates, are as follows:
.- December 31, i . 2006 2005)
- in thousands} e
Current deferred tax asset:- L )
Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable .................. $ 1,493 $ 1 396
Accrued expenses. .. .. .. T e : 5,418 5.8 /5
R L 691 7271
Current deferred tax ]iab‘ility " ' : .
Unrealized gains on marketable secuntles. P e e (1 5,88_8) ) (10,1914)
Other.................. e (1,055) - (932)
- S . ~(16,943) (11,126)
- Net current deferred‘ta'x'liab’i.lity ........................ . 8(10,032) .$ (3,855)
Noncurrent deferred tax asset: _
Financial reporting deprecmtmn in excess of tax deprematmn $10,193 $ 8, 296
Deferred gain onsale of assets. .. .......ovvurineenenanen.. 4,879 T4 9‘8 i}
Guarantee obligation ............ e e e 2,950 2, 9‘0 )
Stock-based compensauon ................................ _ 924 —i—
Other. ... .. U e (5% 486.
"Net noncurrent deferred tax assét. .. .. ......... A £ 18,892 $ 16,650
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A reconc1llatton of income tax expense and the amount computed by applymg the statutory federal income tax

rate 0 income before i income taxes is as follows: . S
' Year Ended December 31, : . P2l]06 ' 2005 2004 i
' . (m rhnumnds) . A. - )
.. Tax prowsnon at statutory rates: . . . ' ‘
- Federal ......... T $18,998 $16,369 $13,462
e State, net of federal benefit .. ............... 2,140 1,977 - 2,575
. ‘ . 21,138 18,346. 16,037
Tax exempt interest. . . ............. e L (388) (390) (1o
Nondeductible expenses......... e S, 128 - 99 163
] Insurance expense . ........... . ... 887 . —
} ' Other, MEt ... ettt iiiee e 21) — —
Noncurrem tax contmgency reserve reduction: o " '
CFederal ...l (3,47%) — —
State, net of federat benefit . ............ e (730) — —
o o AR : T (4,205) _— —
‘Effective tax expense ..., .. ...... e . $17,539 © $18055  $16.083.

The exercise’ of non-qualified stock options results in state and federal income tax benefits to the Company
related to the difference between the market price at the date of exercise and the opuon exercise price. During 2006,
2005 and 2004, $1,343,000, $207,000, and $6,359,000, respecttve]y, attrlbutable to the tax benefit of stock options
exercised, was credited to additional paid-in capital. .

We experienced a one-time benefit of $4,205,000 in the fourth quarter of 2006 froni thé réversal of previously
accrued taxes related to changed facts and circumstances, issue resolutions, and statute of limitation expirations
concerning positions taken in our tax returns. We are no longer subject to federal and state examinations by tax
authorities for years before 2003. Currently there are no federal or state returns-under examination. '

We bélieve that our reserves reflect the most probable outcome of known tax comingencies Our tax reserves are
presented in the consolidated balance sheet within Other Noncurrent Liabilities except for amounts relating to items
we expect to pay within one year which are within other current liabilities. - )

NHC continually evaluates for tax refated contmgenctes Contingencies may arise where tax laws may allow for

alternative interpretations or where the timing of recognition of i income is subject to Judgment We believe we have
adequate provisions for tax contingencies. However, because of uncertainty of interpretation by various tax authorities
and the possibility that there are issues that have not been recognized by management, we cannot guarantee we.have
accurately estimated our tax liabilities. We believe we have made adequate provision for tax contingencies.

.NOTE 12 - STOCK OPTION PLAN

Our shareholders approved the 2005 Stock Option, Emp]oyee Stock Purchase Phy51c1an Stock Purchase and Stock
- Appreciation Rights Plan (the “Plan) which provides for the grant of stock options to key employees, directors and
non-employee consultants. Under the Plan, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (“the Commitiee™)
has the ‘authority to select the participants to be granted options; to designate whether the option granted is an incentive
stock option (“ISO™), a non-qualified option, or a stock appreciation right; o establish the number of shares of common
stock that may be issued upon exercise of the option; to establish the vesting provision for any award; and to establish
the term any award may be outstanding. The exercise price of any ISO’s granted will not be less than 100% of the fair
market value of the shares of common stock on the date granted and the term of an 1SO may not be any more than ten
years. The exercise price of any non-qualified options granted will not be less than 100% of the fair markel value of
the shares of commeon-stock on the date granted unless so determmed by the Committee.

Under the Plan options issued to non-employee directors are gramed automattcally on the date of our annual
shareholder meetmg, vest immediately upon grant and have.a maximum five year térm. Options issued to employees
in 2000 vest over a six year period and have a maximum six year term. Options issued to emp]oyees in 2004 vest over
a five year period and have a maximum five year term.
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. The fair value ofeach option award is estimated on the grant date, using the Black-Scholes option valuation model
with the weighted average assumptions indicated in the following table. Generally, awards are subject to cliff vesting.
Each grant is valued as a single award with an expected term based. upon expecled participants and| termination
behavior. Compensation cost is’ recogmzed over the requisite service period in a manner consistent with the option

- vesting provisions. The straight-line: attribution method requires that compensation’expense is recognllzed at least
equal to the portion of thé grant-date fair value that is vested at that date. The expected volatlllty is derived using daily
historical data for periods lmmedlate]y precedmg the date of grant. The nsk-free interest rate is the approximate yield
on the United States Treasury Strips having a life equal to the expected option life on the date of grant. The expected
life is an estimate of the number of years an optlon will be held before it is exercised.

December 3l

- _ 2006 2005 2004 |
Risk-free interest rate . . . . . L 4.77% 3.81% 3.58‘%;.
Expected volatility . ................. . .00t 27.2% 293% . 34.0%
Expected life, inyears .......... U 2.6 years 5 years 5 years
Expected dividend yield. .. ...... PO . 1.98% 2.79% ‘2.76‘%; . .
Expected forfeiture rate . . . .. e 1.48% . 0.00% 0.00% .
i ; .The _follt:)_‘,\?i‘r'ljg :tab!e s_iiﬁnmarizes option activity:
v, Weighted
Average Aggregate
Numberof | Exercise Intrinsic
Shares " Price "Value
Optlons outstandmg at December 3l 2003 ........ . 587,500 5.04 =
Options granted ........... S, e 1,298,000  21.18 A4
Options exercised . . . ., e e e (479,500) 3.13 i
Options forfeited. . ............ e (23,000) 6.53 | B
Options outstanding-at December 31,2004 .. ... ... 1,383,000 20.83 —|—
Options granted ..0.0...«.. ..., T e 190,000 33.24 . —l
Opnons exercised . ............. e (25,000) 18.11 il
Options forfeited. . .. .. .. e e (17,000} 14.72 —I
Options outstandmg at December 31 2005 ........ 1,431,000 21.72
Options granted . .......... .. e +122,394 42.33 —|—
Options exercised ... .00 o oo (239,174) 24.33 4
Sharescancelled............. ... ... ...... .. (22,901) 3,813 —|
Options forfeited. ... .......oveiiiiaieaan. (2,140)  37.00 —!
Options outstandmg at December 31,2006........ 1,289,179 23.13% $41,343,()0'|J
OpthﬂS exermsable ........................... 250,000 $32.40 $ 5,699,000
Weighted
Average
Weighted = Remaining
* Options Average  Contractual )
* Outstanding Exercise Life in -
December 31, 2006 - Exercise Prices Price Years
- 1,079,179 . $17.2510 32090  $20.83 2.2
.- 2100000 . $27.0110 $44.25 $34.95 34
L 1,289,179 ‘ : o

At December 31, 2006, 250,000 options-outstanding are exercisable. Exercise prices on the optionsirange from
$17.25 to $44.25. The weighted average remaining contractual life of options cutstanding at December 31, 2006
is 2.4 years.. The total intrinsic value of shares exercised during the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 was

-$7,832 000

Addltlonally, we have an employee stock purchase plan that allows employees to purchase our shares of stock

through payroll deductions. The plan allows employees to terminate participation at any time.
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Our policy is to issue new shares to satisfy share option exercises. In May 2005, our'shareholders approved the
2005 National HealthCare Corporation Stock Option, Employee Stock Purchase, Physician Stock Purchase and Stock
Appreciation Rights Plan. We have reserved 884,473 shares of common stock for issuance under these plans.

:'Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(revised 2004),
“Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123(R)™), using the modified prospective application transition method. Under this
method, compensatton cost is recognized, beginning January 1, 2006, based on the requirements of SFAS 123(R) for aii
share-based payments granted after the effectivé date, and based on Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensanon (“SFAS 1237), for all awards granted to employees prior to January
1, 2006 that remain unvested on the effective date. Prior to January I, 2006, we applied Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock [ssued to Employees” (“APB 257) and related intérpretations in accounting for
our employee stock benefit plans Accordingly, no compensation cost was recognized for stock options granted under
the plans because the exercise prices for options granted were equal to the quoted market prices on the option grant
dates and all option grants were to employees or directors. Results for pnor periods have not been restated.

As a result of adopting SFAS 123(R), NHC recognized $2,309,000 of compensatlon expense for the year. At
December 31, 2006, SFAS 123(R) requires that the benefits of tax deductions in excess of amounts recognized as
compensation cost be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than an operating cash flow, as requlred under prior
accounting guidance. Tax deductions in excess of amounts recogmzed as compensanon costs, totaled $3,357,000 for
the twelve months ended December 31, 2006. No share based compensation cost was capltaltzed durmg the ‘current
period. The total compensation cost related to non-vested awards not yet recognized is $2 478,000 and the weighted
average penod over which it is to be recognized is 2.3 years.

NOTE 13 - CONTINGENCIES AND GUARANTEES

Self Insurance

We have assumed certain self-insurance risks related to health insurance, workers’ compensation and general
and professional liability insurance claims both for our owned or leased entities and certain of the entities to which we
provide management or-accounting services. The liability we have recognized for reported claims and estimates for
incurred but unreported claims totals $76,471,000 and $70,290,000 at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. This
liability is classified as current based on the uncertainty regarding the timing of potential payments. The liability is
included in accrued risk reserves in'the consolidated balance sheets. The amounts are subject to adjustment for actual
claims incurred. It i is possible that these claims plus unasserted claims coutd exceed our insurance coverages and our
reserves, which would have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

As a result of the terms of our insurance policies and our use of a wholly-owned insurance company, we have
retained significant insurance risk with respect to general and professional liability. We use independent actuaries
to estimate our exposures for claims obligations (for both asserted and unasserted claims) related to deductibles and
exposures in excess of coverage limits, and we maintain reserves for these obligations. - Such estimates are.based on
many variables mcludmg hlstorlcal and statlsttcal information and other factors. It is possible that claims against
us could exceed our coverage liits and our reserves, whlch would have a matena] adverse effect on our financial
position, results of operations and cash flows. =

Workers’ Compensation

For workers compensation, we utilize a wholly-owned Tennessee domICIIed property/casualty insurance
company to write coverage for NHC affiliates and for third-party customers. Policies are written for a'duration of
twelve months and cover only risks related to workers’ compensation losses. All customers are companies which
operate in the long-term care industry. Business is written on both an assumed and a direct basis. For.the business
written on an assumed basis the i insurance company assumes only the first $750,000 of losses for each claim. For direct
business, coverage is written for statutory limits and the insurance company’s losses in excess of $500,000 per cla:m
are covered by reinsurance.

For these insurance operations, the premium revenues reflected in the financial statements as “Other revenues”
for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, are $9,481,000, $13,554,000, and $12,996,000. Associated losses and expenses
reflected in the financial statements as “Other operating costs and expenses” are $219,000, $2,017,000, and $4,292,000
for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectlve]y
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General and Professional Liability Lawsuits and Insurance

Across the nation, the entire long term care industry has expenenced a dramatic increase in jpersonal mjuryf
-wrongful death claims and awards based on alleged negligence by nursing facilities and their employees in providing
care to residents. As of December 31, 2006, we and/or our managed centers are currently defenéants in 64 such
claims covering the years 1995 through December 31, 2006. Fourteen of the 64 suits are in Floridal, where we have
not operated or managed long-term care providers since September 30, 2000. Of the fourteen Florida suits, seven suits
relate to events before and seven suits relate to events after our cessation of business in Florida. These latter seven suits
assert allegations of continued exposure even after we ceased operations.

When bids were solicited for third party professmnal liability insurance coverage for 2002, only two companies
would quote coverage. Both quotations were so onerous and expensive that we elected to pay the premmms into a
wholly-owned licensed captive insurance company, incorporated in the Cayman Islands, for the’ purpose of managing
the Company’s losses related to these risks. Thus, for years 2002-2006, insurance coverage for incidents occurring at
all providers owned or leased, and most providers managed by us, is provided through this wholly- owned insurance
company. Policies are written for a duration of twelve months.

Our coverages for all years include both primary policies and excess policies, Commending with 2002; deductibles
were eliminated with ﬁrst dollar coverage being provided through the’ wholly—owned insurance comp any: The'excess
coverage is prowded by'a'third party insuror for 2002. . '

For 2003 -2006, both primary professional liability insurance coverage and excess coverage is provided through
our wholly-owned liability insurance company in the amount of $1 million per incident, $3 million per! ‘locatlon with an
aggregate primary policy limit of $12.0 million, $14.0 million, and $14.0 million, respectively. There i is 2 $7.5 million
annual excess aggregate applicable to each year.

For these professional liability insurance operations, the premium revenues reflected in the ﬁna'ncials as “Other
revenues” for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, are $3.823,000, $4,095,000, and $3,852,000. Associated losses and
expenses including those for self-insurance are included in the financial statements as ‘‘Other OPEIIatll'lg costs and
expenses”. These costs total $6,320, 000 $4,271,000, and $15,703,000 for 2006, 2005 and 2004, resper*twe]y

Nashville Flre . .

" On September 25,2003, a tragic fire occurred on the second floor of a skilled nursing facility located in Nash\nlle
Tennessee operated by one of our limited liability company subsidiaries. While the concrete and steel constructed
facility complied with applicable fire safety codes, the building was not equipped with fire. sprmklers Although
the fire was predominantly confined to a patient’s room, extensive smoke filled the area and caused injuries to other
patients despite aggressive efforts to evacuate these patients by NHC employees, fire department personnel and other
volunteers. There were sixteen patient deaths subsequenl to the fire, an undetermined number of wh:ch may be related
to the events of September 25, 2003. .

The fire produced extensive media coverage, specifically focused on the, fact that health care cemers including
hospitals, constructed prior to 1994 are not required by Tennessee law or -regulations to be fully sprmkled if constructed
with fire resistant materials. Irrespective of code standards, we undertook to install fire sprinkiers in all of owned and
leased long-term care centers, which installation is now completed. We proactively sought to resolve any questions
and/or losses with patients and their families. Of a total of 32 lawsuits flled against us, all have been|setiled, the last
two cases being settled in November, 2006. :

Additionally, in connection with the fire, we have incurred losses and costs associated withinterruption of
business, as we have closed the center. For the year ended December 31, 2004, we received or accrued $1,404,000
of insurance recoveries from third-party insurance carriers. Amounts of insurance recoveries received in 2005 are
immaterial in amount when netted against the related expenses. These insurance recoveries reduced our losses-and
costs and were included in other operating expenses in the consolidated statements of income.

The building involved in the fire was leased-by one of our limited liability company subsidiaries from National
Health Investors, Inc. (NHI). We terminated the lease during the third Quarter of 2004. A prows{on of the lease
allowed that if substantial damage occurred during the lease term, we could terminate the lease with respect to the
damaged property. Under the lease, NHC had no obllgatlon to repair the property and NHI was entitled to all insurance

66




.- Debt Guarantees—

proceeds related to the building damage. We are obligated to continue to indemnify and hold harmless NHI from

any and all demands arising from our use of the property. NHI retained the right to license the beds under the lease
termination, NHC terminated the Nashville lease with NHI.

Consistent with the provisions of SFAS 5, we accrued for probable and estimatible losses related to the Nashville
fire and included our estimates of these losses in accrued risk reserves in the consolidated balance sheets. All such
estimates are adjusted to actual results when outcomes are known.

In addition to our primary debt obligations, which are included in our consolidated financial statements, we have
guaranieed the debt obligations of certain other entities. Those guarantees, which are not included as debt obligations
in our consolidated financial statements, total $11,052,000 at December 31, 2006 and include $5,155,000 of debt of
managed and other long-term health care centers and $5,897,000 of debt of National and the ESOP.,

The $5,155,000 of guarantees of debt of managed and other Iong -term health care centers relates to debt
obhgalmns of seven long-term health care centers to which we pm\rtde management or aecountmg services. We have
agreed to guarantee these obligations in order to obtain management or accounting services agreements _For this
service, we charge an annual guarantee fee of 0.5% to 2.0% of the outstanding principal balance guaranteed, ‘which
fee is in addition to our management or accounting services fee.: All of this guaranteed . mdebtedness is secured by,
first mortgages, pledges of personal property, accounts recelvab]e marketable securmes and in certain instances, the
personal guarantees of the owners of the facilities.

The $5,897,000 of guarantees of debt of National and the ESOP relates to senior secured notes held by financial
institutions. The total outstanding balance of National and the ESOP’s obligations under these senior secured notes is
$8,010,000. Of this obligation, $2,113,000 has been included in our debt obligations because we are a direct obligor on
this indebtedness. The remaining $5,897,000, which is not incliided in our debt obligations because we are not a direct
obligor, is due from NHI to National and the ESOP.~ Addmonally, under the amended terms (dated March 31, 2005) of
these note agreements, the nght of the lending institutions to require NHC to purchase the notes al par value under a
guaranty and commgency ‘purchase agreement has been removed. -

- The $2,133,000 of senior secured notes payable and the $5 897,000 guarantee described above have cross-default
_provisions with other debt of National and the ESOP. We currently belleve that National and the ESOP are in compliance
Wllh the terms of their debt agreements.

As of December 31, 2006, our maximum potential loss related to the aforementioned debt guarantees and financial
guarantees is $11,052,000 which is the outstanding balance of‘ our guarantees. We have accrued approximately
hY 044 000 for potential losses as a result of our guarantees ’ - :

v

NOTE 14 - DISCLOSURES ABOUT FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUM ENTS—

The carrying amount of cash.and cash equwalents ‘accounts receivable and accounts payable approxnmale fair

value due to their short-term nature. We calculate the fair values of other financial instruments based upon our
estimate of current mdus[ry conditions and relevant factors At December 31, 2006 and 2005, there were no material
differences between the carrymg amounts and falr values of NHC’s financial instruments.

-To meet the reporlmg requirements of Statemens of Financial Accounting Standards No. 107, “Disclosures
About Fair Value of Financial Instruments™, we calculate the fair value of financial instruments using discounted cash
flow techniques. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, there were no matenal differences between the carrying amounts
and fair values of our f"nanc:al mslrumenls
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NOTE 15 - SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA
(unaudited, in thousands, except per share amounts) '

1743

The following table sets forth selected quarterly financial data for the two most recent fiscal year

15t Znd 3rd 4th

© 2006 - Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
NetRevenues ................... e 7 $136,951 $140,669  $143,768 ' |$141,570
NEtIRCOME . o oo oo el 5,420 10,363 9,271 11,686
Basic Earnings Per Share. .. ... ... ...... ... ... 44 .84 75 - .95
. Diluted Earnings Per Share . ................... 42 80 T .91
. st 2nd Ird 4th
i 2005 - - Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Net Revenues ....... e e $130,715  $134,330  $137,723 $139,613
NetIncome .. ..ooer it AP . 4914 5,908 7,967 9,846 °
‘Basic Earnings Per Share. ............ . ...... .40 48" 65 o80T
'Dlluted Earnmgs Per Share . o e T A6 62 Tt
» E e . . _.,'-H . - . N LR U O P A

240 the fourth quarter of 2006, We. recorded $3,928,000 of net favorable cost report séttléments. |In addition, we
expenenced a ‘ofe-time bene[' t of $4,025,000 in the fourth quarter of 2006 from the reversal of prevtously accrued
taxes related to changed facts and circumstances, issue resolutions, and statute of limitation expirations concerning
* positions taken in our tax returns. We are no longer subject to federal and state examinations by tax authorities for

years before 2003. :

NOTE 16 - PURCHASE OF HEALTHCARE CENTER

On March 1, 2006, we purchased for $5,400,000 a 200 bed health care center located in Town & Country, Missouri.
The health care center was purchased from SeniorTrust of Murfréesboro, Tennessee. NHC has beeh managing the
center since 2001. NHC provides management and/or accounting services for nine centers owned by SeniorTrust and
located in Kansas, Missouri and Tennessee., The operating resuits for the acqurred_healthcare center are included in
_ the 2006 consolidated statement of income from the acquisition date. Pro forma disclosure related'to the acquisition
is not material. - -

NOTE 17. PROPOSED MERGER AGREEMENT BETWEEN NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
AND l\ATlONAL HEALTH REALTY, INC. .

On December 20, 2006, National HealthCare Corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiaries NHC/OP, L.P.
and Davis Acquisition Sub LLC, and National Health Realty, [nc:, entered into an Agreement and [Plan of Merger
(the “Merger Agreement”™). Pursuant to the Merger Agreement and subject to receipt of the required stockholder
vote, National Health Realty, Inc. will consolidate with its wholly-owned subsidiary New NHR, Inc., as the result
of which a new Maryland corporation (the “Consolidated Company”) will be formed. Subject to the _receipt of the
required stockholder vote, regulatory approval and consummation of certain other transactions spec1F ¢d in the Merger
Agreement, the Consolidated Company will be merged with and into Davis Acquisition Sub LLCl(the “Merger"™)
which will continue as a wholly-owned subsidiary of NHC/OP, L P. and shall succeed to and assume all the rtghts and
obligations of the Consolidated Company.

Pursuant to the merger agreement, each outstanding common share of NHR not owned by Davrs Acquisition
Sub LLC, NHC/OP, L.P,, or NHC, will be converted into the right to receive one share of NHC Serle; A Convertible
Preferred Stock, plus $9.00 in cash. Each share of the Preferred Stock will be entitied to cumulative alnnual preferred
dividends of $0.80 per share and will have a liquidation preference of $15.75 _per share. The Preferred Stock will be
listed on the American Stock Exchange and will be convertible-at any time at the option of the holder into 0.24204
shares of National HeaithCare Corporation common stock, subject to adjustment. The transaction will require cash
of approximately $90,000,000. In addition’ to NHC’s operating cash, we may borrow from our captive insurance
company subject to regulatory requirements or sell marketable securities.
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It is expected that both National HealthCare Corporatron and National Health. Realty, Inc..will hold specral .

meetrngs of each company’s shareholders at a future date to consider matters related to the Merger Agreement and that
“a joint proxy statement/prospectus wtll be issued by the cornpames

The board of directors of NHC has approved the Merger Agreement and the Merger and has determined that

the Merger is in the best interest of NHC shareholders. The board believes that the combined company will provide -
‘ the present shareholders of NHC wrth a more focused and efficient corporanon whose interests are more closely

) alrgned with those of its shareholders Furthermore we believe that the Merger will (i) provide NHC wrth a larger
asset and equity base that is anticipated to enhance NHC’s future growth and prospects for long-term mcreased in

stockholder value, (n) provrde NHC wrth greater opérating’ ﬂexrbtltty to renovate and expand its fac:lttles (iii) free -

NHC management from the burden of havmg to manage two publicly traded compames and allow NHC management
to devote more time to the managemcnt of NHC ] core business operanons (iv) negate the possibility that NHR could

- be acquired by a competitor of NHC; and (vy broaden NHC’s access to debt financing sources. Following the merger,
NHC will ne longer be required to make lease payments to NHR. Assumlng the continuation of current operatmg
trends the elimination of such required lease. .payments will resillt in a substantial increase in the annual recurring free
cash flow of NHC, even after providing for the preferred dividends which NHC will be required to pay on the Preferred
Stock.. [n addition, the merger will eliminate. the ﬁnancral uncertamty that resulted from the periodic negotiation and
renegotiation of the ]easrng terms of the properttes that NHR leased to NHC.- Due to recent changes with respect to the
taxation of corporate’ dividends, ‘the merger is. now.feasible, from a U.S: federal tax perspective, Because of a change
in the U.S. federal tax law which reduced the tax rate applrcable to dividends paid to stockholders of C corporattons
“such as NHC, the relatrve tax advantages of operatrng NHR S busrness under the REIT structure have been greatly
reduced ’ :

“Completion of .the: Merger is. S\iject to Hart-Scott-Rodmo anti-trust review and approval by sharehotders of
National HealthCare Corporation of the NHC Proposal and shareholders of National Health Realty, Inc. of the NHR
Proposal There can be no assurance that such approvals w111 be granted.
lTEM 9, CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS “WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND

FlNANClAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES S

Evaluatlun of Dtsclosure Controls and Procedures Based on their evaluation as of December 31, 2006, the
president and pr1nc1pa1 accounting officer of the Company have Concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Rules 13d-15(¢) and 15d-15(¢) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended)
were effective to ensure that the information-requiréd to be disclosed by us in this Annual Report on Form 10-K was
recorded, processed, surnmartzed and reported w1thm the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and instructions
for Form 10-K. : . S -

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

We are responsible for establishing and maintaining adéquate internal control over financial reporting (as defined

in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securttres Exchange Actof 1934] as amended). We assessed the effectiveness of our mternal

centrol over financial reportrng as of December 31,2006. In makmg this assessment, our management used the criteria

_ set forth by the Committee of Sponsonng Organtzatrons of the Treadway Commission (“COSQ™) in Internal Control-,

Integrated Framework. We have concluded that, as of December 31, 2006, our internal control over financial reporting

is effective based on these crttena Our independent reglstered publtc accountmg firm, BDO Seidman, LLP, has issued
an audit report on our assessment of our internal control over ftnanc1al repornng, which is included herein.
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We have audtted management s assessment, mcluded in the accompanymg Management 5 Repor on Internal
: Contro] Over Financial Reportmg, that National HealthCare Corporatlon and- Subsidiaries" mamtalded effective”
mternal control over financial feporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria estabhshed in Intetnal Control-
lntegrated Framework issued by the Commrttee of Sponsormg Orgamzatlons of the Treadway Commrss]lon (COSO).
Natlonal HealthCare Corporation_and Subsidiaries’ _management is. responsrble for mamtamtng effective 1nternal'
control over financial reportmg and for its assessment of the effecttveness of mternal control over financial reportmg
Our responsrbrhty is 10 express an opmlon on management 3 assessment and an op1mon on the effectl\lfeness of the

_company s intérnal control over fmancral reportmg based on our audit. "

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Publlc Company Accountmg Oversrght Board

. (Umted States): Those standards require that we plan and perform the. audit to obtain.reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reportmg was maintained in all material respects Our alidit included
obtaining an ‘understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testmg

and evaluating the deSign dand'operating: effectivéniéss oftinternalcontrol; dnd performing such:other procedures as we
considered | necessary in the circumstances. We believe that-our audit provrdes a reasonable basis for our opmron

‘A company’s mternal control over financial reportmg is a process deSIgned to _provide reasonable assurance
regarding the re11ab111ty of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in-
accordarice with -generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal ‘Control over financial réporting
- includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail ,accurately

and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provnde reasonable assurance that
“transactions are recorded ds necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance’ Wllth generally
accepted accounting principles; andthat receipts and expenditures.of the company are bemg made only in accordance
" with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable .assurance regarding
- prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company ’s assets that could have
a material effect'on the flnancra] statements.

Because ofits mherenthmltatlons internal control over financial reportifigmay not preventor detectmisstatements:
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future penods are sub_]ect to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in condmons or that the degree of comphance wrth the pohc]es or procedures may
deterlorate ,

3 . " N

In our oplmon management s assessment that National HealthCare Corporatlon and Subsidiaries maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in-all matelrtal respects,
based -on criteria established in Interna[ Control- Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
. Organizations of the Treadway,: Commission (COSO). Also in our opinion, National HealthCare Corporation and
Subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control- lntegrated Framework issued by the Commlttee of Sponsormg
Organizations of the Treadway Commlssmn {COSQ). , v : -

-

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards-of the Public Company Accountrng OvchIght Board
: (Umted States) the consolidated balance sheets of National Hea]thCare Corporatron and SUbSldlal‘lCS as|of December
© 31, 2006 and 2005_and the related consolidated statements of income; stockholders equrty and cash ﬂows for éach of
'the three years in the penod ended December 31 2006 and oar report dated March 16 2007 expressed an unquahfted
opinion thereon. - _ R _ LT

. Nashville, Tennessee ' '
March 16, 2007

-
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" mternal control overfmancml reportmg Vol oAt Lo

~controls and procedures or our mternal controls w1ll preventall error and all fraud. A control'system, no matter how

5

.lTEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR.

oot . e -, R (g - A " :

‘. 7 o - ,-_ A ’ . v -'.'t El . . LIRS
Changes in’ lnternal Control There were no. changes n’our rnternal control over ﬁnancral reportmg during’
the quarter ended December k1% 2006 that have materrally affected or are reasonably lrkely to materially affect our

4

SR SO lf’- " »ir-w R P
Our management mcludmg our Presrdent and: Prmcrpal Accountrng Offrcer does not expect that our dlsclosure

well conceived and operated, can provrde on]y reasonable not absolute assurance ‘that the objectlves of the control
system are met: Further, the desrgn of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the
benefit of controls must be corisidered relative to therr costs.- Because of the inherentlimitations in all control systems,

no evaluatlon of-controls can provideé absolute assurance that all control issues and i mstances of fraud, if any, with- NHC '
have been detected ‘ _ AFL e . o

e Py
Y >

‘ ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.

None. )
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ITEM 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The 1nformat10n in our definitive 2007 | proxy statement set forth under the caption Dzrecrors and Executzve .
" Officers of Regzstrani 1s hereby mcorporated by reference .

ITEM 1L EXECUTIVE COMPENSAT]ON

The: 1nformatron in our deﬁmtlve 2007 proxy statement set forth urider the captrorr Compensanon Discussion.& ~

Analysrs is hereby: mcorporated by reference he L s : e

L

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF: CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND '

Ty RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

- The lnformatron inour definrtrve 2007 proxy statement set forth under the captron Votmg Securrfres and Prmcrpal '
Owners is. hereby incorporated by reference - . . :

INDEPENDENCE

The information: in our def mtrve 2007 proxy statement set forth under the caption Cerrain Relat‘ronshrps and-

Related Tmnsactmns is hereby mcorporated by reference -

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

-The mformatron in our deﬁmtrve 2007 proxy statement set forth under the captlon Committee Reports is hereby

" incorporated by reference.

: PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.
The’ followrng documents are filed as a part of this report.
(a)- D Fmancral Statements: ' | )
‘ The Financial Statements are included in Item 8 and are filed as part of this report.

(2) . Financial Statement Schedules:

71

) M . a . - g - K
4 . i A



Lo A SIGNATURES e T e
T Pursuant to the requtrements of Sectlon 13 or 15(d) of the Secuntles Exchange ‘Act of 1934 the R-=gtstrant has
du]y caused this report to be srgned on 1ts behalf by the under51gned thereunto duly authorlzed
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Senior Regional Vice Presidents

Greg G. Bidwell
Central Tennessee and Kentucky

M. Ray Blevins
East Tennessee, Georgia and Virginia

D. Doran Johnson
South Central Tennessee
and Alabama

).B. Kinney, Jr.
South Caralina

Michael C. Neal
New Hampshire, Massachusetts
and Arizona

Melvin J. Rector
Missouri and Kansas

Assistant Vice Presidents

Christy ). Beard
CPCS

Ann §. Benson
To Counsel

Brigitte L. Burke
Dietary Services

Kathy W. Campbell
Partner Benefits

Ann A. Cofeman
Nursing

Bruce K. Duncan
Health Planning

Charleen D. Forsythe
Information Systems

Dinsle B. C. Hale
Accounting

Barbara F Harrls
Operations

Donnle P Hester
Worker's Compensation

Ann M. Horton
Rehabilitation

Martha L. Hughey
Reimbursement

Leslie A. Joyner
Health Information

N. Bart King
Chief Audit Executive

Phyllis F. Knight
Payroll
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John D. McKinney
Operational Accounting

Jesse W, Myatt
Information Systems

Wayne L. Oliff
Professional Liability

Joan B. Phillips

Rehabilitation

Debbie L. Price
Accounts Receivable

Catherine E. Reed
Homecare

Jeffrey R. Smith
Treasury/Special Assets

Jackle D. Spangler
Social Services

Charles C. Swift
Assistant Controller

Judy G. Thomasson
Homecare Acquisitions
and Accounting

Stacia H. Vetter
Long Term Care Insurance

Chris S. West |
Human Resources

Charles ). Wysocki
Operations

L

Corporate and
Stockholder
Information

National HealthCare Corporation
100 Vine Street

Murfreesboro, Tennessee 37130
Phone: (615) 890-2020

Fax: (615) 890-0123

Web site
www.nhccare.com

Transfer Agent and Reglstrar
Computershare Trust Company, N.A.
PO. Box 43078

Providence, RI 02940-3078

(800) 568-3476
www.computershare.com

Annual Stockholder's Meeting
City Center, 14th Floor

100 Vine Street

Murfreesboro, Tennessee

4:00 p.m. Central Daylight Time
April 24, 2007

Annual Report on Form 10-K
Copies of our Annual Report on
Form 10-K and all other Securities
and Exchange Commisson filings
are available free of charge on our
Web site or by writing us at the
address listed above,

Independent Registered

Public Accounting Firm

BDO Seidman, LLP

414 Union Street, Suite 1800
Nashville, Tennessee 37219-1762




Corporate-Senior Vice Presidents

John K. Lines ]
Senior Vice President & General Counsel,
joined NHC in September 2006. He served
as General Counsel of Trinsic, Iric. and
Counsel at the |aw firm of Schilf Hardin LLP
from May 2005 through August: 2006.

Mr. Lines has a B.S. in both Accounting
and Finance from Purdue University and a
J.D. from Indiana University-Bloomington.

Joanne M. Batey

Senior Vice President,

Homecare, 62, 30 years with National
HealthCare Corporation, 22 years at
present position. She also served as
NHC's director of speech language
pathology services.

Julla W. Powell .
Senior Vice President, Patient: Services,
57, 32 years with NHC, 21 years in
present position. She also served as
NHC nurse consultant and director

of NHC's patient assessment
computerized services.

D. Gerald Coggin

Senior Vice President, Corporate
Relations, 55, 34 years with NHC,

19 years in current.position. He also
served as a health’care administrator
and a regional vice president.

Charlotte A. Swafford
Senior Vice President and Treasurer, 58,
33 years with NHC, 21 years |n present
position. She also served as §mﬁ
accountant, accounting manager and
assistant treasurer.

Donald K. Daniel )

Senior Vice President, Controller, and
Principal Accounting Officer, 60, 30 ;
years with NHC, 21 years as controller -
and vice president,

Steve F. Flatt - " ..

Senior Vice President, Development,
51, Flatt joined NHC in June of 2005.
Prior to joining NHC, he served as
President of David Lipscomb
University in Nashville, Tennessee
where he oversaw development
projects totaling $75 million,

R. Michael Ussery
Senior Vice President, Operations, 48,
26 years with NHC. Ussery als:;o has
served as senior regional vice president
and health care center administrator.

David L. Lasslter

Senior Vice President, Corporate
Affairs, 52, joined NHC in 1995
and had 17 years of experience in
the health care industry prior to
joining NHC.

NATIONAL HEALTHCARE




Board of Directors

BEST AVAILABLE COPY

National HealthCare Corporation Board of Directors, top row, from left to right: Lawrence C. Tucker, Richard F. LaRoche, Jr.,
Ernest G. Burgess, lll, Dr. ). Paul Abernathy. Bottom row; Robert G. Adams, W. Andrew Adams, Emil E. Hassan,

Dr. 1. Paul Abernathy, Director, 71, is a
retired general surgeon who practiced in
Murfreesboro from 1971 to 1995. Prior
to 1971, he served as Chief of Surgery
for the United States Air Force Base in
eesler, Mississippi. He is a member of
¢ Southern Medical Society, the
Boutheastern Surgery Society and is a
ellow in the American College of
Surgeons. Dr. Abernathy is chairman of
HC's Nominating and Corporate
overnance Committee.

V. Andrew Adams, Chairman, 61,
B3 years with National HealthCare
orporation. He served as NHC's
bresident from 1974 to 2004 and has
served as chairman since 1994, He is
hairman of the board and president of
ationat Health Investors, Inc. and is
hairman of National Health Realty, Inc.
n addition, he serves on the board of
sunirust Bank.

Robert G. Adams, President, 60, 33
ears with NHC, two years as president,
8 years as senior vice president and

16 years on the board. He also served
as a health care center administrator
and a regional vice president for NHC.
Adams is on the board and is president
of National Health Realty, Inc.

Emest G. Burgess, lll, Director, 67,

32 years with NHC. He served as NHC's
senior vice president of operations for
21 years before retiring in '1994. His
board of directors position spans 15
years. He also serves on the board of
National Health Realty, Inc.

Emil E. Hassan, Director, 60, retired as
senior vice president of manufacturing,
purchasing, quality and logistics for
Nissan North America, Inc. in 2004.
He is chairman of Auto Services
Americas, which handles vehicle
transportation logistics for Nissan and
other manufacturers. Prior to joining
Nissan, he was with Ford Motor
Company for 13 years. He is on the
board of Middle Tennessee Medical
Center. Hassan is chairman of NHC's
Compensation Committee. )

Richard F. LaRoche, Jr., Director, 61,
31 years with NHC. He served as
secretary and general counsel for 28
years and as senior vice president for
15 years before retiring in May 2002.
LaRoche served,as NHC's outside
counsel.from 1971 1o 1975. He is on
the bbaftjs of National Health Investors,
Inc., National Health Realty, Inc., and
Lodge Manufacturing Company.

g
Lawre%’ég‘ C.Tucker, Director, 64, has

40 years with Brown Brothers Harriman
& Co., private bankers. Tucker became
a general partner with Brown Brothers
Harriman & Co. in 1979. He is on the
firm's steering committee as well as
being responsible for the corporate
finance activities, which include
managemeqt‘;g&%ﬁg 1818 Funds,
private equity investing partnerships
with originally committed capital of
approximately $2 billion. He is
chairman of NHC's Audit Committee.
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